The Role of Myeloid Cells in Breast Cancer Metastasis

Agnieszka Swierczak

Submitted in total fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

June 2012

Department of Medicine (RMH/WH) The University of Melbourne

Abstract

Metastasis is the leading cause of death in breast cancer patients. The current methods for predicting likelihood of metastasis are insufficient and treatment options are limited once distant metastasis occurs. Emerging data implicate myeloid cells as active participants in breast cancer metastasis. Myeloid cells in cancer are often studied as Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ myeloid derived suppressor cells. However, this group of cells is comprised of many different cell types, including macrophages and neutrophils. Tumourassociated macrophages (TAMs) can play key roles in metastatic events but little is known about the roles of monocytes, i.e. macrophage precursors, in metastasis, and it has been suggested that monocyte/macrophage subpopulations may have different functions in breast tumour metastasis. Recent data link tumour-associated neutrophils (TANs) to the progression of malignancy in other cancers, but the link between TANs and breast cancer metastasis has not been well studied.

This thesis is the first body of work to include a comprehensive analysis of monocytes/macrophages/TAMs and neutrophils/TANs during various stages of mammary tumour metastasis. Utilising three isogenic murine mammary tumour variants, namely 4T1.2 (highly metastatic), 66cl4 (weakly metastatic) and 67NR (non-metastatic), as well as the myeloid cell markers Ly6C (a marker for monocytes and neutrophils) and Ly6G (a marker for neutrophils), it was found that increases in both primary tumour Ly6C^{low} (non-classical, mature) TAM and TAN numbers, as well as that of circulating Ly6C^{high} (classical, immature) monocytes and neutrophils were associated with metastasis. Furthermore, increases in these cells occurred early during tumour progression. Pro-MMP-9 was increased in the serum around this time; hence a model is proposed where increased production of MMP-9, either from the tumour or from the surrounding stroma, enhances mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils leading to increased TAM and TAN numbers that promote metastasis. Furthermore, preliminary data indicate that co-injection of either TAMs and TANs isolated from highly metastatic tumours may promote the growth of less metastatic tumours.

ii

Colony stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1/M-CSF), a key macrophage growth factor, has been implicated in advanced breast cancer. Since inhibition of CSF-1 receptor (CSF-1R) signalling depletes TAMs and reduces metastasis in some mammary tumour models, CSF-1 and CSF-1R are considered targets for the treatment of metastatic disease. It is shown in this thesis, for the first time, that treatment of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice with neutralising anti-CSF-1R antibody can increase metastasis to lung and bone, without altering primary tumour growth. Furthermore, CSF-1R blockade leads to increased neutrophils in the primary tumour, metastasis-associated lung and peripheral blood, as well as to increased 'classical' Ly6C^{high} blood monocytes.

These data indicate that neutrophils can also play a critical role in 4T1.2 tumour metastasis. In support of this, it was found that increased expression of a key neutrophil CSF, G-CSF, in weakly metastatic primary tumours enhances circulating neutrophil and Ly6C^{high} monocytes and is associated with increased metastasis. Thus, cellular changes in neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes may be linked to metastasis and their subsequent increase upon anti-CSF-1R treatment may be related to the enhanced metastasis observed.

The above data indicate that both macrophages and neutrophils may be involved during the early stages of breast tumour metastasis. Further analysis of monocyte/macrophage/TAM subpopulations, as well as neutrophils/TANs, may lead to improved treatment of aggressive breast tumours. Targeting both macrophages and neutrophils may be required for successful treatment of certain breast tumour subtypes. It may also be important to target monocytes and neutrophils both in the circulation and at metastatic sites and, if possible, during early stages of metastasis. Stratification of patients based on primary tumour TAM or TAN numbers may better predict the likelihood of metastasis and also guide treatment strategies.

Declaration

This is to certify that:

- (i) the thesis comprises only my original work towards the PhD except where indicated in the Preface,
- (ii) due acknowledgement has been made in the text to all other material used,
- (iii) the thesis is fewer than 100,000 words in length, exclusive of tables, maps, bibliographies

 Signed
 June 2012

Preface

The following experiments were contributed by collaborators:

<u>Dr. Yuan Cao</u> (Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre): Generation of G-CSF over-expressing 66cl4 and E0771 tumours and all the associated animal work as described in Chapter 5.

Acknowledgements

My PhD has been a lengthy journey and many people have helped me along the way. Firstly I would like to acknowledge my supervisors for all their help and support throughout this time. Prof. John Hamilton, thank-you for teaching me what constitutes a great presentation, encouraging me to work independently as a scientist and for providing me with all those spectacular diagrams. A/Prof. Robin Anderson, given that for you I was an external student, I wish to especially thank-you for your constant encouragement and support. There was never a moment where you could not make time for me and you were always willing to listen patiently as I rambled on about my work. Dr. Andrew Cook, thank-you for your wonderful problem solving skills, especially under pressure, during those times when I showed up at your office door with a million questions, and a big thank-you for all your help with the flow cytometry, particularly in making sense of the tumour samples.

I would like to extend my appreciation to all the members of the Hamilton and Anderson laboratories, both past and present, for their technical support and encouragement. From the Hamilton group I would like to thank Dr. Jason Lenzo, Amanda Turner and Dean Hewish for teaching me flow cytometry, and in particular Dean whose advice was instrumental in developing the cell sorting protocol. I would like to thank Dr. Adrian Achuthan for his invaluable assistance with the RT-qPCR gene expression analysis. For keeping everything running smoothly and for always finding reagents when I could not, my thanks go to Jarrad Pobjoy. My gratitude also goes to A/ Prof. Glen Sholz for all his sage advice.

To everyone at the Anderson group, thank-you for making me feel like a part of your laboratory from the outset; the way you took me in and accepted me as one of your own, made working between two laboratories so easy. I would like to extend a special thank-you to Tina Restall for her inestimable technical and personal support. You taught me everything to do with the animal model and so much more. Thank-you to Yuan Cao for our rewarding collaboration and for the many discussions about our work. A million thanks to Judy Doherty and Erin Lucas for their unending patience and help around the laboratory, no matter how many times it took for me to remember where things were or how they worked.

vi

My gratitude also goes to Dr. Normand Pouliot for his tremendous assistance with the MMP-9 zymography and Western assays and Dr. Richard Redvers without whom I would never have established the gene expression analysis. I would also like to thank Allan Burrows for saving my cytokine array, Annanya, Kathryn, Erin, Nicole and Clare for their friendship and finally, I would like to thank Ralph Rossi, Viki Milovac and Sophie Kotsakidis at the Peter MacCallum Flow Cytometry and Cell Sorting facility for making all the cell sorting seem so easy.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to the staff and students of the Department of Medicine, not only for making my time here enjoyable, but also for lightening the load. For all his astute advice and reassurance my deepest gratitude goes to A/Prof. Stephen Rogerson. Thank-you to Jenny Davis and Lara Mizhiritsky in the animal house for their care of the experimental animals I used throughout my project. I would especially like to mention Thao, Dom and Christine for their friendship, the O'Brien group for adopting me as one of their own and in particular I would like to thank my unofficial support group, Lisa, Amelia, Lucy, Paul, Meng and Pablo – you kept me sane and I could not have done this without you.

I am deeply grateful for the financial support from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) and the Faculty of Dentistry, Medicine and Health Sciences at the University of Melbourne. In particular for the travel portion of my NHMRC scholarship, which allowed me to attend an international conference and visit a number of internationally renowned laboratories and institutes.

Last, but most certainly not least, I would like to thank my family and friends for their love and support during my studies. I am eternally grateful to my wonderful mum and sister who have always encouraged me in everything I have chosen to do and who have been there not only for all the highs, but importantly for all the lows too. Without you I would never have gotten this far. This is for you.

Table of Contents

1	Intr	oduction: The role of myeloid cells in breast cancer metastasis	1					
	1.1	1 Introductory statement						
	1.2 Breast cancer							
	1.2.	1 Breast cancer subtypes	3					
	1.3	Breast cancer metastasis	4					
	1.4	Tumour microenvironment	7					
	1.4.	1 Stromal cells in the tumour microenvironment	7					
	1.4.	2 Inflammation and tumours	8					
	1.5	Tumour-associated myeloid cells	8					
	1.5.	1 Macrophages	9					
	1.5.	1 Neutrophils	. 11					
	1.6	Myeloid derived suppressor cells and Gr-1	. 13					
	1.7	Tumour-associated macrophages (TAMs)	. 15					
	1.7.	1 TAM-derived growth factors	. 15					
	1.7.	2 TAM-mediated angiogenesis	. 15					
	1.7.	3 TAM-mediated ECM degradation, migration and invasion	. 16					
	1.7.	4 TAM-mediated suppression of anti-tumour immune responses	. 16					
	1.7.	5 TAM phenotypes differ between tumour regions	. 17					
	1.7.	6 CSF-1	. 18					
	1.8	Monocytes	. 20					
	1.8.	1 Monocyte subpopulations	. 20					
	1.8.	2 Monocyte differentiation	. 21					
	1.8.	3 Monocytes in cancer	. 23					
	1.9	Tumour-associated neutrophils (TANs)	. 25					
	1.9.	1 IL-8, CXCR1 and CXCR2	. 26					
	1.9.	2 TAN-mediated angiogenesis	. 26					
	1.9.	3 TAN-mediated ECM degradation, migration and invasion	. 27					
	1.9.	4 TAN-mediated suppression of anti-tumour immune responses	. 27					
	1.9.	5 TAN-derived reactive oxygen species (ROS)	. 28					
	1.9.	6 TAN phenotypes	. 29					
	1.10	Macrophages and neutrophils in metastasis	. 30					
	1.10	0.1 Myeloid cells in metastasis	. 30					

	1.1	0.2 TAMs and TANs co-migrate with tumour cells	31
	1.1	0.3 Macrophages in metastasis	32
1.10.4		0.4 Neutrophils in metastasis	33
	1.1	0.5 Macrophages and neutrophils may be functionally linked in promoting	ng
	met	tastasis	33
	1.11	The 4T1 murine mammary tumour model	34
	1.12	Conclusions and objectives of thesis	35
2	Ma	terials and Methods	42
	2.1	Reagents	42
	2.2	Antibodies	43
	2.3	Reagents that were gifts	43
	2.4	Primers and Probes	44
	2.5	Cell lines	45
	2.6	Mammary tumour model	45
	2.7	Flow cytometric analysis	46
	2.8	Cell sorting of TAMs and TANs from primary tumours	47
	2.9	RT-qPCR analysis of gene expression	47
	2.10	Co-injection of TAMs and TANs	48
	2.11	India ink measurement of lung tumour nodules	48
	2.12	Phenol/chloroform DNA extraction	48
	2.13	qPCR tumour burden analysis	49
	2.14	RayBio [®] array analysis of serum factors in tumour-bearing mice	49
	2.15	Gelatin zymography	50
	2.16	Western blotting	50
	2.17	Extraction of clodronate liposomes	51
	2.18	Clodronate treatment	51
	2.19	Treatment with neutralising antibody	52
	2.20	Treatment with CSF-1R inhibitor	52
	2.21	Statistical analysis	52
3	Ch	apter 3: Analysis of myeloid cells in metastatic mammary tumours	55
	3.1	Introduction	55
	3.2	Results	56
	3.2	.1 TAM and TAN numbers increase in highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours :	56

	3.2	2.2	$Ly6C^{high}$ and $Ly6C^{low}$ TAM/monocyte numbers are differentially
	inc	crease	ed in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice
	3.2	2.3	$\text{Ly6C}^{\text{high}}$ and Ly6C^{low} TAMs display different gene expression profiles. 58
	3.2	2.4	Co-injection of TAMs and TANs isolated from highly metastatic (4T1.2)
	or	non-	metastatic (67NR) primary tumours with weakly metastatic (66cl4) tumour
	cel	lls	60
	3.3	Dis	cussion
	3.4	Со	nclusions
4	Cł	napte	r 4: Monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation by highly metastatic 4T1.2
	tu	mour	rs
	4.1	Int	roduction74
	4.2	Res	sults
	4.2	2.1	Monocytes and neutrophils are mobilised early during highly metastatic
	4T	'1.2 tı	1 mour progression
	4.2	2.2	Neutrophils increase in 4T1.2 metastasis-associated lungs around the time
	tur	nour	cell DNA is first detected77
	4.2	2.3	MMP-9 and CXCL12 are increased in the serum of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing
	mi	ce at	day 15 post-tumour cell inoculation78
	4.3	Dis	cussion
	4.4	Сог	nclusion
5	Ta	rgeti	ng Monocytes in Breast Cancer Metastasis101
	5.1	Int	roduction101
	5.2	Res	ults
	5.2	2.1	Treatment with clodronate liposomes depletes peripheral blood $\mbox{Ly6C}^{\rm low}$
	mo	onocy	tes and reduces metastasis to lung 102
	5.2	2.2	Treatment with clodronate liposomes does not alter end-stage peripheral
	blo	ood a	nd primary tumour monocyte/TAM and neutrophil/TAN numbers 104
	5.2	2.3	Treatment with neutralising anti-CSF-1R antibody increases metastasis to
	lur	ng and	d spine
	5.2	2.4	Treatment with neutralising anti-GM-CSF antibody does not alter
	me	etasta	sis to lung and spine 105
	5.2	2.5	Treatment with neutralising anti-CSF-1R antibody increases neutrophil
	nu	mber	s in the primary tumour and lung 105

	5.2.6	Treatment with neutralising anti-CSF-1R antibody further enhances
	tumour	-driven increases of circulating neutrophils and Ly6C ^{high} monocytes 106
	5.2.7	Treatment with the CSF-1R inhibitor, GW2580, shows a trend towards
	increas	ed metastasis
	5.2.8	Treatment with the GW2580 CSF-1R inhibitor depletes $Ly6C^{low}$ TAMs in
	primary	y tumours 107
	5.2.9	Treatment with the GW2580 CSF-1R inhibitor does not enhance tumour-
	driven	increases of circulating monocytes and neutrophils
	5.2.10	Enhanced expression of G-CSF in tumours increases metastasis 108
	5.3 Dis	cussion
	5.4 Co	nclusion
6	Discus	sion 131
	6.1 Hi	ghly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours enhance mobilisation of monocytes and
	neutroph	ils
	6.1.1	Increases in TAM and TAN numbers are associated with tumour
	metasta	tic capacity
	6.1.2	Increases in systemic monocyte/macrophage and neutrophil numbers are
	associa	ted with metastasis
	6.2 Mo	onocytes/macrophages as therapeutic targets
	6.2.1	Clodronate treatment depletes blood Ly6C ^{low} monocytes and reduces
	metasta	sis to lung
	6.2.2	CSF-1R neutralisation enhances metastasis to lung and bone and increases
	neutrop	hil/TAN numbers
	6.3 Fu	ture research questions
	6.3.1	Analysis of TAMs and TANs and systemic monocytes/macrophages and
	neutrop	shils in breast cancer metastasis may help to tailor treatments for advanced
	breast t	umours
	6.3.2	Targeting monocytes and neutrophils in advanced breast cancer
	6.3.3	Targeting the cross talk between TAMs, TANs and other cancer-
	associa	ted immune cells 145
	6.4 Co	nclusions146
7	Bibliog	graphy

List of tables

Chapter 1

Table 1.1: Staging of breast tumours according to the American Joint Committee on
Cancer TNM classification
Table 1.2: Key macrophage and neutrophil factors, their function and role in breast
cancer
Table 1.3: Summary of monocyte subpopulation recruitment and function 23
Chapter 2
Table 2.1: Primer and probe sequences used for qPCR analysis of metastatic burden 44
Table 2.2: TaqMan probes/primers used for TAM gene expression analysis
Chapter 4
Table 4.1: Factors upregulated in serum of 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR tumour-bearing mice
compared to naive controls
Table 4.2: Factors downregulated in serum of 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR tumour-bearing
mice compared to naive controls

List of figures

Chapter 1

Figure 3.3: Ly6C ^{low} TAM and Ly6C ^{high} blood monocyte numbers increase with
increasing tumour metastatic capacity
Figure 3.4: Blood neutrophil numbers increase with increasing tumour metastatic
capacity
Figure 3.5: Primary tumour Ly6C ^{high} and Ly6C ^{low} TAM, as well as TAN numbers,
increase around the time visible lung tumour nodules are first observed
Figure 3.6: 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR primary tumours have the same growth rates and
end-stage weights
Figure 3.7: IL-12A, IL-12B, IL-23A and IL-10 mRNA expression in Ly6C ^{high} and
Ly6C ^{low} TAMs from 4T1.2 and 67NR primary tumours
Figure 3.8: Schematic of co-injection of TAMs and TANs isolated from either highly
metastatic (4T1.2) or non-metastatic (67NR) primary tumours with weakly metastatic
(66cl4) tumour cells
Figure 3.9: Co-injection of TAMs and TANs from 4T1.2 or 67NR primary tumours
increases 66cl4 tumour growth73

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1: Blood monocyte and neutrophil numbers increase early in highly metastatic
4T1.2 compared to weakly metastatic 66cl4 and non-metastatic 67NR tumour
progression
Figure 4.2: Peripheral blood $Ly6C^{high}$ and monocyte and neutrophil numbers increase
around the time visible lung metastases are first detected
Figure 4.3: Bone marrow $Ly6C^{high}$ monocyte and neutrophil numbers increase before
visible lung metastases are first detected
Figure 4.4: Splenic $Ly6C^{high}$ and neutrophil numbers increase around the time visible
lung metastases are first detected
Figure 4.5: Primary tumour growth and weight are similar between highly metastatic
4T1.2 and non-metastatic 67NR tumours
Figure 4.6: Neutrophils are highly increased in peripheral blood, bone marrow and
spleen of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice
Figure 4.7: Tumour cells are first detected in lungs at day eleven post-tumour cell
inoculation
Figure 4.8: Neutrophil numbers increase in 4T1.2 metastasis-associated lungs at day
eleven post-tumour cell inoculation

Figure 5.2: Clodronate liposome treatment does not alter primary tumour growth..... 116 Figure 5.4: Clodronate liposome treatment does not alter end-stage TAM or TAN Figure 5.5: Anti-CSF-1R and anti-GM-CSF antibody treatment does not alter primary Figure 5.6: Anti-CSF-1R antibody treatment increases metastasis to lung and spine. 120 Figure 5.7: Anti-CSF-1R antibody treatment increases primary tumour TAN and Figure 5.8: Anti-GM-CSF antibody treatment does not alter primary tumour TAM and TAN, or metastasis-associated lung neutrophil and macrophage numbers...... 122 Figure 5.9: Anti-CSF-1R antibody treatment enhances tumour-driven increases of blood Figure 5.10: Anti-GM-CSF antibody treatment does not enhance tumour-driven Figure 5.11: CSF-1R inhibitor treatment does not alter primary tumour growth but Figure 5.13: CSF-1R inhibitor treatment does not enhance tumour-driven increases of Figure 5.14: Enhanced expression of G-CSF in 66cl4 and E0771 tumours does not alter Figure 5.15: Elevated expression of G-CSF in 66cl4 and E0771 tumours increases blood Chapter 6

Figure	6.1:	Proposed	model	for	mobilisation	of	monocytes	and	neutrophils	by
metasta	tic tu	mours		•••••						147

Abbreviations

αΜΕΜ	Alpha-modified minimum essential medium
Ab(s)	Antibody(ies)
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APC	Allophycocyanin (flow cytometry)
APC(s)	Antigen presenting cell(s)
APOC/E	Apolipoprotein C/E
ARG	Arginase
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BMDC(s)	Bone marrow derived cell(s)
BRCA 1/2	Breast cancer type 1/2 susceptibility gene
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CCL	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand
CCR	Chemokine (C-C motif) receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cDNA	Complementary DNA
cm	Centimetre(s)
CSF-1	Colony stimulating factor-1
CSF-1R	Colony stimulating factor-1 receptor
Ct	Threshold cycle
ΔCt	Delta Ct
CX ₃ CR	Chemokine (CX ₃ C motif) receptor
CXCL	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand
CXCR	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor
DC(s)	Dendritic cell(s)
DCIS	Ductal carcinoma in situ
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor

ER	Oestrogen receptor
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate (flow cytometry)
FSC	Forward scatter
g	Gram(s)
G-CSF	Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
G-CSFR	Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor receptor
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage-colony stimulating factor
Gr-1	Granulocyte differentiation antigen-1
h	Hour(s)
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HGFR	Hepatocyte growth factor receptor
HIF-1/2	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1/2
HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
HPRT	Hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IFN $\alpha/\beta/\gamma$	Interferon alpha/beta/gamma
Ig	Immunoglobulin(s)
IL	Interleukin
IL-(x)R	Interleukin (x) receptor
iNOS 1/2	Inducible nitric oxide synthase 1/2
int	Intermediate
KC	Keratinocyte-derived chemokine
LCIS	Lobular carcinoma in situ
lin	Lineage
LIX	LPS-induced CXC chemokine
LLC	Lewis lung carcinoma
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
М	Molar
mAbs	Monoclonal antibodies
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1

M-CSF	Macrophage-colony stimulating factor
MDSC(s)	Myeloid derived suppressor cell(s)
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
min	Minute(s)
miRNA	MicroRNA
mL	Millilitre(s)
mM	Millimolar
mm	Millimetre(s)
MMP	Matrixmetalloproteinase
MMTV	Mouse mammary tumour virus
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
NE	Neutrophil elastase
neg	Negative
ΝΓκΒ	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NK cell(s)	Natural killer cell(s)
nmol	Nanomole(s)
NO	Nitric oxide
op/op	Osteopetrotic
PBMC(s)	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell(s)
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PE	R-phycoerythrin (flow cytometry)
PerCP	Peridinin-chlorophyll-protein complex (flow cytometry)
PR	Progesterone receptor
РуМТ	Polyoma middle T-antigen
RANTES	Regulated upon activation, normal T-cell expressed, and secreted
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNI	Reactive nitrogen intermediates
ROI	Reactive oxygen intermediates
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RT-qPCR	Real-time quantitative PCR

SDF	Stromal cell-derived factor
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEM	Standard error of the mean
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SNT	Supernatant
SSC	Side scatter
TAM	Tumour-associated macrophage
TAN	Tumour-associated neutrophil
TEN	Tumour-entrained neutrophil
TGF α/β	Transforming growth factor alpha/beta
TIE 1/2	Tyrosine kinase with Ig and EGF homology domains $1/2$
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases
TN	Triple negative
ΤΝΓα	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TP	Thymidine phosphorylase
Treg	Regulatory T cell
uPA	Urokinase-type plasminogen activator
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
WT	Wild type
w/v	Weight per volume
zymo	Zymography
μg	Microgram(s)
μL	Microliter(s)
μM	Micromolar

1 Introduction: The role of myeloid cells in breast cancer metastasis

1.1 Introductory statement

Breast cancer is the most common invasive cancer and the foremost cause of cancer death in females [1]. Our inability to treat advanced disease effectively is the primary reason for this low survival rate. This is, in part, due to a poor understanding of the cellular and genetic components involved in the metastatic process. A more comprehensive understanding of these components, and the pathways in which they are involved, would greatly increase our ability treat advanced breast cancer.

The link between inflammation and cancer initiation is well established, but the link between inflammation and tumour metastasis is not yet clear. Myeloid cells have been implicated in tumour progression. In murine models of breast cancer, they are identified as Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells, and have been associated with early metastatic events [2, 3]. However, Gr-1 cells can be both macrophages and neutrophils. Thus, it remains unclear which cell types are important for metastasis. Tumour-associated macrophage (TAM)-mediated processes have been implicated in metastasis [4]. Hence, monocytes (macrophage precursors) may also contribute to disease progression. Recent studies also implicate neutrophils in tumour metastasis [5-8], although little is known about neutrophils in breast tumours. This project aims to investigate the contributions of macrophages and neutrophils to mammary tumour metastasis.

1.2 Breast cancer

Worldwide, breast cancer is the fifth most common cause of cancer death [9]. Metastasis is the main cause of mortality, accounting for 90% of fatalities [10]. The aetiology of breast cancer is not yet completely established; obesity, alcohol consumption, and cigarette smoking have been identified as risk factors. However, factors that most strongly associate with breast cancer risk include nulliparity, age and breast density [11]. The dominantly inherited BRCA 1 and BRCA 2 genes have long been established as susceptibility genes for breast cancer and contribute to familial breast cancer [12].

Breast cancer is an adenocarcinoma that occurs as either ductal carcinoma or lobular carcinoma. The TNM system defined by the American Joint Committee on Cancer forms the basis for breast cancer staging. This system takes into account the tumour size (T), the extent of regional lymph node involvement (N), and the presence or absence of metastasis beyond the regional lymph nodes (M) [13]. There are five stages that are summarised in Table 1.1.

Table 1.1: Staging of breast tumours according to the Americ	can Joint Committee
on Cancer TNM classification	

Stage	Tumour size (T)	Regional lymph	Distant
		node status (N)	metastasis (M)
0	Carcinoma in situ (DCIS, LCIS or Pagets)	No involvement	No
Ι	Tumour $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$	No involvement	No
IIA	No primary tumour	1-3 nodes involved	No
	Tumour $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$	1-3 nodes involved	No
	Tumour > 2 cm but \leq 5 cm	No involvement	No
IIB	Tumour > 2 cm but \leq 5 cm	1-3 nodes involved	No
	Tumour > 5 cm	No involvement	No
IIIA	No primary tumour	4-9 nodes involved	No
	Tumour $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$	4-9 nodes involved	No
	Tumour > 2 cm but \leq 5 cm	4-9 nodes involved	No
	Tumour > 5 cm	1-3 nodes involved	No
	Tumour > 5 cm	4-10 nodes involved	No
IIIB	Any size with invasion into chest wall or skin	No involvement	No
	Any size with invasion into chest wall or skin	1-3 nodes involved	No
	Any size with invasion into chest wall or skin	4-10 nodes involved	No
IIIC	Any designation	> 10 nodes involved	No
IV	Any designation	Any designation	Yes

1.2.1 Breast cancer subtypes

Tumour-intrinsic features, including classical histology, genetic alterations and molecular changes have been used to define breast tumour subgroups. Breast cancers are more classically subdivided by oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal receptor 2 (HER2) status, as determined by immunohistochemistry. Combinations of these markers allow for consignment of individual cases to different categories, specifically: ER⁺ (ER⁺/HER2^{neg}), HER2⁺ (ER^{neg}HER2⁺), triple negative (TN; ER^{neg}PR^{neg}HER2^{neg}) and triple positive (ER⁺PR⁺HER2⁺) [14]. ER⁺ tumours are generally associated with good clinical outcome [15-17]. HER2 gene amplification and protein overexpression are predictors of poor outcome in breast cancer [18-20] and often indicate resistance to treatment [21, 22], although new therapies have improved prognosis for HER2⁺ tumours [23-27]. TN tumours have the worst prognosis of the breast tumour subtypes and provide the greatest treatment challenge [28-30]. More recent markers used in classifying breast tumour subtypes include Ki-67 [31, 32], topoisomerase II alpha (TOP2A) [33, 34], B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl2) [35, 36] and protein/tumour protein 53 (p53) [37].

The introduction of high-throughput platforms for gene expression analysis has led to the opinion that breast cancer should be classified at the genetic level [38-41]. Studies have revealed that breast cancer is made up of an assortment of diseases that have different risk factors, clinical presentation, histopathological features, outcome and response to treatment [14, 42]. Seminal studies by Perou-Sorlie et al. subclassified breast cancers based on gene expression profiling into luminal A, luminal B, triple negative/basal like and HER2 subtypes [14]. However, the authors then went on to show that the luminal epithelial/ER⁺ group could be divided into at least two subgroups, each with a distinctive gene expression profile [40]. Other studies have also shown that breast tumours may overlap between subtype classifications [43, 44] and it has been proposed that a broader subclassification is required to better diagnose and treat this disease [45].

Although genetic profiling of breast cancer has yielded a considerable amount of information, the prognostic and therapeutic implications are limited. Tumour microenvironmental factors, such as immunopathology and stromal content, have also

been suggested to be useful markers in breast tumour classification [46-48]. Tumour stromal heterogeneity, such as differences in the extracellular matrix (ECM) and differences in immune cells, fibroblasts and endothelial cells, also plays an important role in tumour progression [49]. Identification of new markers expressed in tumour-associated stromal and immune cells may help to better predict which tumours are likely to respond to which treatments, and possibly lead to improved breast cancer therapies.

1.3 Breast cancer metastasis

Metastasis is the foremost cause of death in cancer patients [50-52]. Established metastasis at diagnosis occurs in 15-20% of breast cancer patients and drastically affects survival rates. If the cancer is contained in the breast there is a 90% chance of survival. However, this falls to 20% if the cancer has spread [1]. Metastasis occurs via a sequential, multi-step process. First the tumour cell must detach from the surrounding ECM and intravasate from the primary site. Once in the circulation, the cancer must survive shear forces and destruction by circulating immune cells, extravasate into the secondary organ, and finally survive and grow in the new microenvironment [50, 53]. Each step of metastasis can be rate-determining [54, 55], for example, apoptosis of cancer cells in the circulation or senescence at metastatic sites inhibits subsequent growth of the majority of tumour cells that successfully lodge in a tissue [56, 57]. Furthermore, tumour cells can lie dormant for up to twenty years in breast cancer before growing into clinically detectable tumours [58].

The mechanisms of metastatic lesion development from primary tumours are under dispute [59]. Two main doctrines have been proposed. The linear model suggests that metastasis occurs late in disease progression. Tumour cells undergo consecutive rounds of mutation and selection [60] that result in a heterogeneous population of tumour cells containing a subset of clones with the necessary alterations required for metastasis [61]. Seminal studies by Fidler et al. showed that only a subset of malignant cells within a heterogeneous primary tumour was capable of metastasis [62]. Recently, genomic sequencing of a primary basal-like breast tumour revealed that a subset of primary tumour cells were enriched in the resulting brain metastases [63].

The parallel progression model suggests that malignant mutations are acquired primarily at secondary sites. In this model, tumour cells disseminate early during tumour progression to metastasis and acquire the necessary mutations required for survival and growth as a result of microenvironmental pressures at metastatic sites. Thus, they adapt specifically to the secondary environment [64]. In support of this, genomic analyses show discrepancies not only between the primary tumour and metastases, but also between different metastases from one patient [65, 66]. Comparison of primary tumour and metastatic lesion growth rates indicates that metastases are too large to be occurring in later stages of progression to malignancy [67, 68] and early systemic spread has been reported in transgenic murine mammary tumour models [69]. It is now evident that seeding of metastatic sites can occur before detection of primary tumours [58]. However, it remains unclear how metastases relate to primary tumours as there are data to support both the linear and parallel models of progression.

Seeding can occur in multiple organs, but metastatic growth occurs only in a few sites [69] and different tumours display characteristic patterns of secondary organ metastasis [50, 70]. In advanced breast cancer, tumours metastasise to bone, lung, lymph node, brain and liver [57, 70]. It was originally believed that metastasising tumour cells were directed by the circulatory and lymphatic systems and would lodge upon reaching smaller vessels [71, 72]. However, Paget's 'seed and soil' hypothesis dramatically changed how pathway of metastatic dissemination is viewed. Paget's hypothesis states that the tumour cells, or 'seeds', are systemically distributed but only grow in permissive environments, or 'soils'[73]. Fidler's research was the first to demonstrate that tumour cells disseminate to many organs, but only grow in some [74]. Since then, the pre-metastatic niche theory has been proposed. It states that the primary tumour influences sites of future metastasis to create a permissive growth environment prior to the arrival of circulating tumour cells [75].

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a biological process that typically occurs during embryogenesis, organ development and wound healing [76]. However, EMT has also been proposed to be a key mechanism in the acquisition of an invasive phenotype by epithelial cancer cells, such as breast tumour cells [77]. Such 'invasiveness' precedes, and is essential for, metastatic dissemination of tumour cells [77]. During EMT, a polarised epithelial cell undergoes biochemical changes resulting in the

transition to a mesenchymal phenotype. This includes increased migratory capacity, increased invasiveness, resistance to apoptosis, and increased production of ECM components [78]. The final step of the EMT process is the degradation of the underlying basement membrane and migration of the cell away from the epithelial layer from which it originated.

EMT allows for tumour cell phenotypic plasticity which is emphasised by the occurrence of the reverse process; mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET). Circulating tumour cells must revert from their mesenchymal phenotype to that of an epithelial one for successful metastatic growth to occur [79]. In carcinomas EMT is thought to be induced via signals originating from the surrounding stroma. For example, HGF, EGF, PDGF and TGF- β have been implicated in the induction and/or activation of a number of EMT-inducing transcription factors, namely Snail, Slug, Twist, Goosecoid and FOXC2 [77, 80-84]. MET is also thought to be induced by the local environment at the metastatic site [77].

The microenvironment of the primary tumour has been better characterised than that of metastatic lesions. However, both contain non-malignant stromal and immune cells, soluble factors, blood vessels and the ECM [85-87]. Inflammation has been associated with metastasis [88-90] and inflammatory chemokines have been implicated in recruiting circulating tumour cells and myeloid cells to metastatic sites [91]. A growing body of evidence implicates myeloid cells in metastatic events. In murine models of Lewis lung carcinoma and melanoma, tumour-derived vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A, transforming growth factor (TGF)-β and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) recruited myeloid cells to lungs, but not other organs [91]. Bone marrow derived cells (BMDCs) expressing VEGFR1 have been shown to cluster in the lungs prior to the arrival of tumour cells in mouse models of Lewis lung carcinoma and melanoma [92]. These myeloid cells, in conjunction with stromal cells, secrete chemokines and cytokines, growth factors, matrix degrading enzymes and adhesion molecules, all of which contribute to metastatic tumour growth [91-93]. Furthermore, tumour cells appear to localise to clusters of myeloid cells in metastasis-associated lungs [92, 94]. However, there is still much we do not know about the individual myeloid cell populations that are involved in metastasis.

1.4 Tumour microenvironment

Random mutations alone cannot account for the heterogeneity of tumours. Tumour progression is influenced immensely by extracellular signals from the surrounding environment [95]. The tumour microenvironment is highly complex, varies between tumour types and disease stages, and consists of many cell types, factors and signalling pathways, some of which can have opposing roles on tumour progression. Hanahan and Weinberg proposed that cancer cells must acquire six essential adaptations to progress to malignancy; 1) self-sufficiency in growth signals, 2) insensitivity to anti-growth signals, 3) the ability to evade apoptosis, 4) limitless replicative potential, 5) the ability to induce and sustain angiogenesis and 6) the ability to invade and survive at secondary sites [96], although it is the ability to survive and invade at secondary sites that ultimately distinguishes malignant from benign tumours. Recently, these authors have described tumour-promoting inflammation as an 'enabling characteristic' that supports the acquisition of these six hallmarks [51].

The extracellular signals that influence tumour progression include cytokines [97], chemokines [98], ECM molecules [99], and adhesion molecules [100]. These factors form a signalling network that can either promote or arrest tumour development. These signalling networks affect cellular processes such as angiogenesis, inflammation and recruitment of circulating cells, as well as the type of immune response generated. Solid tumours are thus comprised of a unique microenvironment made up of malignant, stromal and inflammatory cells. Although stromal and inflammatory cells have been overlooked in the past, they are now known to be important in tumour progression [101].

1.4.1 Stromal cells in the tumour microenvironment

Stromal cells associated with tumours include adipocytes, fibroblasts and endothelial cells, as well as inflammatory cells. Just as these non-malignant cells can influence the neoplastic phenotype of the tumour, they too can be influenced by the tumour. Stromal cells are involved in a number of steps in tumour progression. Tumours recruit endothelial cells to facilitate vascularisation [102]. This allows tumours access to unlimited nutrient and oxygen supplies. Tumour cells also induce fibroblasts to express

angiogenic factors that promote growth of new blood vessels [103]. Cancer-associated fibroblasts can also degrade the ECM, releasing sequestered growth and angiogenic factors that promote tumour progression [104, 105]. Adipocytes induce anti-apoptotic transcriptional programs in tumour cells [106], and increase tumour cell invasion [107]. Recent work has focused on the role of inflammatory cells in breast tumours as it has emerged that macrophages are key for progression to malignancy. Furthermore, neutrophils have now also been implicated as active participants in breast tumour growth and metastasis.

1.4.2 Inflammation and tumours

In 1863, Rudolf Virchow first proposed a link between inflammation and cancer after noticing infiltrating leukocytes in malignant tissues [108]. Since then, studies have shown that chronic inflammation predisposes to many cancers, such as gastric [109], colon [110], oesophageal [111], pancreatic [112] and cervical cancer [113]. Inflammation is present in the microenvironment of most animal and human tumours, generally from the earliest stages of development. Cancer-associated inflammation encompasses a number of components and processes that include production of cytokines and chemokines, tissue remodelling, angiogenesis and infiltration of leukocytes.

1.5 Tumour-associated myeloid cells

Tumour-associated leukocytes include macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), natural killer (NK) cells, neutrophils and mast cells. Tumours manipulate the host immune system to evade destruction [114], and then utilise this immune system to facilitate their own growth and progression to malignancy [115]. Macrophages, neutrophils and mast cells are the most prominent inflammatory cell populations found in tumours. Mast cells have been shown to play dual roles in cancer, affecting tumour growth and progression both positively and negatively [116]. In breast cancer, the presence of mast cells tends to be associated with improved prognosis [117, 118]. DCs, on the other hand, are modified by breast tumours to suppress anti-tumour immunity [119, 120]. In an experimental model of metastasis, DCs were implicated in promoting 4T1 mammary tumour growth by

skewing the immune response from Th1 to Th2 [121]. In human breast cancer DCs are thought to stimulate regulatory T cell (Treg) activation and expansion resulting in suppression of anti-tumour responses [122, 123]. Much research now focuses on developing DC-based therapies that aim to enhance anti-tumour immunity [124-128]. Breast tumours also suppress NK cell cytotoxic functions [129-131] and, as for DCs, emerging studies are looking at simulating NK cell anti-tumour activity as an adjuvant therapy in combination with existing treatments, in particular at enhancing trastuzumab-mediated antibody dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) [132, 133]. Conversely, TAMs can comprise up to 50% of the tumour mass [134] and have been shown to play a number of key roles in breast tumour progression, with many therapies now focusing on inhibition of their functions [135-137]. Furthermore, emerging data also implicate neutrophils as key players in tumour growth and development [8, 138-141].

1.5.1 Macrophages

Macrophages are phagocytic leukocytes that regulate innate immune responses. Macrophages are made up of a number of subpopulations that are defined by anatomical location and phenotype, including specialised macrophages such as osteoclasts (bone), alveolar macrophages (lung), Kupffer cells (liver), marginal zone macrophages (spleen) and microglia (brain) [142]. Due to their anatomical diversity and their multiplicity of roles during host responses to insults, macrophages display a phenotypic spectrum of which 'classically activated' macrophages (M1-like) and 'alternatively activated' macrophages (M2-like) are the extremes [143-146]. Macrophages are phenotypically flexible and can switch from one functional phenotype to another in response to different microenvironmental signals [147-149].

Given this phenotypic plasticity, macrophages can be indicators of either a positive or negative prognosis in cancer. High macrophage infiltration in stomach cancer results in a favourable prognosis [150], whereas there is conflicting evidence for their role in prostate, lung and brain tumours [151]. In bladder, oesophageal and breast cancer, high numbers of macrophages correlate with a poor prognosis [152].

1.5.1.a Macrophage phenotypes

The different macrophage phenotypes are associated with the secretion of a variety of factors that can control cell recruitment, survival, differentiation and the vast majority of cellular functions. These factors include cytokines and chemokines, proteases and growth factors. A summary of key macrophage factors, their functions and their roles in breast cancer can be found in Table 1.2.

Macrophage phenotypes *in vitro* have been classified as M1 and M2, although these two phenotypes represent the extremes of a phenotypic spectrum. *In vivo* M1-like macrophages are the first macrophages to appear following tissue injury or infection. They arise from monocytes exposed to bacterial products, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), granulocyte-macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and interferon gamma (IFNγ) [143, 153, 154], and are typically 'pro-inflammatory.' M1-like macrophages are characterised by high secretion of IL-12 and IL-23 pro-inflammatory cytokines that activate a polarised type I T cell response [145, 155]. They also produce reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates, such as nitric oxide (NO) and superoxide, are cytotoxic, and have a high capacity to present antigens [143].

M2-like macrophages arise from monocytes exposed to colony stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1), IL-4, IL-13 and IL-10 [153, 154, 156]. These macrophages suppress inflammation elicited by M1-like macrophages and initiate wound repair [157, 158] which is critical for the restoration of homeostasis [159, 160]. In accordance with their trophic functions, M2-like macrophages display high levels of scavenger, mannose and galactose type receptors [154]. They suppress immune responses by secretion of anti-inflammatory mediators such as IL-10 and arginase (ARG)-1 [161-163], and by induction of regulatory T cells (Tregs) [164]. M2-like macrophages phagocytose dead cells, debris and various ECM components, and are involved in scavenging [165], immune suppression [164], matrix remodelling [166] and angiogenesis [167]. The M1 and M2-like macrophages can be further subdivided into M2a (after exposure to IL-4 or -13), M2b (after exposure to immune complexes along with IL-1 β or LPS) and M2c (after exposure to IL-10, TGF β or glucocorticoids) [168] phenotypes.

1.5.1 Neutrophils

Neutrophils are short-lived leukocytes derived from bone marrow myeloid precursors. They are the most abundant immune cell type in the circulation and are typically the first effector cells to arrive at sites of inflammation. Neutrophils contain a number of granules that house a battery of proteins, proteases, antibiotics and reactive oxygen species. These include antimicrobial proteins, (e.g. lactoferrin and lysozyme), matrixmetalloproteinases (e.g. MMP-8,-9 and -25), serine proteases (e.g. cathepsin G and neutrophil elastase; NE) and myeloperoxidase (MPO). All of these factors, and others, allow neutrophils to migrate to sites of inflammation, destroy invading pathogens, stimulate angiogenesis and modulate inflammatory responses [169, 170]. When stimulated, they attach to the endothelium, secrete proteolytic enzymes, degrade and migrate through the basement membrane [171]. Once they arrive at sites of inflammation, neutrophils release a battery of cytokines and chemokines [172]. Any of these processes can be hijacked by the tumour to promote growth and invasion. A summary of key factors, their functions and their roles in breast cancer can be found in Table 1.2.

 Table 1.2: Key macrophage and neutrophil factors, their function and role in

 breast cancer

Factor	Function	Role in breast cancer
IL-12	Pro-inflammatory	-Stimulates T and NK cell cytotoxicity
	cytokine	[173, 174]
		-Suppresses metastasis [175]
IL-10	Anti-inflammatory	-Suppresses T cell responses [176].
	cytokine	-Increased serum levels associate with poor
		prognosis [177]
IL-23	Pro-inflammatory	-Increased serum levels associate with poor
	cytokine	prognosis [178]
IL-1	Pro-inflammatory	- Promotes angiogenesis and tumour cell
	cytokine	invasion [179]
		- Recruits pro-angiogenic neutrophils and
		macrophages to tumours [180]

Table 1.2 continued on next page

Table 1.2 continued

IL-6	Recruits leukocytes to	-Can block DC differentiation [181]
	inflammatory sites	-Increased serum levels associate with poor
		prognosis [182]
ΤΝFα	Regulates	-Promotes tumour invasion [183]
	inflammation	-Increased serum levels associate with poor
		prognosis [184]
TGFβ	Regulates immune	-Can suppresses [185], or promote [186]
	cell functions	metastasis
IFNγ	Regulates	-Suppresses tumour cell proliferation [187]
	inflammation	-Suppresses metastasis [188]
Nitric oxide	Cytotoxic	-Suppresses tumour growth [189]
		-Suppresses metastasis [190]
Arginase	Convert L-Arg to urea	-Inhibit anti-tumour T cell responses [191]
(I and II)	and L-Orn	
ROS	Reactive oxygen	-Increase DNA mutations [192]
	species	-Inhibit anti-tumour T cell responses [193]
VEGF	Pro-angiogenic factor	-Promotes new blood vessel growth in
		primary tumours [194] and metastases [92]
EGF	Growth factor	-Promotes tumour cell growth/survival [195]
		-Promotes co-migration of TAMs and
		tumour cells [196]
CXCL12 and	Chemokines for	-Promote directional metastasis [197]
CXCR4	myeloid cells	
CSF-1	Macrophage factor	-Recruits and polarises TAMs [198]
		-Promotes metastasis [136, 199]
G-CSF	Granulocyte-	-Recruits neutrophils [8, 200]
	stimulating factor	-Can promote [8] or suppress [201]
		metastasis
CCL2	Monocyte	Promotes metastasis [202]
(MCP-1)	chemoattractant	

 Table 1.2 continued on next page

Table 1.2 continued

MMP-9 and	Degrade the basement	-Promote tumour growth, angiogenesis and
MMP-2	membrane	invasion [203]
		-Promote metastasis [204]
NE	Neutrophil-derived	-Promotes tumour cell invasion [205]
	protease	

1.6 Myeloid derived suppressor cells and Gr-1

Studies investigating the role of inflammatory cells in cancer have been impeded by confusion regarding the heterogeneity of the myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs). The term 'myeloid-derived suppressor cell' was proposed by Gabrilovich [206] and describes a heterogeneous population composed of immature macrophages, granulocytes, DCs and other myeloid cells at earlier stages of differentiation [206-208]. MDSCs have been reported to promote tumour growth and progression primarily through suppression of anti-tumour T cell responses and Treg expansion [191, 209]. However, these functions have also been described individually for tumour-associated neutrophils (TANs), TAMs and even monocytes [193, 210, 211]. In fact, two studies that have reported MDSC-mediated expansion of Tregs were in fact analysing monocyte/macrophage-mediated expansion of Tregs instead of that due to MDSCs [212, 213].

Murine MDSCs can be identified by their expression of Gr-1 and CD11b and lack of, or reduced expression, of mature myeloid cell markers [206]. Human MDSCs are not well characterised, but are thought to be MHC class II^{low} CD33⁺CD11b⁺CD14^{neg}CD15⁺/lin^{neg} [214]. Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells form clusters in the lung prior to the arrival of tumour cells [3] and increases in Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells have been reported in the spleen [215], bone marrow [216] and circulation [217] of tumour-bearing mice. Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells, when isolated from tumours and spleens of metastatic tumour-bearing mice and co-injected with 4T1 tumour cells, increase metastasis to lung, unlike Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells from normal spleens co-injected with 4T1 tumour cells [185]. The authors found that MMP-14, MMP-13 and MMP-2 gene expression and activity were elevated in Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells isolated from tumours compared to Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells isolated from the spleens of non-tumour bearing mice. Furthermore 4T1 cells seeded with tumour-derived Gr-

1⁺CD11b⁺ cells were more invasive *in vitro* and this increased invasion could be reduced by a broad spectrum MMP inhibitor. [185]. Thus, the authors concluded that the Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells were influenced by the tumour microenvironment to increase MMP production and consequently promote tumour cell invasion and metastasis [185]. However, Gr-1⁺ cells are not always considered MDSCs and are often described as neutrophils [218, 219] or monocytes [220]. In fact, Gr-1 does not distinguish between neutrophils and monocytes/macrophages.

The use of Gr-1 has led to the investigation of MDSCs as a discrete cell 'population' when in reality the MDSC classification clusters a number of different cell types together. In tumours, three distinct cell populations have been found within Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells, namely, SSC^{high}CD11b⁺Gr-1^{neg/int} cells eosinophil-like cells, SSC^{low}CD11b⁺Gr-1^{high} cells with neutrophil-like morphology and SSC^{low}CD11b⁺Gr-1^{int/low} cells which also expressed F4/80 and Ly6C, indicating that they are macrophages [218]. MDSCs are also highly plastic and can become adherent, F4/80⁺, macrophage-like cells [215, 221], or, alternatively, differentiate into DCs when exposed to GM-CSF and IL-4 [208]. They have even been shown to differentiate into endothelial cells in tumours [222]. Hence tumour-driven functional changes in the diverse cell types that make up this 'population' may have been confused and/or overlooked.

Given the large number of different cell types that make up MDSCs, the different roles that they play in immunity, and the plasticity they can display phenotypically, it is important for future cancer therapies that we begin to distinguish between the cells that make up this 'population.' Clarification of how monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils are involved in tumour progression independently of each other, as well as how they are related in terms of phenotype and function is required. More recently, analyses of myeloid cells in murine cancer models have utilised antibodies against Ly6C and Ly6G, which allows for separation of neutrophils from monocytes/macrophages [8, 201, 223-225]. These markers have proven to be more specific in analysing monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils compared to Gr-1 [226], and recent studies using anti-Ly6G antibodies have shown that previously reported neutrophil functions in studies using Gr-1 antibodies need to be re-considered [227, 228].

1.7 Tumour-associated macrophages (TAMs)

Until the 1970s it was presumed that TAMs indicated a favourable prognosis in breast cancer [229]. However, it has since been shown that TAMs promote breast tumour growth [230-232], and high numbers of TAMs in breast tumours are now known to associate with poor prognosis [233-235]. Furthermore, genes associated with macrophage infiltration, such as CD68, have been shown to contribute to molecular signatures associated with worse disease outcome in breast cancer [236].

Tumour microenvironmental factors, such as CSF-1, TGF β , IL-6 and IL-10, polarise TAMs towards an M2-like phenotype [231]. As a result of their trophic phenotype, TAMs are involved in a number of processes that promote tumour growth, such as ECM remodelling, angiogenesis and suppression of the immune response. A summary of TAM functions in the primary tumour microenvironment can be found in Figure 1.2.

1.7.1 TAM-derived growth factors

TAMs secrete various growth factors, such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), TGF α and β and EGF, all of which play a role in tumour cell survival and proliferation. bFGF and PDGF increase human mammary carcinoma cell proliferation *in vitro* [237, 238]. EGF is a key growth factor in breast cancer, not only promoting tumour cell proliferation, but also acting as a powerful chemoattractant of breast cancer cells [239] and TAMs are reported to be the major source of EGF in breast tumours [240].

1.7.2 TAM-mediated angiogenesis

Once primary tumours grow to 1-2 mm² in size, development of new blood vessels is required for acquisition of sufficient nutrient and oxygen supplies, without which the tumour becomes necrotic and dies [241]. An imbalance between positive and negative regulators of angiogenesis results in the induction of tumour vascularisation, a process termed the angiogenic switch [242].

The concept that TAMs are involved in angiogenesis was first proposed by Sunderkotter in 1991 [243]. Since then, TAMs have been shown to have potent angiogenic activity in tumours, secreting a number of pro-angiogenic factors such as VEGF [234], CCL2 [244], MMP-9 [137], and thymidine phosphorylase (TP) [245].

TAMs migrate into poorly vascularised, necrotic and hypoxic areas of the tumour where they become trapped [246]. This triggers upregulation of angiogenic factors by TAMs resulting in new blood vessel formation [247, 248]. This is thought to occur under the influence of the hypoxia inducible factor 2α (HIF- 2α) [249]. In the MMTV-PyMT transgenic model, TAMs can mediate the angiogenic switch [250] and are recruited early in tumour development [199]. Depletion of TAMs reduces vascular density, whereas enhanced recruitment of TAMs accelerates tumour vascularisation [199].

1.7.3 TAM-mediated ECM degradation, migration and invasion ECM degradation in cancer is a critical step that releases sequestered growth and proangiogenic factors [251], and allows for tumour cell escape into the vasculature [96]. TAMs produce a number of enzymes that regulate matrix digestion such as MMPs and urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA). In MMTV-PyMT mammary tumours, TAMs have been found in areas of basement membrane breakdown [199]. Co-culture of TAMs with breast cancer cell lines increases invasiveness of tumour cells *in vitro* and this is associated with upregulation of MMP-9 in TAMs. Blockade of MMP-9 abrogates this increased tumour cell invasion [252].

1.7.4 TAM-mediated suppression of anti-tumour immune responses Through the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines, TAMs are able to suppress adaptive immunity, which allows tumours to escape immune-mediated destruction. TAMs secrete the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, that inhibits cytokine production by T cells and antigen presentation by macrophages and DCs [253]. IL-10 knock-out mice display an increased ability to reject bladder tumours and had a higher survival rate [254]. Furthermore, IL-10 has been shown to promote the differentiation of monocytes into TAMs and block their differentiation into DCs [255]. TAM expression of HIF-1 α has also been implicated in suppression of anti-tumour T cell responses.

Deletion of HIF-1 α in TAMs in a murine model of breast cancer reduced primary tumour growth. HIF-1 α was shown to enhance suppression of anti-tumour T cell responses, and the absence of HIF-1 α allowed for tumour cell destruction. [256].

1.7.5 TAM phenotypes differ between tumour regions

Recent gene profiling data have shown that, although TAMs express many genes associated with the M2 macrophage phenotype [225, 257, 258], they also express M1 phenotype-associated genes [225, 259]. This raises the possibility that there are distinct subpopulations of TAMs, with distinct functions [260]. In MMTV-PyMT tumours, higher numbers of TAMs were found at the margins of the tumour and numbers decreased throughout the stroma deeper in the tumour. In the centre of the tumour, TAMs were found in association with blood vessels [261]. This indicates that TAMs reside within different tumour regions, and may have specialised functions depending on the microenvironmental influences of each region. TAMs capable of promoting tumour cell invasion show different gene expression signatures to the general TAM population [262], suggesting that these 'invasive' TAMs may have a unique phenotype as a result of their role in promoting tumour cell escape into the vasculature.

TAMs from different regions of murine TS/A breast tumours also differed phenotypically [225]. The TS/A tumour cell line was derived from a spontaneously arising mammary adenocarcinoma and is metastatic to lung [263]. In this study two TAM subpopulations were identified based on MHC II expression: an MHC II^{high} subpopulation, that were more M1-like in phenotype, and an MHC II^{low} subpopulation, that were more M2-like in phenotype. Furthermore, MHC II^{low} TAMs were found to reside preferentially in hypoxic regions of tumours and had a higher pro-angiogenic activity, supporting the theory that TAM subpopulations within different tumour regions have specialised roles.

Two distinct TAM subpopulations were also found in a mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma [264]. During the early phase of tumour development, an MHC II^{high} TAM subpopulation was associated with tumour suppression. However, an MHC II^{low} tumour-promoting TAM subpopulation became increasingly prominent later. Thus, it is possible that combinations of M1-like and M2-like phenotypes in TAM subpopulations are
required for tumour growth. This requires further investigation as it may be possible to individually target TAM subpopulations, without affecting other macrophage populations, for treatment of advanced breast cancer.

1.7.6 CSF-1

The colony stimulating factors (CSFs) are a group of haematopoietic growth factors that include CSF-1 (M-CSF), CSF-2 (GM-CSF) and CSF-3 (G-CSF) [265]. GM-CSF acts at earlier stages of cell lineage progression and is considered a factor in both macrophage and neutrophil differentiation. G-CSF acts predominantly as a neutrophil lineage factor and CSF-1 is a key factor in macrophage survival, proliferation, differentiation and recruitment [266, 267].

CSF-1 is constitutively produced by several cell types including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, stromal cells, smooth muscle cells, osteoblasts and macrophages [265]. CSF-1 exists in three major isoforms [268]: a circulating secreted glycoprotein, a circulating secreted proteoglycan and a membrane-spanning cell surface protein. The effects of CSF-1 are mediated by a high-affinity receptor tyrosine kinase [269, 270] encoded by the *c-fms* proto-oncogene [271, 272] (CSF-1 receptor; CSF-1R). CSF-1R is expressed primarily on mononuclear phagocytic cells and their precursors [273]. Binding of soluble CSF-1 to the CSF-1R activates downstream cytoplasmic signalling leading to survival, proliferation, differentiation and activation of macrophages [274, 275]. CSF-1 is also chemotactic for macrophages [276]. Recently, a new and independent ligand for the CSF-1R, interleukin-34 (IL-34), has been identified that can stimulate CSF-1R phosphorylation [277] but displays a different expression pattern to that of CSF-1 [278].

 $Csf1^{op}/Csf1^{op}$ mice have an inactivating mutation in the coding region of the CSF-1 gene and therefore lack CSF-1 activity [279]. These mice are toothless, have a low growth rate and body weight, and are deficient in certain populations of tissue macrophages [279-282]. Reconstitution of circulating CSF-1 levels in $Csf1^{op}/Csf1^{op}$ mice corrected F4/80⁺ macrophage deficiencies in liver, bladder, salivary gland, kidney, dermis and synovial membrane. Macrophage deficiencies in the peritoneal cavity, adrenal gland, spleen and large intestine were only partially restored [282, 283], indicating that CSF-1 does not regulate all macrophage populations.

1.7.6.a CSF-1 in breast tumours

In breast tumours, both tumour cells and TAMs express CSF-1 [284]. Increased CSF-1R expression has been correlated with breast tumour grade and clinical stage [285], and circulating CSF-1 levels were found to be elevated in patients with aggressive or metastatic tumours [286]. High expression of CSF-1 in breast cancer correlates with poor prognosis [287] and increased numbers of TAMs [198].

The effect of CSF-1 on tumour growth and progression appears to be governed by which isoform of CSF-1 is expressed by tumour cells. *In vitro* studies have shown that glioma cells transfected with the membrane isoform of CSF-1 were killed upon co-culture with macrophages, whereas glioma cells transfected with the secreted isoform were not [288, 289]. Similar results have been seen with the MADB106 breast cancer cell line, where transfection with membrane CSF-1 resulted in rejection of tumours [290]. Thus, destruction of tumour cells appears to require cell-to-cell contact with macrophages mediated by the membrane isoform of CSF-1. The anti-tumour effects of the membrane form of CSF-1 can be abolished by saturation with recombinant CSF-1 [288]. Breast tumours primarily express the soluble isoform of CSF-1 [291].

Small molecule inhibitors of CSF-1R block receptor autophosphorylation and, as a result, CSF-1R downstream signals that control macrophage function. Treatment of human mammary xenografts (immunocompromised mice) with CSF-1 antisense oligonucleotides [292], anti-CSF-1 antibodies [293], or small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) [294] against CSF-1 or CSF-1R suppressed tumour growth. This effect on tumour growth was attributed to depletion of TAMs. In MMTV-PyMT mice crossed with $Csf1^{op}/Csf1^{op}$ mice, TAMs were unable to accumulate in the primary tumour, highlighting the importance of CSF-1 in recruiting TAMs to primary tumours [199]. Although tumour growth was not affected in $Csf1^{op}/Csf1^{op}$ mice, metastasis to lung was reduced. The role of CSF-1 in metastasis will be discussed later in this chapter (Section 1.10.3).

1.8 Monocytes

Monocytes are a heterogeneous population that represent 5-10% of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). They arise in the bone marrow, are released into the blood stream and enter tissues where they can give rise to macrophages or DCs [142, 295, 296]. The relationship between monocytes and DCs is beyond the scope of this chapter, but is reviewed thoroughly by Geissmann et al. [297].

1.8.1 Monocyte subpopulations

It was initially proposed by Geissmann et al. that monocytes can be grouped into two main subpopulations, an 'inflammatory' subpopulation, containing short-lived CX₃CR1^{low}Gr-1⁺ monocytes that homed to inflamed tissue, and a 'resident' subpopulation, containing CX₃CR1^{high}Gr-1^{neg} cells with a longer half-life that gave rise to resident myeloid cells in non-inflamed tissues [298]. Similar populations have been described in human monocytes: CD14^{low}CD16⁺CX₃CR1^{high}Gr-1^{neg} murine subpopulation, whereas CD14⁺CD16^{neg}CX₃CR1^{low}CCR2⁺CD62L⁺ monocytes more closely resemble the 'inflammatory' CX₃CR1^{low}Gr-1⁺ murine subpopulation [298]. CD14^{low}CD16⁺ monocytes increase in number during infections [299, 300] and are considered pro-inflammatory in phenotype [301].

Subsequent studies have shown that the 'inflammatory' and 'resident' designations for monocyte subpopulations do not take into account the heterogeneity and phenotypic complexity of monocytes. The inflammatory subpopulation is now called 'classical' $(CD14^{high}CD16^{+} \text{ or } CX_3CR1^{low}Gr-1^{+})$, and the resident subpopulation is now called 'non-classical' $(CD14^{low}CD16^{+} \text{ or } CX_3CR1^{high}Gr-1^{neg})$ [302]. Murine monocytes express CD115 (CSF-1R) and CD11b and, as previously described, can be distinguished by levels of CX₃CR1 expression; however, they can also be distinguished by expression of the murine monocyte differentiation marker, Ly6C [303]. Ly6C^{high} monocytes comprise the 'classical' subpopulation and Ly6C^{low} monocytes the 'non-classical.'

1.8.2 Monocyte differentiation

Monocytes are thought to arise in the bone marrow as immature Ly6C^{high} cells and are released into the blood where it is thought that, as they mature, they downregulate Ly6C expression, becoming Ly6C^{low} monocytes. In support of this, a third subpopulation of monocytes with intermediate expression of Gr-1 exists, and in human monocytes an 'intermediate' CD14⁺CD16⁺ population has also been identified [304] indicating a transition from Ly6C^{high} to Ly6C^{low} in the mouse and from CD14^{high} to CD14^{low} in humans. It has been suggested that Ly6C^{high} monocytes can move bi-directionally between blood and bone marrow [296, 305].

Adoptively transferred Gr-1^{high} (Ly6C^{high}) disappear from the blood in the absence of inflammation [298] indicating that they may be converting to Gr-1^{low}. Following depletion of all blood monocytes, the returning circulating monocytes were predominantly Gr-1^{high} and after 5 days converted to Gr-1^{low} [304]. In another study, monocytes initially labelled as Gr-1^{high} had fully converted to Gr-1^{low} after 7 days during steady state [306]. Injection of Gr-1^{high}/Ly6C^{high} monocytes into the femoral bone cavity resulted in the isolation of graft-derived Gr-1^{low}/Ly6C^{low} monocytes act as precursors for Ly6C^{low} monocytes [305]. However, the conversion of Ly6C^{high} to Ly6C^{low} monocytes has been questioned [297]. Reduction of Gr-1⁺/Ly6C^{high} monocytes [307, 308] indicating that Ly6C^{high} do not always convert into Ly6C^{low}.

Ly6C^{high} monocytes are more migratory and typically recruited first to sites of tissue damage and inflammation, whereas Ly6C^{low} monocytes generally arrive later [298, 309]. Gr-1/Ly6C^{high} monocytes have been shown to be pro-inflammatory in nature [298, 304, 310-312]. However, increasing evidence indicates that Ly6C^{low} monocytes also have inflammatory properties and can secrete inflammatory cytokines [313]. A fraction of Ly6C^{low} monocytes has recently been shown to patrol blood vessel walls during the resting state and infiltrated inflammatory sites before Ly6C^{high} monocytes, where they initiated a macrophage differentiation program [313]. Ly6C^{high} monocytes infiltrated later and gave rise to inflammatory DCs [313].

In humans CD14^{low}CD16⁺ monocytes were found to patrol the blood vessel endothelium after adoptive transfer into mice, and gene expression analysis revealed similarities with patrolling murine Ly6C^{low} monocytes [314].

Conversely, in atherosclerotic lesions and liver injury, Gr-1/Ly6C^{high} monocytes were recruited early and displayed pro-inflammatory functions [315, 316]. This was also seen in a model of myocardial infarction, where Ly6C^{high} monocytes dominated the early phase of recruitment and displayed inflammatory, phagocytic and proteolytic functions, while Ly6C^{low} monocytes infiltrated later and expressed VEGF and initiated wound healing [317]. In skeletal muscle injury, Ly6C^{high} monocytes were recruited first but declined rapidly, whereas Ly6C^{low} monocytes appeared later but steadily increased in number [318]. In this study, Ly6C^{high} monocytes expressed pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-10 and TGF β [318]. Similar findings were also seen in a murine model of kidney injury, where it was proposed that Ly6C^{high} monocytes converted into trophic Ly6C^{low} monocytes [319].

Ly6C^{high} monocytes were found to accumulate in the central nervous system prior to the onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and West Nile virus encephalitis [320, 321]. In the EAE model, these monocytes were pro-inflammatory in phenotype, secreting TNF α and producing inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [320]. Ly6C^{low} monocytes upregulated IL-12, IL-23 and IL-6 gene expression in this model, indicating that they were also somewhat pro-inflammatory in phenotype, although they were far less numerous and not as thoroughly examined [320]. However, in another study, a subset of Ly6C^{high} monocytes was shown to suppress T cell responses in EAE [322]. In spinal cord injury, adoptively transferred Ly6C^{high} monocytes contributed to resolution of inflammation and initiation of tissue repair [323], whereas in this case, Ly6C^{low} monocytes appeared to be pro-inflammatory in phenotype [324]. During hindlimb ischemia it was the 7/4^{high} cells (a marker of neutrophils and monocytes), most likely representing Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocyte functions in various models of inflammation can be found in Table 1.3.

Given the above results, it is possible that Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocyte subpopulations are both capable of initiating and inhibiting inflammatory responses. A model of monocyte differentiation based on published studies is shown in Figure 1.3.

Model of	Ly6C ^{high} monocytes		Ly6C ^{low} monocytes	
Inflammation	Recruitment	Function	Recruitment	Function
Atherosclerotic	Arrive first	Inflammatory	Not investigate	d
lesions [315]				
Liver injury [316]	Arrive first	Inflammatory	Not investigated	
West Nile virus	Arrive first	Inflammatory	Not investigated	
encephalitis [321]				
Bacterial infection	Arrive	Inflammatory	Arrive first	Inflammatory
[313]	second			
Myocardial infarction	Arrive first	Inflammatory	Arrive	Trophic
[317]			second	
Skeletal muscle	Arrive first	Inflammatory	Arrive	Trophic
injury [318]			second	
Kidney injury [319]	Arrive first	Inflammatory	Arrive	Trophic
			second	
EAE [320]	Possibly	Trophic and	Not	Inflammatory
	arrive first	inflammatory	investigated	
Spinal cord injury	Not	Trophic	Not	Inflammatory
[323]	investigated		investigated	
Hindlimb ischemia	Arrive first	Trophic	Arrive	Not
[325]			second	investigated

Table 1.3: Summary of monocyte subpopulation recruitment and function

1.8.3 Monocytes in cancer

Blood monocytes increase in patients with metastatic tumours compared to normal individuals [326] and, in particular, the CD14^{low}CD16⁺ (non-classical) subpopulation is elevated in gastrointestinal carcinoma patients [327]. However, it is not clear how monocytes or monocyte subpopulations are involved in breast tumour development.

CCL2 is a key factor involved in monocyte recruitment [304]. CCL2-producing tumours recruit increased numbers of monocytes into the tumour mass, whereas in tumours that do not produce CCL2, monocytes are found mainly in the peritumoural region [328]. It has been proposed that recruitment of monocytes via CCL2 can have dual effects. In a melanoma model, low-level secretion of CCL2 promoted tumour formation, whereas high-level CCL2 secretion resulted in considerable TAM infiltration and tumour destruction [329]. However, given that TAMs can make up a substantial proportion of the breast tumour mass, and increased TAM numbers have been correlated with poor prognosis in breast cancer, it is less likely that this same effect would be seen in breast tumours. In fact, increased CCL2 expression correlates with poor prognosis in breast cancer [330]. RANTES (CCL5) is another monocyte chemoattractant whose levels correlate with more advanced disease in breast tumours [331, 332]. Thus, monocytes may be involved in breast tumour prognession.

Monocytes in cancer have frequently been interpreted to be MDSCs (see Section 1.6). Little is known about how monocytes are influenced by breast tumours. Monocytes will ultimately differentiate into TAMs [225], and in this way can promote tumour progression. However, a unique population of monocytes, termed TIE2-expressing monocytes, can suppress CD8⁺ T cells and expand Treg numbers [211] and have also been implicated in promoting tumour angiogenesis [333]. Murine TIE2⁺ monocytes have been shown to express CD45 (a hematopoietic cell marker) and CD11b (a myeloid cell marker) and are Gr-1^{low/neg} [334]. The Ly6C and Ly6G expression status of TIE2⁺ monocytes is not known. In addition to differentiating into TAMs, circulating monocytes are also likely to encounter tumour cells in the blood and may directly influence tumour progression in this way.

Tumour cells attached to cells with a monocytic morphology have been observed in the lung vasculature [335] and incubation of breast cancer cells with monocytes increases tumour cell invasiveness *in vitro* [336, 337]. It has been proposed that stromal cells may create a 'pathway' that tumour cells can follow. For example, carcinoma cells move within tracks in the extracellular matrix left behind by fibroblasts [338]. These fibroblasts have been called 'leading cells.' In light of these data, a model has been

proposed for multicellular migration of tumour cells [339]. Given their migratory nature, it is possible that monocytes may encounter and attach to tumour cells in the circulation and possibly protect them against destruction by shear forces and other immune cells, or even act as 'leading cells' in this setting, directing tumour cell homing to distant organs and/or extravasation at these sites.

1.9 Tumour-associated neutrophils (TANs)

The majority of the literature on immune cells in tumours focuses on the role of macrophages [4, 230, 232, 233, 340], lymphocytes [341-343] and natural killer (NK) cells [344, 345]. However, neutrophils are also commonly found in tumours and in many cases tumour progression is associated with neutrophilia [101, 346-349]. The relationship between neutrophil infiltration and prognosis in human cancer has not been examined comprehensively [87] but evidence exists for a role for neutrophils in enhancement of disease progression in some human tumours [139, 348].

Elevated serum neutrophil numbers, neutrophil factors or neutrophil to lymphocyte ratios generally predict poor prognosis in a number of human cancers, including gastric [350, 351], colon [352, 353], lung [354], oesophageal [355], pancreatic [356], cervical [357] and ovarian [358, 359]. In breast cancer, increased levels of the neutrophil specific protease, NE, correlate with poor prognosis [360]. In patients with renal cell carcinoma [361], bronchioloalveolar carcinoma [348], head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) [362] and melanoma [363], the presence of infiltrating neutrophils in the tumour or in the tumour microenvironment correlates with poor prognosis. The role of neutrophils in tumour growth remains controversial and, given that immune cells have been shown to play dual roles in cancer, it is likely that neutrophils will promote tumour progression in some, but not all, cancers. Little is known about neutrophils in breast cancer; hence neutrophils in cancer in general will be reviewed here.

Early studies have found neutrophils to be cytotoxic to human tumours *in vitro* [364, 365] and *in vivo* [366-368]. However, in most cases this cytotoxicity was elicited after neutrophils were primed with bacterial products or inflammatory agents [369], or alternatively, mice were 'immunised' via axillary lymph node injections of tumour cells prior to intraperitoneal challenge with the same tumour cells [370]. It was also reported

that high expression of G-CSF [371, 372], IL-2 [89, 372] or TNFα [89] in murine mammary tumours led to TAN-mediated rejection of tumours. However, most of these studies involved non-physiological levels of cytokine expression. Only one study showed that G-CSF expression at physiological levels led to suppression of tumours in a murine model of adenocarcinoma [373].

Conversely, Aeed et al. showed that rat adenocarcinomas are resistant to lysis by neutrophils [374] and that circulating neutrophil numbers increase with increasing metastatic capacity [5]. In human HNSCC, more aggressive tumours displayed increased TAN infiltration compared to less invasive tumours [362]. Increased numbers of TANs in lung tumour spheroids increased spheroid growth rates and inhibition of TAN infiltration reduced tumour growth [375]. Aeed et al. also showed that co-injection of neutrophils with mammary adenocarcinoma clones of varying metastatic capacity increased primary tumour growth compared to the same clones injected alone [5].

1.9.1 IL-8, CXCR1 and CXCR2

Neutrophil recruitment is driven predominantly by members of the CXCL chemokine family that bind to the CXCR1 and CXCR2 receptors on neutrophils [376]. In particular, CXCL1 and CXCL2 tend to be highly expressed in cancers [377-379]. Neutrophil migration can be inhibited by blocking CXCR1 and CXCR2 *in vitro* [7], and in both CXCR2-deficient mice or mice treated with a CXCR2 antagonist, a reduction in TAN numbers is seen [375]. In humans, IL-8 is a potent neutrophil chemoattractant [380] that is expressed in many cancers including breast cancer [381], cervical cancer [382], melanoma [383], and bronchioloalveolar carcinoma [349]. Tumours expressing increasing levels of IL-8 show increased TAN numbers [349, 384].

1.9.2 TAN-mediated angiogenesis

TANs secrete various pro-angiogenic factors [172, 385, 386] and can also mediate the angiogenic switch in cancer [387, 388]. Recent studies have indicated that neutrophils are often the predominant cell to produce MMP-9, and MMP-9-mediated ECM degradation releases sequestered angiogenic factors [389]. In pancreatic lesions Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells were the primary cell type to express the *MMP-9* gene [387]. These Gr-

1⁺CD11b⁺ cells stained positive for 7/4 and negative for F4/80 (a macrophage marker) and displayed polymorphic nuclei, confirming them as neutrophils [387]. Furthermore, neutrophils express tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP)-free pro-MMP-9 [138, 390], making MMP-9 more freely available for the induction of angiogenesis [390]. Hence neutrophils are important contributors to tumour angiogenesis in a number of cancers and possibly also in breast cancer.

1.9.3 TAN-mediated ECM degradation, migration and invasion

In a normal inflammatory response, neutrophils need to extravasate from the bloodstream. They do so via a four step mechanism that involves: 1) rolling along the vascular endothelium, 2) activation and upregulation of leukocyte integrins, 3) immobilisation on the vascular endothelium via integrin-mediated adhesion, and 4) migration into the target organ [391]. It has been proposed that, whilst migrating through the ECM to reach tumours, neutrophils create 'channels' through which tumour cells can escape into the vasculature [392].

As previously described, neutrophils contain four types of granules that house a number of proteinases capable of degrading a wide range of cytokines, chemokines and their receptors, as well as remodelling the ECM [393, 394]. Human fibrosarcomas and prostate tumours recruit MMP-9-expressing TANs and display increased tumour cell intravasation that is reduced upon inhibition of TAN recruitment [138]. TAN-derived NE can also promote tumour cell invasion [205]. In breast tumours, co-culture of human neutrophils with breast tumour cells increases neutrophil expression of oncostatin M that subsequently increases breast tumour cell detachment and invasiveness *in vitro* [395].

1.9.4 TAN-mediated suppression of anti-tumour immune responses Activation of T cells is a necessary step in the development of specific anti-tumour immune responses and to survive, tumours need to suppress T cell activity [96]. Neutrophils can inhibit T cells in cancer [193], they produce arginase and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) that are known to suppress anti-tumour T cell responses [191, 193].

In tumours, NK cell anti-tumour cytotoxicity is also suppressed [129-131]. Gr-1⁺ cells and neutrophils have been shown to be required for NK cell function and activation during homeostasis, infection and inflammation. Under homeostatic conditions, NK cell survival, maturation and function were impaired in mice depleted of Gr-1⁺ cells and a similar phenomenon was seen in neutropenic patients [396]. In a murine model of Legionella pneumophila infection, neutrophils were found to activate caspase-1 and produce IL-18, both of which are key factors in NK cell activation [397]. However, Gr- 1^+ cell-derived arginase suppresses NK cell activation and has been reported to impair human NK cell proliferation in vitro [398]. Conversely, NK cells can regulate neutrophil survival and function. NK cells have been shown to induce neutrophil apoptosis [399] and in mice infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Escherichia coli depletion of NK cells impaired neutrophil trafficking and activation [400]. However, NK cells can also recruit Gr-1⁺ cells [401] and inhibit apoptosis of neutrophils [402]. Constantini et al have suggested that NK cells can modulate neutrophil activation and survival both positively and negatively [403]. The regulation of NK cells by neutrophils, and vice versa, is likely to depend on the nature of the tissue insult and the surrounding microenvironment. Thus it appears that a signalling network exists between neutrophils and NK cells, and it is possible that in the tumour microenvironment TANs suppress the anti-tumour functions of NK cells and NK cells prolong TAN survival.

1.9.5 TAN-derived reactive oxygen species (ROS)

The previously reported tumouricidal activity of neutrophils has often been associated with the generation of oxygen free radicals [366, 404]. Neutrophils generate various oxidants as part of the 'respiratory burst' [170, 405], which is defined as the increased consumption of oxygen to create ROS. Neutrophils also express iNOS [406, 407] and are the primary producers of iNOS in murine fibrosarcomas [408]. Although neutrophil ROS have been reported to have cytotoxic effects, they have also been shown to initiate DNA damage and increase mutations [384, 408]. These genetic mutations can instigate tumour initiation and enable metastatic progression [409, 410]. Spontaneous mutations were seen to occur more frequently in tumours with higher numbers of infiltrating TANs [408] and TAN numbers correlated with ROS activity and mutation frequency [384, 408].

1.9.6 TAN phenotypes

Recently it has been suggested that the same pro-tumour/anti-tumour phenotypes seen in TAMs (M1/M2) and T cells (Th1/Th2) may also occur in TANs [411]. Fridlender and colleagues found that TGF β stimulates neutrophils towards a pro-tumoural (N2) phenotype. Inhibition of TGF β in two different murine cancer models generated a population of TANs that significantly suppressed tumour growth [412]. TANs isolated from mice treated with a TGF β inhibitor were hyper-segmented, expressed higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and were more cytotoxic towards tumour cells, indicating a pro-inflammatory, M1-like phenotype. TANs isolated from untreated mice expressed higher levels of arginase, VEGF and MMP-9 mRNA [412], factors associated with the M2-like trophic phenotype in macrophages [154].

Conversely, IFN β inhibits neutrophil angiogenic activity in tumours [141]. In the absence of IFN β , melanomas and fibrosarcomas displayed increased numbers of TANs, better developed blood vessels and faster growth. These data indicate that some factors may promote a pro-inflammatory or N1 phenotype in TANs, while others induce an anti-inflammatory, trophic or N2 phenotype. However, it remains to be clarified whether N1 TANs are merely highly activated neutrophils or if this N1/N2 polarisation does in fact represent distinct neutrophil phenotypes. Further investigation of neutrophil phenotypes in tumours is thus warranted. A more comprehensive analysis of the factors within the tumour microenvironment that influence neutrophil phenotypes may yield further insight into how tumours manipulate TANs, and whether these processes can be targeted for cancer treatment.

1.10 Macrophages and neutrophils in metastasis

Different tumours display characteristic patterns of secondary organ metastasis. In advanced breast cancer, tumours metastasise to bone, lung, lymph node, brain and liver [57, 70]. Metastasis occurs through a series of sequential steps [52] that can be rate limiting [54]. Studies analysing myeloid cells in metastasis often use experimental models of metastasis, where the tumour cells are injected directly into the circulation, but these models do not encompass all the steps of metastasis and may not accurately reflect the roles of myeloid cells in spontaneous metastasis. Therefore, meaningful analysis of macrophages and neutrophils in the context of all the stages of metastasis is still lacking.

1.10.1 Myeloid cells in metastasis

Inflammation is important at the primary tumour site [87], as well as systemically [191] and at the metastatic site [88]. The pre-metastatic niche theory states that immune cells are recruited to metastatic sites where they create a permissive growth environment prior to the arrival of tumour cells [413]. In support of this, BMDCs and Gr-1⁺ cells have been shown to be recruited to metastatic sites prior to the arrival of tumour cells [3, 92]. Furthermore these BMDC clusters occur only in organs typical of the characteristic metastatic pattern displayed by the particular tumour [8, 92]. Once at the pre-metastatic site, BMDCs secrete factors that facilitate tumour cell survival and growth [8, 92]. Increases in Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells have been reported in the spleen [215], bone marrow [216] and circulation [217] of tumour-bearing mice, and their human counterparts are increased in cancer patients [214].

Increased TAM numbers in primary tumours correlate with establishment of metastases [235], and associate with tumour progression to a metastatic phenotype [414]. High tumour expression of macrophage chemoattractants and growth factors, such as CCL2 and CSF-1, has also been correlated with advanced disease [330]. In ovarian tumours, inflammation was shown to enhance metastasis and TAMs were implicated as the main effector cell in this process [415].

Tumours that secrete IL-8 have an increased metastatic potential, and it has been proposed that this is due in part to their ability to attract TANs [416]. TANs have also been implicated in the progression to metastasis in murine fibrosarcoma and melanoma, where it was proposed that increased TAN numbers support acquisition of a metastatic phenotype in benign tumours [417, 418].

1.10.2 TAMs and TANs co-migrate with tumour cells

It has been suggested that tumour cells and TAMs co-migrate during breast tumour cell invasion into the circulation [419]. TAM-derived EGF promotes directional motility and invasion of tumour cells, and this is dependent on reciprocal tumour cell CSF-1 production. CSF-1 expression by tumour cells promotes EGF production by macrophages and a paracrine loop is formed. This loop can be blocked by inhibition of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) or CSF-1R, leading to inhibition of macrophage-tumour co-migration and invasion [196]. Furthermore, blocking either CSF-1 or EGF, or depleting macrophages, disrupts invasion of tumour cells towards other chemotactic factors such as CXCL12 [420].

Using multiphoton imaging, Wyckoff et al. showed that motile tumour cells intravasated only when adjacent to perivascular TAMs. [261]. Thus, it appears that TAMs provide chemotactic signals that recruit tumour cells to blood vessels and subsequently allow tumour cells to escape into the vasculature [261]. It has even been hypothesised that tumour cells 'piggy-back' onto TAMs whilst entering the circulation [421]. It is also highly possible that tumour cells can commandeer monocytes to help them migrate through the circulation to metastatic sites.

A similar suggestion has been made for neutrophils. Melanoma cell arrest and extravasation from the circulation was increased in the presence of neutrophils [422]. Increased numbers of blood neutrophils have been reported in a model of fibrosarcoma [418]. When these 'granulocytosis-positive' fibrosarcoma-bearing mice were injected intravenously with melanoma cells, the latter were retained for longer in the lung, and the number of lung colonies was increased [418].

For tumour cells to escape into the vasculature, they must detach from the primary tumour site. This process involves downregulation of adhesion molecules that are also required for transendothelial migration. For example, MDA-MB-231 breast tumour cells express high levels of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) but do not express CD11a, CD11b or CD18 that are required for transendothelial migration [423]. These proteins and integrins are upregulated on TANs [7, 140, 423]. Thus it is possible that, at both the primary and metastatic sites, tumour cells attract and attach to neutrophils, which then promote tumour cell migration through the basement membrane via expression of adhesion receptors and proteases lacking in tumour cells.

1.10.3 Macrophages in metastasis

In an experimental model of 4T1 tumour metastasis, depletion of CD11b⁺ macrophages, but not resident lung CD11c⁺ macrophages, inhibited metastatic growth in lungs [335]. Thus, it was suggested by the authors that a distinct pro-tumour macrophage population is recruited from the blood to the lungs, where it associates with tumour cells and promotes tumour cell growth [335].

A number of studies have implicated CSF-1 in breast cancer metastasis [4, 136, 198, 230, 286], and CSF-1 is considered a potential target in the treatment of advanced disease. As previously mentioned, using MMTV-PyMT mice crossed with CSF-1 null mutant mice (*Csf1^{op}/Csf1^{op}*), Lin et al. showed that the absence of CSF-1 activity inhibited TAM accumulation in the primary tumour and almost completely abrogated metastasis [199]. Restoration of CSF-1 activity increased TAM numbers in primary tumours and restored metastasis to the wild-type level. Furthermore, elevated expression of CSF-1 in wild-type mice resulted in accelerated tumour progression [199]. However, in a recent study by Denardo et al. using the same MMTV-PyMT model, but in mice with intact CSF-1 activity, treatment with CSF-1R signalling antagonists alone had minimal effects on primary tumour growth or lung metastasis. Only in combination with chemotherapy did anti-CSF-1R treatment reduce metastasis are still unclear.

1.10.4 Neutrophils in metastasis

Neutrophils can increase the invasive and metastatic capacity of tumour cells [424]. Administration of G-CSF in murine models of fibrosarcoma and breast cancer increased neutrophil recruitment and accumulation in primary tumours and blood, which increased metastatic capacity [8, 200]. Neutrophils exposed to tumour conditioned medium increased metastasis of mammary adenocarcinomas, whereas 'normal' neutrophils did not [424]. In two different studies using breast cancer models, it was found that neutrophils were the predominant population in the pre-metastatic lung and depletion of neutrophils reduced metastasis to the lung [3, 8]. Furthermore, it was shown that macrophage numbers decrease in these pre-metastatic lungs when compared to normal lungs [3].

However, as for macrophages, the role of neutrophils at metastatic sites remains controversial. Neutrophils have been implicated in the clearance of experimental metastasis [425]. Depletion of neutrophils via anti-G-CSF antibody treatment in the 4T1 breast cancer model resulted in a marked reduction of lung metastasis [8], although recent work in the same model, by another group, showed that depletion of neutrophils via anti-Ly6G antibody treatment resulted in a significant increase in the number of metastatic events [201]. The authors suggested that during cancer progression, a unique population of cytotoxic neutrophils, called tumour entrained neutrophils (TENs), that slow metastatic growth is generated [201]. However, TENs were not sufficient to abrogate metastatic growth completely and lung nodules eventually grew.

1.10.5 Macrophages and neutrophils may be functionally linked in promoting metastasis

To summarise the published data, macrophage deficiency did not change primary tumour growth but did reduce metastasis in the MMTV-PyMT model [199]. In contrast to this, recent work in the same model showed that anti-CSF-1 therapy alone had minimal effects on tumour progression, and only when used in an adjuvant setting was a significant effect seen on metastasis [136]. Conversely, in the 4T1 mammary tumour model, depletion of neutrophils had a pronounced effect on metastasis [8] but, in another study using this model, inhibition of neutrophils increased metastasis [201].

In a murine model of cervical cancer on a CCR2-deficient background, TAM numbers were reduced. However, a reciprocal increase in TAN numbers was observed and these TANs could promote tumour growth in the absence of TAMs [426]. Thus it appears that targeting macrophages or neutrophils alone may have a minimal effect as a cancer treatment, and for successful treatment of advanced disease it may be necessary to target both of these immune populations. Furthermore, it needs to be determined which cell types are important in different breast cancer subtypes in order to tailor therapies appropriately.

1.11 The 4T1 murine mammary tumour model

The 4T1 mouse mammary tumour model comprises a series of isogenic tumour cell lines of varying metastatic potential. When injected into the mammary gland of BALB/c mice, these tumours mimic the course of human breast cancer, with primary tumour formation from a small inoculum, invasion of cells through the stroma into the circulation and colonisation at distant organs, including lung and bone [427], depending on the subline used. This is a spontaneous metastasis model and thus overcomes the limitations of experimental models of metastasis, where tumour cells are injected directly into the bloodstream and do not encompass all the steps required for physiological metastasis. It is also a syngeneic model and hence does not involve transplantation of human tumour cells into mice. Human cells are not well adapted to grow in a murine environment and hence immunocompromised mice are needed for tumour growth to occur. Given that this project is investigating the role of myeloid cells in breast tumour metastasis, it is important that the immune system is intact, and that the tumours and myeloid cells are of the same species.

The 4T1.2 tumour cell line was isolated by our research group at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre from the 4T1 model that was developed by Aslakson and Miller [428]. The 4T1 tumour cell line is a thioguanine-resistant variant selected from the 410.4 cell line [428]. Line 410.4 was isolated from 4.10LM, which was derived from a spontaneous lung nodule growing in a BALB/c/cfC3H mouse carrying the mouse mammary tumour virus, MMTV [429]. Single cell cloning of 4T1 generated the 4T1.2 cell line that is spontaneously metastatic to lung, lymph node, liver and, importantly,

bone [427]. This model is unique amongst spontaneous mammary tumour models as it spontaneously metastasises to bone, and therefore most closely resembles the pattern of metastatic spread seen in human breast cancer.

The 67NR and 66cl4 murine mammary tumour cell lines are isogenic variants of the 4T1 and 4T1.2 cell lines. Similar to the 4.10LM cell line, the 66 and 67 tumour cell lines were derived from the same, spontaneously arising, mammary tumour in a BALB/c/cfC3H mouse carrying the mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV) [430]. The 66cl4 tumour cell line variant was isolated from a 66 clone after mutagenesis with ethyl methanosulfate [431]. This 66cl4 cell line is weakly metastatic to lung and lymph nodes [427, 428]. The 67NR tumour cell line was obtained by transfecting the 67 cell line with a geneticin-resistance gene [428] and is not able to leave the primary tumour site, making it non-metastatic [428]. Mice bearing the 4T1.2 cell line show metastasis to various organs but most extensively to the lungs, femur and spine, mice bearing the 66cl4 cell line display moderate metastasis to the lung, while mice bearing the 67NR cell line do not display metastasis to any organs (Figure 1.4) [432]. The isogenic tumour cell lines and their metastatic potential are summarised in Figure 1.5.

1.12 Conclusions and objectives of thesis

Metastasis is the primary cause of breast cancer-associated deaths. Currently we have limited resources to treat advanced disease, in part, due to our poor understanding of the cellular and genetic regulators of breast cancer metastasis. At present, tumour size, grade, hormone and HER2 receptor expression, as well as lymph node involvement, are used as markers of disease status. However, these are inadequate in predicting the likelihood of metastasis. Once metastasis has occurred, treatment options can delay disease progression but are not curative. A newly emerging area of research focuses on the link between inflammation and cancer. A more comprehensive understanding of inflammatory pathways, cells and genes involved in breast cancer metastasis would greatly increase our chances of improving treatment of advanced breast cancer.

Both macrophages and neutrophils have been implicated in breast cancer metastasis. Some studies indicate that inhibition of CSF-1, and thus macrophages, inhibits metastasis, whereas other studies have shown that inhibition of CSF-1 may only be

beneficial in an adjuvant setting. Inhibition of neutrophils has also been reported to inhibit breast cancer metastasis, yet other studies suggest that their removal results in increased metastasis.

Thus, more research is required to elucidate how macrophages and neutrophils promote metastasis and whether targeting these processes can prove useful in the treatment of advanced cancer. It also needs to be determined which breast cancer subtypes are likely to respond to anti-neutrophil or anti-macrophage therapy. The functional relationship between macrophages and neutrophils needs to be further explored as it may be necessary to target both populations to successfully treat metastatic disease. Analysis of changes in these myeloid cell populations, both in primary tumours and at metastatic sites, can lead to more tailored therapies for patients with advanced breast cancer.

Hypotheses

- 1. TAMs and/or TANs are associated with metastasis, and may directly influence the metastatic capacity of tumour cells.
- 2. Highly metastatic tumours increase myeloid cell mobilisation, and this in turn promotes tumour metastasis.
- 3. Depletion of monocytes/TAMs will inhibit metastasis.

Project aims

- To analyse TAMs and TANs from highly metastatic tumours compared to nonmetastatic tumours, and to determine if TAMs and/or TANs from highly metastatic tumours can influence the metastatic capacity of weakly metastatic tumours.
- 2. To analyse monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation by breast tumours of varying metastatic capacity.
- To determine how depletion of monocytes and macrophages (TAMs) affects metastasis in the 4T1.2 model, and also to determine how blocking the CSF-1R affects monocyte/TAM populations and metastasis.



Figure 1.1: M1-like and M2-like macrophage phenotypes.

Macrophages display a continuum of phenotypes of which M1 and M2 are the extremes. M1-like macrophages arise from monocytes encountering pro-inflammatory signals, such as GM-CSF and IFNγ, or bacterial products such as LPS. These signals induce them to mature into macrophages that are pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic, with a robust antigen presenting capacity. M2 macrophages arise from monocytes encountering anti-inflammatory signals, such as CSF-1, IL-4, and IL-10. This stimulates them to mature into M2 macrophages that are trophic, anti-inflammatory, and have reduced cytotoxicity and antigen presenting capacities.



Figure 1.2: TAM functions in tumour progression.

TAMs are involved in every stage of tumour progression. TAMs secrete growth factors, such as EGF, that stimulate tumour survival and growth, and also direct motility of tumour cells. TAMs secrete CSF-1 that promotes TAM survival and proliferation, and further recruits monocytes into the tumour microenvironment. TAMs also suppress the immune system in the tumour microenvironment via secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10. Finally, by secreting angiogenic factors and proteases, TAMs promote formation of new blood vessels, matrix remodelling, and the invasion of tumour cells through the ECM and into the vasculature.



Figure 1.3: A model for murine monocyte differentiation

Monocytes arise in the bone marrow as $Ly6C^{high}$ immature cells. They are released into the bloodstream (1) where they are thought to mature and downregulate their expression of Ly6C, becoming $Ly6C^{low}$ cells (2). However, it is also possible that $Ly6C^{high}$ cells may convert into $Ly6C^{low}$ cells in the bone marrow (3), or that $Ly6C^{high}$ and $Ly6C^{low}$ cells arise independently of each other from precursors in the bone marrow (1 and 4). $Ly6C^{high}$ monocytes may be able to re-enter the bone marrow from the circulation (5). $Ly6C^{high}$ typically give rise to inflammatory macrophages in tissues (6), but may also acquire a trophic phenotype during certain injuries (7). $Ly6C^{low}$ monocytes give rise to trophic or resident macrophages (8), although a fraction of the $Ly6C^{low}$ subpopulation patrols blood vessel walls and can give rise to inflammatory macrophages during infection (9).





Tumour cells of varying metastatic capacity were inoculated into the fourth mammary glands of mice. Mice were culled at endpoint and tissues were excised for genomic DNA extraction. A qPCR assay for tumour burden was used to assess the spontaneous metastatic distribution for each tumour cell line. This figure was re-printed from Eckhardt BL, et al. (2005) *Mol Cancer Res. 3*(1):1-13 [432].



B Kinetics of 4T1, 66cl4 and 67NR tumour progression

Timepoint	4T1	66cl4	67NR
Day 15*	Tumour cells found	No tumour cells	No tumour cells
	in lung		
Day 19	Tumour cells found	No tumour cells	No tumour cells
	in lung		
Day 22	Tumour cells	No tumour cells	No tumour cells
	recovered from		
	vertebrae		

*First day analysed

Figure 1.5: The 4T1 mammary tumour model.

A) The 4T1 mouse mammary tumour model comprises a series of isogenic tumour cell lines of varying metastatic potential. The 67NR cell line is non-metastatic, the 66cl4 tumour cell line is metastatic to lung and lymph nodes, and the 4T1.2 cell line is metastatic to lung, lymph nodes, liver and bone. B) Analysis of 4T1 (the parent line of 4T1.2) tumour cell dissemination from the mammary fat pad shows 4T1 tumour cells in the lung at day 15 post tumour cell inoculation (first day assessed) and by day 22 4T1 tumour cells could be recovered from the vertebrae. No tumour cells could be recovered from the 66cl4 or 67NR tumour cell lines. It is unclear at this stage how early 4T1.2 tumour cells can be recovered from lung or bone. This table was adapted from Lelekakis, M., et al. (1999) *Clin Exp Metastasis* 17(2): 163-70 [427]

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Reagents

The following general laboratory reagents were obtained from commercial sources as follows: acetic acid (HOAc), ammonium acetate (NH4OAc), ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl), calcium chloride (CaCl₂), absolute ethanol (EtOH), glycine, absolute methanol (MetOH), sodium chloride (NaCl), sodium dodecylsulphate (SDS), tris(hyroxymethyl)aminomethane (Tris) from MERCK, NJ, USA. Agarose, dithiothrietol (DTT), non-reducing sample buffer, kaleidoscope pre-stained standards, polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane, and Tween-20 from Bio-Rad Laboratories, Richmond, CA, USA. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) and proteinase K from Roche, Basel, Switzerland. Ammonium persulphate (AP), Bovine gelatin B (225 BLOOM), brilliant blue R250, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), hydrochloric acid (HCl), sodium azide (NaAz), trypan blue, 10% neutral buffered formalin (NBF) and Triton X 100 from Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA. India ink from Speedball, NC, USA, isoflurane from Lyppards, Worcestershire, UK and phenol/chloroform pH 6.7/8.0 from Astral Scientific, ON, USA. Potassium hydrogen carbonate (KHCO₃) and tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Ajax Finechem) MA, USA. Alpha-modified minimum essential medium (aMEM), Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) and penicillin-streptomycin from GIBCO (Invitrogen), CA, USA. Foetal calf serum (FCS) from CSL Biosciences, Parkville, AUS, heparin sodium (heparin) from DBL[®] RMH Pharmacy, Parkville, AUS, collagenase I (CLS-1) from Worthington Biochemical Corporation NJ, USA and 70 µm and 100 µm cell strainers from BD Falcon, NJ, USA. Trypsin, random primers, deoxyribonucleotides (dNTPs), first strand buffer and SuperScript III (SSIIIRT) from Invitrogen, CA, USA. TaqMan® Fast Universal PCR Master Mix from Applied Biosystems, CA, USA, 40% Acrylamide 37.5:1 from Amersco, OH, USA and ECL Western blotting detection reagents from Amersham/GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK. Super RX Fuji medical X-Ray film 100 NIF 18 x 24 was from Fuji, Tokyo, Japan and milk powder from Abbott (Ensure®) IL, USA.

2.2 Antibodies

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) against the following antigens used for flow cytometric analysis and cell sorting were obtained from commercial sources as follows: CD11b (Mac-1 α-chain; M1/70-APC), Ly6C (AL-21-FITC), Ly6G (1A8-PE), Ly6G (1A8-PE-Cy7), B220 (CD45R; RA3-6B2-PerCP), CD4 (RM-45-APC), CD8a (53-6.7-PE) and the secondary antibody streptavidin PerCP (Strep-PerCP) from BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA, USA. CD115 (c-Fms: AFS-98 biotin) from eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA, and F4/80 (CI; A3-1-biotin) from Abd Serotec, Kidlington, UK. Isotype controls IgG2bk (A95-1-PC), IgG2aκ (RM4-5-APC), IgMκ (R4-22-FITC), IgG2aκ (R3595-PE), IgG2aκ (RA3-6B2-PerCP) from BD Pharmingen and IgG2b (CI; A3-1-biotin) from Abd Serotec. Polyclonal goat anti-MMP-9 (AF909; R and D Systems, MN, USA) and HRP-conjugated rabbit anti-goat secondary antibody (sc-2922, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. CA, USA) were used for Western Blotting.

2.3 Reagents that were gifts

The following hybridomas (IgG2a) were gifts: neutralising anti-mouse (CSF-1R) c-Fms (AFS-98) from Dr. S-I Nishikawa, Kobe Japan. Anti-GM-CSF (22E9.11) and anti-β-galactosidase isotype control (GL117.41) from Dr. J Abrams DNAX, Palo Alto, CA, USA. Clodronate liposomes and phosphate buffered saline (PBS) liposomes were a gift from Dr. Jacquie Harper (Malaghan Institute of Medical Research, Wellington, NZ). The CSF-1R kinase inhibitor 5-(3-methoxy-4-((4 methoxybenzyl) oxy) benzyl) pyrimidine-2,4-diamine (GW2580) was a gift from Dr. Ian Holmes (Cancer Therapeutics CRC, CTx, AUS).

2.4 Primers and Probes

The following primers and probes were obtained from Geneworks (SA, AUS).

Table 2.1: Primer and probe sequences used for qPCR analysis of metastation	С
burden	

Primer/Probe	Sequence
mCherry forward	5'GCGCCCGGTTCTTTTG3'
primer	
mCherry reverse	5'CCTCGTCCTGCAGTTCATTCA3'
primer	
vimentin forward	5'AGCTGCTAACTACCAGGACACTATTG3'
primer	
vimentin reverse	5'CGAAGGTGACGAGCCATCTC3'
primer	
mCherry probe	6FAMCAGCTGCCCGGCGCCTACATAMRA
vimentin probe	VICCCTTCATGTTTTGGATCTCATCCTGCAGGTAMRA

The following pre-developed TaqMan probe/primer combinations against mouse genes were obtained from Applied Biosystems, CA, USA.

Table 2.2: TaqMan probes/primers used for TAM gene expression analysis

Gene	Catalogue number
HPRT	Mm446968_m1
IL-12A (IL-12 alpha)	Mm00434165_m1
IL-12B (IL-12 beta)	Mm00434174_m1
IL-10	Mm00439615_g1
IL-23A (IL-23 alpha)	Mm_00518984_m1

2.5 Cell lines

The 66cl4 and 67NR murine tumour lines were derived from a spontaneously arising tumour in a BALB/cfC3H mouse carrying the mouse mammary tumour virus, and the 4T1 tumour cell line from a metastatic lung nodule that occurred in the same mouse [428, 430]. The 67NR, 66cl4 and 4T1 cell lines were a kind gift from Dr. F. Miller (Michigan Cancer Foundation, Detroit, MI, USA) and the 4T1.2 cell line was selected from the 4T1 line [427]. 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR cells were maintained in minimal essential medium (α MEM) containing penicillin/streptomycin at 100 U ml⁻¹ and 5% foetal calf serum. For experiments where qPCR was used to analyse metastatic burden, the above tumour cell lines expressing mCherry fluorescent protein were used. The E0771 cell line is a C57BL/6 mouse mammary tumour model. This cell line was also developed by our research group at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, and is spontaneously metastatic to lung.

2.6 Mammary tumour model

Female BALB/c mice (6-8 weeks old, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute, Melbourne) were anesthetised and injected into the fourth mammary gland with $2 \times 10^5 4T1.2$, 66cl4 or 67NR cells in 10 µL PBS. Tumour volume [(length x width²)/2] was measured using electronic callipers. Peripheral blood was harvested via the tail into heparin. Primary tumours, spleens, spines and lungs were excised and primary tumours, spleens and lungs were weighed. Whole femurs were excised and flushed with PBS. All procedures involving mice were conducted in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council guidelines and approved by the University of Melbourne Animal Ethics Committee. Tumour growth and organ weight data were plotted using GraphPad Prism[®] software. For some experiments, metastatic lung nodules were scored as described in Section 2.11 and in others, total tumour burden in lung or spine was measured using a qPCR technique as described in Section 2.12 and 2.12.

2.7 Flow cytometric analysis

Mice were injected with 4T1.2, 66cl4 or 67NR tumour cells or saline alone as a control (see Section 2.5 and 2.6). Peripheral blood and organs were removed as described in Section 2.6. Lungs and primary tumours were digested with 1.5 mg/ml collagenase I in DMEM (Worthington Biochemical Corporation NJ, USA). Disaggregated tumour and lung samples were then filtered through 70 µM followed by 100 µM nylon cell strainers. Spleens were disaggregated using metal mesh cell strainers and collected into PBS. Red blood cells were lysed in primary tumour, peripheral blood, femur, spleen and lung samples by incubation in red blood cell lysis buffer (155 mM NH₄Cl, 10 mM KHCO₃ and 0.1 mM EDTA dissolved in MilliQ H₂O) for 5 min at 37°C. Cells were washed twice in PBS and viable cells were counted by trypan blue exclusion. Cells (5 x 10^{5}) were incubated with 25% normal mouse serum at 4°C for 20 min, primary Abs (Ly6C-FITC 1:200 dilution, Ly6G-PE 1:200 dilution, CD11b/Mac-1-APC 1:1,000 dilution, and c-Fms-biotin 1:50 dilution for blood, lung, bone marrow and spleen samples, or F4/80biotin (1:50 dilution) for tumour samples, were added. For analysis of B and T cells in primary tumours CD4-APC (1:1,000 dilution), CD8a-PE (1:200 dilution) and B220-PerCP (1:200 dilution) were added; appropriate isotype controls were used for all Abs. Primary Abs were incubated at 4°C for 20 min. Samples were then washed twice in PBS and samples containing biotin antibody were incubated with secondary Ab (Strep-PerCP, 1:200 dilution) for 20 mins at 4°C. For flow cytometric analysis, a typical forward and side-scatter gate was set to exclude dead cells and aggregates; a total of 10^4 events in the gate were collected using the Beckman Coulter CyAn ADP Flow Cytometer (Beckman Coulter, CA, USA). Monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils were analysed using Flowjo software (TreeStar, OR, USA).

B cells were defined as B220⁺ cells and T cells as CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ cells. TAMs in primary tumours were characterised as CD11b⁺F4/80⁺ (Figure 2.1A) [8, 223]. For analysis of monocyte/TAM subpopulations in primary tumours, blood, lung and spleen over the course of disease progression, monocytes/macrophages/TAMs were defined as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high} or CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{low} (Figure 2.1B) [303]. Monocytes in the bone marrow were defined as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high} (Figure 2.1C). All monocyte/macrophage/TAM subpopulations were confirmed to be CD115⁺ in blood, lung and spleen and F4/80⁺ in primary tumours. Neutrophils/TANs in primary tumours,

blood, lung, spleen and bone marrow were defined as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{high} (Figure 2.1D) [8, 223]. Data were plotted using either GraphPad Prism[®] or Microsoft Excel[®] software.

2.8 Cell sorting of TAMs and TANs from primary tumours

Mice were injected with 4T1.2 or 67NR mCherry-expressing tumour cells (see Section 2.5 and 2.6). Primary tumours were excised at day 25 post-tumour cell inoculation (one tumour of each variant was used for isolation of TAMs and TANs). Tumours were digested with 1.5 mg/ml collagenase I in DMEM (Worthington Biochemical Corporation NJ, USA). Disaggregated tumour samples were then filtered through 70 µM followed by 100 µM nylon cell strainers. Red blood cells were lysed by incubation in red blood cell lysis buffer (as for Section 2.7) for 5 min at 37°C. Total cells per tumour were incubated in 1 ml of 25% normal mouse serum at 4°C for 20 min, 500 µL of primary Abs were then added (CD11b-APC 1:1000 dilution, Ly6G-PE-Cy7 1:200 dilution, and Ly6C-FITC 1:200 dilution) and incubated at 4°C for 20 min. Samples were washed twice in PBS and re-suspended in 4 ml 1% BSA/PBS. Prior to cell sorting, samples were filtered through a 70 µM nylon cell strainer to remove aggregates. TAMs were characterised as mCherry^{neg}CD11b⁺Ly6G^{high} [8, 223]. TAMs and TANs were collected into DMEM containing 5% FCS.

2.9 RT-qPCR analysis of gene expression

TAMs and TANs were isolated from primary tumours (see Section 2.8). RNA was then extracted using the Ambion *mir*VANATM miRNA Isolation Kit (Ambion[®] Life technologies - Invitrogen, CA, USA) as per manufacturer's instructions. RNA concentration was analysed by NanoDrop® (ND-1000 spectrophotometer, BioLab,GA, USA) and two µg of total RNA, in a 20 µL reaction mix containing 100 ng random primer, 10 mM deoxyribonucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs), 5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and 1X first strand buffer, was reverse transcribed using 10 units SuperScript III reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen, CA, USA). The reaction mix was incubated for 5 min at 25°C, 60 min at 50°C, 15 min at 55°C, and finally for 15 min at 70°C. RT-qPCR was carried out using an ABI PRISM 7900HT sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA) and pre-developed TaqMan probe/primer combinations for mouse IL-12A, IL-

12B, IL-23A, and IL-10 (see Section 2.4) and 40 ng of cDNA per reaction. All samples were assayed in triplicate and threshold cycle numbers calculated relative to the housekeeping gene, HPRT. Data were plotted using GraphPad Prism[®] software.

2.10 Co-injection of TAMs and TANs

TAMs and TANs were isolated from primary tumours (see Section 2.8). TAMs or TANs were then co-injected with 66cl4 tumour cells into the fourth mammary gland at a ratio of 1 TAM/TAN: 10 tumour cells $(1.5 \times 10^5 \text{ 66cl4 tumour cells} + 1.5 \times 10^4 \text{ TAMs}$ or TANs per mouse). Two further 'top-up' injections of $1.5 \times 10^4 \text{ TAMs}$ or TANs were given into the fourth mammary gland at 1 and 2 weeks post 66cl4 tumour cell inoculation. Mice injected with 66cl4 tumour cells alone served as a control and received PBS injections 1 and 2 weeks post-tumour cell inoculation (see Figure 3.8). Tumour growth [volume = (length x width²)/2] was measured using electronic callipers. Data were plotted using GraphPad Prism[®] software.

2.11 India ink measurement of lung tumour nodules

4T1.2 and 67NR tumour-bearing mice (see Section 2.5 and 2.6) were killed and the trachea exposed. A cannula was inserted into the trachea and 2 ml of 15% India ink (Speedball, NC, USA) in PBS was injected into the lungs. The trachea was then clamped and held for 2 minutes. India ink-stained lungs were excised, washed in PBS, and fixed overnight in 10% neutral buffered formalin. To count the number of metastatic tumour nodules, lungs were rinsed in H₂O and kept wet for scoring. The five lobes of the lung were separated and visualised under a dissection microscope. Tumour nodules could be seen as raised white areas on a black background of normal tissue (Figure 2.2). Data were plotted using Microsoft[®] Excel software.

2.12 Phenol/chloroform DNA extraction

Disaggregated or frozen homogenised lungs, and frozen homogenised spines were digested overnight in 500 μ L digestion buffer [100 mM sodium chloride NaCl, 10 mM Tris-hydrochloride (TrisHCL; Tris in distilled H₂O, pH adjusted to 8.0 with hydrochloric acid; HCL), 25 mM EDTA and 5% SDS in distilled H₂O]. Proteinase K

(Roche, Basel, Switzerland) was added on the day of tissue digestion at 0.1 mg/ml. After overnight digestion, 500 μ L of phenol/chloroform, pH 6.7/8.0 (Astral Scientific, ON, USA), was then added directly to digested lungs and DNA extracted by biofuge centrifugation at maximum speed for 5 min. 400 μ L of the aqueous layer was removed into a fresh tube and 200 μ L of 5M ammonium acetate (NH₄OAc) was added, followed by 800 μ L 100% ethanol (EtOH). Samples were then centrifuged for 10 min at maximum speed and the supernatant removed and discarded. Samples were left to air dry for 10 min before re-suspension in 400 μ L 1:4 TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCL and 1mM EDTA in distilled H₂O). DNA samples were incubated overnight at 50°C.

2.13 qPCR tumour burden analysis

Lung and spine DNA was extracted using the phenol/chloroform method (see Section 2.12) and DNA concentration analysed by NanoDrop® (ND-1000 spectrophotometer, BioLab, GA, USA). Tumour burden for each individual tissue was measured by qPCR (StepOneTM System – Applied Biosystems, CA, USA) and Taqman chemistry. The cycle threshold (Ct) for vimentin (total mouse tissue) and mCherry (tumour cells only) was detected. Relative tumour burden was calculated by comparing the threshold cycle (Ct) values of vimentin and mCherry (Δ Ct), and using the following calculation: relative tumour burden = 10,000 x $1/2^{\Delta ct}$. Using this formula a tissue without any tumour cells scores zero, whereas a tissue composed entirely of tumour cells scores 10,000 [432]. Multiplex PCR reactions consisted of 10 ng of DNA, vimentin probe; 50 nmol/L, vimentin forward and reverse primers; 50 nmol/L. Data were plotted using GraphPad Prism[®] software.

2.14 RayBio[®] array analysis of serum factors in tumour-bearing mice

Serum was collected from mice bearing 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR tumours (see Sections 2.5 and 2.6) at day 15 post-tumour cell inoculation, or non-tumour-bearing (saline injected) control mice. A RayBio[®] Mouse Cytokine Antibody Array G Series 3 and 4 (RayBiotech, Inc., GA, USA) was then carried out according to manufacturer's instructions. Slides were visualised on an Agilent Microarray Scanner with SureScan

technology (G2505B; CA, USA) and spot fluorescence intensity quantified using TotalLab TL120 software (TotalLab, Newcastle, UK). Positive controls (biotinylated protein) were normalised to one membrane. Relative fluorescence intensity was calculated by subtracting the median background (BSA) spot signal from the median sample spot signal and normalising to the total mean intensity of the positive controls. Data was pooled (three mice per group) and fold differences were calculated between tumour-bearing mice compared to saline controls. Any ≥ 1.5 fold-increases or ≤ 0.65 fold decreases in signal intensity were considered significant as per manufacturer's instructions. Data were plotted using GraphPad Prism[®] software.

2.15 Gelatin zymography

Serum from mice bearing 4T1.2 tumours was collected at day 15 post-tumour cell inoculation (see Sections 2.5 and 2.6). Serum was concentrated and 50, 20 and 8 µL aliquots analysed. Proteins were separated on 8% SDS-PAGE containing 2.5 mg/ml bovine gelatin B (225 BLOOM, Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA) under non-reducing conditions. Gels were rinsed in MilliQ H₂O and then washed twice for 30 min and once for 1 h in re-naturation buffer (2.5% Triton X 100). Gels were rinsed again in H₂O and incubated in activation buffer (50 mM TrisHCL pH 7.5, 10 mM CaCl₂, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X 100 and 0.02% w/v sodium azide) overnight at 37°C. Gels were rinsed thoroughly in H₂O and stained with Coomassie blue (Brilliant Blue R250, 30 % methanol and 10% acetic acid, filtered) for 1 h. Gels were washed in de-stain solution (30% methanol and 10% acetic acid) until gelatinolytic bands were visible.

2.16 Western blotting

Serum from mice bearing 4T1.2 tumours was collected at day 15 post-tumour cell inoculation (see Sections 2.5 and 2.6). Serum was concentrated and 50, 20 and 8 μ L aliquots analysed. Protein was separated on an 8% SDS-PAGE gel, electrotransferred onto PVDF membrane and incubated in blocking buffer (0.05 % Tween and 5-10% milk powder in PBS) for 1 h. Gels were rinsed thoroughly, washed in wash buffer (0.025% Tween-20 and 0.1% BSA in PBS) and incubated overnight at 4 °C with goat anti-mouse MMP-9 antibody (1:400 dilution). Gels were washed three times for 15 min in wash buffer then incubated with HRP-conjugated rabbit anti-goat secondary

antibody (1:2000 dilution) for 40 min. Gels were washed again three times for 15 min in wash buffer, rinsed in H₂O and visualised using ECL Western blotting detection reagents on a CP1000 AGFA X-ray developer (AGFA GEVAERT, N.V., Germany).

2.17 Extraction of clodronate liposomes

Liposome encapsulated dichloromethylene-bisphosphonate (clodronate) and PBS (control) were prepared as previously described [433, 434] by Dr. Harper. The amount of clodronate liposomes required for injections was removed and centrifuged for 40 min at 3,500 rpm and 10°C. The clear clodronate solution, under the white band of clodronate liposomes, was removed using a syringe and discarded. The clodronate liposomes were re-suspended in sterile PBS and washed three times by centrifugation for 15 min at 3,500 rpm and 10°C per wash. In between each wash the upper solution was removed and discarded, and the liposome pellet re-suspended in sterile PBS. The final liposome pellet was re-suspended in sterile PBS and adjusted to the volume required for injections. The flask containing clodronate liposomes in suspension solution was purged with nitrogen gas after each opening to prevent oxidation of phophatidylcholine in the solution. The same protocol as above was used to extract PBS (control) liposomes.

2.18 Clodronate treatment

Mice were injected with 4T1.2 mCherry-expressing tumour cells (see Sections 2.5 and 2.6) and then injected intraperitoneally every 3 days, from day 5 to 21 post-tumour cell inoculation, with 50 μ L of clodronate liposomes. 50 μ L of PBS liposomes and PBS alone were injected as controls. Tumour volume [(length x width²)/2] was measured using electronic callipers. Peripheral blood was harvested via the tail vein at day 5 (24 h prior to the first treatment), day 16 (48 h after the third treatment) and end-point (day 28 after tumour cell inoculation). Primary tumours were resected and weighed at end-point. Blood and primary tumour monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils were analysed by flow cytometry (see Section 2.7). Lungs and spines were excised, snap frozen and homogenised for qPCR analysis of metastatic burden (see Sections 2.12 and 2.13). Data were plotted using GraphPad Prism[®] software.

2.19 Treatment with neutralising antibody

Mice were injected with 4T1.2 mCherry-expressing tumour cells (see Sections 2.5 and 2.6) and then injected intraperitoneally every 4 days, from day 7-21 post-tumour cell inoculation, with antibody, namely, 250 μ g of anti-CSF-1R (AFS-98), 150 μ g of anti-GM-CSF (22E9) or 250 μ g of anti- β -galactosidase isotype control (GL117.41). Tumour volume [(length x width²)/2] was measured using electronic callipers. Blood was harvested via the tail vein on day 6 (24 h prior to the first treatment), day 19 (24 h after the fourth treatment), and end-point (day 28 after tumour cell inoculation). Primary tumours, lungs and spines were resected at end-point. Primary tumours and lungs were weighed, disaggregated and monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils were analysed by flow cytometry (see Section 2.7). Spines were snap frozen and homogenised. Spine homogenate and the remainder of the disaggregated lungs were used for qPCR analysis of tumour burden (see Sections 2.12 and 2.13). Data were plotted using GraphPad Prism[®] software.

2.20 Treatment with CSF-1R inhibitor

The CSF-1R kinase inhibitor (GW2580) was used to inhibit CSF-1R signalling. Mice were injected with 4T1.2 mCherry-expressing tumour cells (see Sections 2.5 and 2.6) and then treated by oral gavage every 4 days from day 7-21 post-tumour cell inoculation with 160 mg/kg of GW2580 in 200 μ L hydroxypropylmethylcellulose suspension vehicle (HPMC-SV) or 200 μ L of vehicle as a control [435, 436]. Tumour growth, primary tumour and lung myeloid cell numbers, as well as metastasis to lung and spine were measured as outlined above in Section 2.19. Data were plotted using GraphPad Prism[®] software.

2.21 Statistical analysis

A non-paired student's t-test was used to determine statistical significance. Data involving multiple groups and/or time points were analysed using one or two-way ANOVA analysis of variance with Bonferroni correction. P \leq 0.05 was considered significant.



Figure 2.1: Flow cytometric analysis of monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils. Leukocytes were labelled with anti-CD11b, anti-Ly6C, anti-Ly6G and either anti-CD115 or anti-F4/80. A) The total TAM population in primary tumours was characterised as CD11b⁺F4/80⁺ cells. B) For analysis of monocyte/macrophage/TAM subpopulations (i) a typical side scatter vs. forward scatter gate was set for mononuclear cells from which (ii) FSC^{high}CD11b⁺ myeloid cells were selected and FSC^{low}CD11b⁺ were excluded . (iii) From this FSC^{high}CD11b⁺ population, Ly6C⁺Ly6G⁺ cells were excluded (thus removing any Ly6G⁺ contaminating neutrophils) and (iv) the remaining monocyte/macrophage/TAMs divided into the Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} subpopulations. A representative peripheral blood sample is depicted in panel B. C) For analysis of bone marrow samples, (i) mononuclear cells were excluded. (iii) Ly6C⁺Ly6G⁺ cells (neutrophils) were excluded, and (iii) monocytes characterised as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high} cells. D) Neutrophils/TANs were characterised as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{high} cells.


(non-metastatic)

(highly metastatic)

Figure 2.2: Lungs from 67NR and 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice stained with India ink.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. Lungs from tumour-bearing mice were excised every 5 days after tumour cell inoculation, stained with India ink, and lung nodules counted. This figure shows one representative sample of twelve, at day 28 after tumour cell inoculation, from A) 67NR tumour-bearing mice and B) 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice. Lung tumour nodules can be seen as raised white areas on a black background (B).

3 Chapter 3: Analysis of myeloid cells in metastatic mammary tumours

3.1 Introduction

Investigations into the role of myeloid cells in breast tumour metastasis have been hindered by confusion regarding the heterogeneity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) [206-208]. Murine MDSCs are characterised as Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells. However, Gr-1⁺ cells are often designated as neutrophils [218, 219] or monocytes [220]. In fact, Gr-1 does not distinguish between neutrophils and monocytes/macrophages and both neutrophil-like and macrophage-like cells have been characterised within tumour-associated MDSCs [218].

TAMs are known to promote breast tumour growth [230-232] and have also been implicated in metastasis [235, 414]. Macrophages are affected by the local environment and display a continuum of phenotypes of which the 'inflammatory' M1-like and 'antiinflammatory/trophic' M2-like macrophages are the extremes [437]. One way of characterising M1-like and M2-like macrophages is by the different cytokines that they produce [146, 154, 437]. TAMs are considered to have an M2-like phenotype [231, 438], although recent results indicate that TAM subpopulations can display M1- or M2like phenotypes [225]. However, differences between the Ly6C^{high} (immature, classical) and Ly6C^{low} (mature, non-classical) subpopulations of TAMs have not been investigated in breast tumours or other cancers.

Recent data link TANs to progression of malignancy in a number of cancers [362, 363, 383], but the link between TANs and breast cancer metastasis is still unclear. Coinjection of Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells isolated from tumours and spleens of 4T1 tumourbearing mice with 4T1 tumour cells increases metastasis to lung, whereas there is no increase in lung metastasis following injection of 4T1 tumour cells with Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells from spleens of non-tumour-bearing mice [185]. Thus, it is possible that TAMs and/or TANs can influence the metastatic potential of tumours. Therefore the studies discussed in this chapter investigated changes in TAM subpopulations and TANs in mice bearing tumours or varying metastatic capacity and how these changes related to metastasis.

In this chapter it is shown that the Ly6C^{low} TAM subpopulation is predominant in primary tumours and increases in number with increasing metastatic capacity. TANs are the main immune cell type found in highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours, and are highly increased in number compared to the other tumour variants. These increases in TAMs and TANs occur during the early phases of metastasis. Preliminary data indicate that gene expression may differ in Ly6C^{high} TAMs compared to Ly6C^{low} TAMs. Results from a pilot study indicating that TAMs and TANs isolated from highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours are able to promote the growth of weakly metastatic 66cl4 primary tumours are also presented.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 TAM and TAN numbers increase in highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours

The majority of the literature on immune cells in breast tumour metastasis focuses on macrophages [4, 230, 232, 233, 340] and lymphocytes [341, 439-442]. However, emerging evidence implicates neutrophils in tumour development. Given this, and the evidence from a recent study showing that increased TAM numbers and decreased lymphocyte numbers in breast tumours associated with poor prognosis [136], TAM, TAN and lymphocyte numbers were analysed in end-stage primary tumours of varying metastatic capacity. TAMs were characterised as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}F4/80⁺ or, in order to analyse TAM subpopulations, as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high} or CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{low} cells [303]. TANs were characterised as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{high} cells [8, 223]. This approach allowed for a more specific analysis of TAMs and TANs.

TANs were the main immune cell type found in late stage highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours (Figure 3.1A, P \leq 0.01 TANs vs. TAMs and CD4 T cells and P \leq 0.001 TANs vs. CD8 T cells and B cells). In weakly metastatic 66cl4 primary tumours, TAMs were increased compared to TANs, CD8 T and B cells, but not CD4 T cells (Figure 3.1B, P \leq 0.05 TAMs vs. TANs, CD8 T cells and B cells). In non-metastatic 67NR primary tumours, CD4 T cells were increased compared to TANs, CD8 T cells and B cells). In section 2.1C, P \leq 0.05, P \leq 0.01 and P \leq 0.05, respectively), but not TAMs.

The same data were used to compare TAM, TAN and lymphocyte numbers between the tumour variants. TAM numbers were increased in 4T1.2 compared to 67NR tumours (Figure 3.2A, P \leq 0.05) with a trend towards increased numbers in 66cl4 tumours also observed (Figure 3.2A). TAN numbers were increased markedly in 4T1.2 compared to 66cl4 and 67NR tumours (Figure 3.2B, P \leq 0.001). CD4 T cells showed similar numbers between the metastatic tumour variants (Figure 3.2C). CD8 T cell and B cell numbers were also increased in tumours with greater metastatic capacity (Figures 3.2D and 3.2E, P \leq 0.05 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4 and P \leq 0.01 4T1.2 vs. 67NR), although their numbers were relatively low (see Figure 3.1).

3.2.2 Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM/monocyte numbers are differentially increased in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice

Given that little is known about Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM/monocyte subpopulations in spontaneous metastasis, both subpopulations were measured in end-stage primary tumours, as well as in peripheral blood. In the primary tumour, Ly6C^{low} TAMs were the predominant subpopulation and numbers increased with increasing metastatic capacity (Figure 3.3A, P≤0.05 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4 and P≤0.001 4T1.2 vs. 67NR), with a trend towards increased numbers in 66cl4 compared to 67NR primary tumours also observed. No statistical difference was seen for Ly6C^{high} TAM numbers between the tumour variants, although, again, a trend towards increasing numbers with increasing metastatic capacity was observed (Figure 3.3A).

In the peripheral blood of mice bearing end-stage tumours, Ly6C^{high} monocytes were the predominant subpopulation, and numbers increased in 4T1.2 compared to 66cl4 and 67NR tumour-bearing mice (Figure 3.3B, P \leq 0.001 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4 and 67NR), with a trend towards increased numbers in 66cl4 compared to 67NR tumour-tumour-bearing mice seen. No statistical difference was seen for blood Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers between the different tumour variants, although there was a trend towards increasing numbers with increasing metastatic capacity (Figure 3.3B). Blood neutrophil numbers also increased in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice compared to the other tumour variants (Figure 3.4, P \leq 0.0001 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4 and 67NR) and, again, a trend towards increased numbers was observed in 66cl4 compared to 67NR tumour-bearing mice.

To see how TAMs and TANs associated with tumour progression, their numbers were analysed during the course of tumour growth and metastasis to lung. 4T1.2 and 67NR primary tumours were collected every 5 days following tumour cell inoculation and TAM and TAN numbers were analysed by flow cytometry. The size of this study limited the number of tumour cell line variants used. The 4T1.2 and 67NR tumour variants were chosen as, given that 4T1.2 tumours are highly aggressive, differences between metastatic and non-metastatic tumours would be more apparent using the 4T1.2 rather than the 66cl4 cell line. Lungs were also collected at these time points and metastasis quantified by India ink staining. No visible lung nodules were detected in mice bearing 67NR tumours hence only data scoring lung nodules in 4T1.2 tumourbearing mice is shown. Significant increases in both Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM numbers in highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours compared to non-metastatic 67NR tumours were first seen at day 20 post-tumour cell inoculation (Figures 3.5A, P≤0.001 and 3.5B, $P \le 0.05$). This was also the time that metastatic lung tumour nodules were first seen in mice bearing 4T1.2 tumours (Figure 3.5). The same pattern was seen for TANs, with numbers increasing in 4T1.2 tumours around the time visible lung tumour nodules were first detected (day 20) (Figure 3.5C, $P \le 0.01$).

Since it is possible that these differences in monocyte/TAM and neutrophil/TAN numbers were due to differences in tumour growth, primary tumour growth was measured and primary tumours were weighed at harvest. No differences were observed between the metastatic variants in regard to tumour growth (Figure 3.6A) or end-stage weight (Figure 3.6B). This indicates that the increases in myeloid cell numbers, in particular TANs and Ly6C^{low} TAMs in the primary tumour and neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes in the peripheral blood, are related to tumour metastatic capacity and not primary tumour growth and size.

3.2.3 Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs display different gene expression profiles

Recent gene expression analysis of TAMs revealed differences in gene expression of TAM subpopulations based on MHC II expression, with MHC II^{high} TAMs displaying a more 'pro-inflammatory' M1-like phenotype, and MHC II^{low} TAMs being more 'anti-

inflammatory/trophic' M2-like in nature [225, 264]. Both of these MHC II^{high} and MHC II^{low} subpopulations were Ly6C^{low} and it has recently been shown that the Ly6C^{high} subpopulation does not express MHC II [226]. The differences in gene expression profiles of Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs have not been analysed.

A protocol for the isolation of TAMs from primary tumours using fluorescenceactivated cell sorting (FACS) was optimised. Cell sorting was chosen as this method required the least manipulation of cells, thus minimising potential phenotypic changes within TAMs during isolation. TAMs were isolated from tumours at day 25 post-tumour cell inoculation, as by day 28 4T1.2 tumours were often necrotic, making it difficult to obtain sufficient numbers of cells for analysis. Since tumour cells were expressing the mCherry fluorescent protein, TAMs were characterised as mCherry^{neg}CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high} or mCherry^{neg}CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{low}. NK cells were excluded, via exclusion from the CD11b⁺ gate. Cells from highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours (4T1.2 Ly6C^{high} TAMs and 4T1.2 Ly6C^{low} TAMs) were compared to cells from non-metastatic 67NR tumours (67NR Ly6C^{high} TAMs and 67NR Ly6C^{low} TAMs).

Given that TAM subpopulations were reported to show differences in M1, 'inflammatory' and M2, 'trophic' associated gene expression, the classic M1 genes, IL-12 and IL-23 [143] and the characteristic M2 gene, IL-10 [143], were analysed. In a preliminary experiment, 4T1.2 Ly6C^{high} TAMs appeared to express higher levels of both IL-12A and IL-23A mRNA than 4T1.2 Ly6C^{low} TAMs and TAMs from 67NR tumours (Figures 3.7A and 3.7C). Both the IL-12A and IL-23A genes code for the alpha subunits (p35 and p19, respectively), but the IL-12 beta subunit (p40) is required for active heterodimers of these cytokines [443-445]. 67NR Ly6C^{low} TAMs appeared to express the highest levels of IL-12B mRNA, whereas minimal expression was seen in 4T1.2 Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs (Figure 3.7B). Ly6C^{high} TAMs appeared to express higher levels of IL-10 mRNA than Ly6C^{low} TAMs in both 4T1.2 and 67NR tumours (Figure 3.7D). As this experiment was repeated only once, albeit each time with samples in triplicate, no rigorous statistical analysis was applied.

3.2.4 Co-injection of TAMs and TANs isolated from highly metastatic (4T1.2) or non-metastatic (67NR) primary tumours with weakly metastatic (66cl4) tumour cells

Primary tumour Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells (neutrophils and macrophages) can increase the metastatic capacity of tumours [92, 185]. It is therefore possible that TAMs and/or TANs isolated from highly metastatic tumours may be able to enhance the metastatic potential of less metastatic tumours. TAMs and TANs were isolated from day 25 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) and 67NR (non-metastatic) mCherry-expressing primary tumours. TAMs were characterised as before (see Section 3.2.3) and TANs as mCherry^{neg}CD11b⁺Ly6G^{high}. 4T1.2 TAMs or TANs or 67NR TAMs or TANs were then co-injected with 66cl4 tumour cells (at a ratio of 1 TAM or TAN: 10 tumour cells) into the mammary fat pad. Two further intra-tumoural injections of TAMs or TANs (the same numbers as used for the first co-injection) were given one and two weeks after the initial tumour cell inoculation (Figure 3.8).

Co-injection of 66cl4 tumour cells with 4T1.2 TAMs or 4T1.2 TANs increased 66cl4 tumour growth (Figure 3.9, P \leq 0.01-0.001 4T1.2 TAMs or 4T1.2 TANs vs. 67NR TAMs, 67NR TANs and 66cl4 alone). Unfortunately in this experiment tumours regressed in the control groups (Figure 3.9: 67NR TAM or TAN co-injected with 66cl4 tumour cells and 66cl4 tumour cells injected alone). Furthermore, tumours that did grow became palpable much later (day 25) than the expected day 7-10 post-tumour cell inoculation (see Figures 3.9 and 3.6A). Metastasis was not analysed due to the lack of control samples for comparison to experimental samples.

3.3 Discussion

Increased TAM numbers have been associated with metastasis in breast cancer [234, 235], and TAMs are known to carry out a number of functions associated with tumour progression and metastasis [446]. Emerging data associate increased TAN numbers and malignancy in a number of other cancers [361-363], although a link between TANs and breast tumour metastasis has not been conclusively shown. In this chapter it is reported that Ly6C^{low} TAMs were the predominant subpopulation in primary tumours, and numbers increased with increasing metastatic capacity (Figure 3.3A). Ly6C^{low} TAMs

have been reported to be the predominant subpopulation in other mammary tumour models [202, 225], but an increase in Ly6C^{low} TAM numbers with increasing tumour metastatic capacity has not been previously described. TANs were increased only in the 4T1.2 primary tumours (Figures 3.1A and 3.2B). TANs have been linked to metastasis in some rodent mammary tumour models [5, 8] but an association between increased TAN numbers and metastasis has not been reported before in breast cancer models. Analysis of TANs in human breast tumours is required to determine if increased TAN numbers correlate with metastasis in the human disease.

Presumably the differences in TAM and TAN numbers described above reflect the different microenvironments generated by primary tumours of different metastatic capacity. 67NR tumours may be non-metastatic in part due to their impaired ability to recruit TAMs and/or TANs. On the other hand, 66cl4 tumours can metastasise to lung to some degree, potentially due to their ability to attract higher numbers of TAMs, whereas 4T1.2 tumours are extremely aggressive and attract high numbers of both TAMs and TANs.

CD8 T cells and B cells also increased with increasing metastatic capacity of the primary tumour (Figures 3.2D and 3.2E). Increased CD8 T cell counts have been associated with increased survival in human breast cancer [447]; hence CD8 T cell numbers would possibly be expected to decrease in the highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours. The increases in B and CD8 T cell numbers reported in this thesis may be indicative of failed anti-tumoural immune responses, as TAMs and TANs have both been shown to suppress anti-tumour T cell activity [193, 215, 256], and were found in high numbers in 4T1.2 tumours (Figures 3.2A and 3.2B).

Increases in Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs, as well as TANs, were seen early in tumour progression, around the time that visible lung tumour nodules were first detected (Figure 3.5), even though there were no differences in growth rates or weights of the different tumour variants (Figure 3.6). Thus, TAM and TAN numbers appear to be increasing during the early phases of metastasis, possibly at the micrometastatic or macrometastatic stages, given that their numbers increased around the time that visible lung nodules were first detected. These data indicate that the increases in Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs, as well as TANs, are associated with metastatic capacity of the primary

tumour rather than tumour size or growth. Thus, it appears that not only Ly6C^{low} TAMs, but also TANs are associated with metastasis in the 4T1.2 mammary tumour model, and are possibly involved early in tumour progression to metastasis. Depletion of these cell populations and individual subpopulations, either after metastasis is established or during early metastatic events, could indicate the importance of these cells in different stages of metastatic progression.

Recent gene expression profiling data have shown that, although TAMs express many genes associated with the M2 macrophage phenotype [225, 257, 258], they can also express M1 phenotype-associated genes [225, 259]. Based on MHC II expression, two distinct TAM subpopulations were reported in murine mammary TS/A tumours and hepatocellular carcinomas [225, 264]. MHC II^{high} TAMs upregulated expression of genes such as iNOS, IL-1 β and IL-12, and were more M1-like in phenotype, whereas MHC II^{low} TAMs upregulated genes such as ARG1 and STAB1 and were more M2-like in phenotype [225, 264]. MHC II^{low} TAMs were found to reside preferentially in hypoxic regions of tumours and were pro-angiogenic [225]. These studies indicate that TAM subpopulations may have specialised functions depending on the microenvironmental influences of the tumour region that they occupy.

IL-12 and IL-23 are associated with the M1 'pro-inflammatory' macrophage phenotype [143] and preliminary data in this thesis indicated that Ly6C^{high} TAMs express higher levels IL-12A and IL-23A mRNA than Ly6C^{low} TAMs (Figures 3.7A and 3.7C) and expression was upregulated in 4T1.2 compared to 67NR tumours (Figures 3.7A and 3.7C). Despite the fact that IL-23 is associated with a pro-inflammatory macrophage phenotype, increased IL-23 serum levels have recently been linked to poor prognosis in human breast cancer [178]. Hence the role of IL-23 in breast tumour metastasis is unclear. On the other hand, IL-12 increases T and NK cell cytotoxicity against tumours [173, 174, 448]. Treatment with IL-12 reduces murine mammary tumour metastasis [175], and IL-12 is considered a potential adjuvant in the treatment of cancer [449]. However, IL-12B, the binding partner that is required for heterodimer activity of IL-12 and IL-23 [443-445] was not expressed in 4T1.2 Ly6C^{high} or Ly6C^{low} TAMs (Figure 3.7B); it is therefore possible that Ly6C^{high} TAMs are not making active IL-12 and IL-23. This observation needs to be confirmed at the protein level.

On the other hand, IL-10 is typically associated with the M2/trophic phenotype in macrophages [143, 154, 437] and 4T1.2 Ly6C^{high} TAMs also appeared to express higher IL-10 mRNA levels than 4T1.2 Ly6C^{low} TAMs (Figure 3.7D). Increased IL-10 serum levels have been associated with poor prognosis in human breast cancer [177], and with reduced T cell activation [176, 450], suggesting that IL-10 may suppress anti-tumour immune responses. Surprisingly, IL-10 appeared to be most highly expressed in 67NR Ly6C^{high} TAMs (Figure 3.7D). Macrophages display a phenotypic spectrum, of which M1 and M2 are the extremes *in vitro*, thus Ly6C^{high} TAMs may express a combination of 'pro-inflammatory' M1 and 'trophic' M2 associated genes. Analysis of additional M1 and M2-associated genes is required to develop a comprehensive gene expression profile for these cells. This is discussed further in Chapter 6, Section 6.3.1.

Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells isolated from metastatic tumours can increase metastasis to lung upon co-injection with tumour cells [185]. Given that Gr-1 labels both macrophages and neutrophils, it is possible that either TAMs and/or TANs can influence the metastatic capacity of primary tumours. In line with this, results from the pilot experiment in this chapter indicated that co-injection of both TAMs and TANs from highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours increased 66cl4 tumour growth compared to TAMs and TANs isolated from non-metastatic 67NR tumours (Figure 3.9). However, this result was confounded by the fact that 66cl4 tumours injected with saline alone regressed, as did 66cl4 tumours co-injected with TAMs or TANs from 67NR tumours (Figure 3.9). Given the failure of the controls, metastasis was not assessed, as no comprehensive comparison could be made for the experimental groups.

For co-injection of 66cl4 tumour cells with TAMs or TANs, a ratio of 10 tumour cells to 1 TAM/TAN was used, as this most closely represented what was seen *in vivo*. To achieve this ratio, fewer numbers $(1.5 \times 10^5 \text{ cells per mouse})$ of 66cl4 tumour cells than normally used (2 x 10^5 cells/mouse) were injected, and this may not have been sufficient for 66cl4 tumour growth to occur. In the tumours that did grow, tumour onset occurred much later than expected, around day 24 post-tumour cell inoculation, as opposed to the expected day 7-10 (see Figures 3.9 and 3.6A).

Another possible complication was contamination of 4T1.2 cells during cell sorting, as this cell line can grow tumours successfully from very few cells, just with a longer lag phase. To address this, 4T1.2 TAMs or TANs were injected alone into the fourth mammary fat pad. No tumour growth occurred in mice that received 4T1.2 TANs alone. However, one mouse out of six that received 4T1.2 TAMs grew a tumour. This indicated that, in the 4T1.2 TAM group at least, there were contaminating 4T1.2 tumour cells. This contamination may involve only a few cells, as 4T1.2 tumours can grow from as little as 50 cells (Restall and Anderson, unpublished data). However, because no tumour growth was seen upon injection of 4T1.2 TANs alone, the preliminary results showing that TAMs and TANs from 4T1.2 tumours can enhance 66cl4 tumour growth are promising. This experiment needs to be repeated after further optimisation of the cell sorting protocol. Gradient separation of tumour samples or CD11b microbead selection may help to minimise tumour cell contamination. Furthermore, the use of mCherry-expressing tumour cells for isolating TAMs and TANs from primary tumours, and a different tag, such as neomycin, for the 66cl4 cells would allow for verification of which cell line gave rise to metastases, depending on the reporter gene expressed.

3.4 Conclusions

Ly6C^{low} TAMs were the predominant subpopulation in tumours and their number increased with increasing metastatic capacity. Both Ly6C^{low} TAM and TAN numbers increased during the early stages of metastasis, although it is unclear at this stage if this was during the micrometastatic or macrometastatic phases. Preliminary data indicate that Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM gene expression profiles may differ, but this needs further validation. TAN numbers were also increased in highly metastatic primary tumours. TAMs and TANs isolated from highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours might be able to increase the growth of weakly metastatic 66cl4 tumours but again, this observation needs to be confirmed. This implies that, not only TAMs, but importantly, TANs are associated with metastasis of 4T1.2 mammary tumours. Depletion of TANs will clarify if this cell population is also important for metastasis.



Figure 3.1: Comparison of immune cell populations in 4T1.2 (highly metastatic), 66cl4 (weakly metastatic) and 67NR (non-metastatic) end-stage primary tumours. Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic), 66cl4 (weakly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. Primary tumours were excised at end-point (day 28), disaggregated, and myeloid cell populations were analysed by flow cytometry. TAMs were characterised as $CD11b^+Ly6G^{neg}F4/80^+$ cells, TANs as $CD11b^+Ly6G^{high}$ cells, T lymphocytes as $CD4^+$ cells or $CD8^+$ cells, and B lymphocytes as $B220^+$ cells. A) 4T1.2, B) 66cl4 and C) 67NR end-point primary tumour myeloid and lymphoid cell population numbers. Data are expressed as cells per gram of tumour. Mean±SEM; *n*=6 mice/group. A) ***P*≤0.01 TANs vs. TAMs and CD4 T cells, ****P*≤0.001 TANs vs. CD8 T cells and B cells. B) **P*≤0.05 TAMs vs. TANs, CD8 T cells and B cells. C) **P*≤0.05 CD4 T cells vs. TANs and B cells, ***P*≤0.01 CD4 T cells vs. CD8 T cells, one-way repeated measures ANOVA.





Primary tumour immune cell populations were analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 3.1. A) TAM, B) TAN, C) $CD4^+$ T cell, D) $CD8^+$ T cell and E) B cell numbers. Data are expressed as cells per gram of tumour. Mean±SEM; *n*=6 mice/group. A) **P*≤0.05 4T1.2 vs. 67NR, B) ****P*≤0.001 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4 and 67NR, D and E) **P*≤0.05 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4, ***P*≤0.01 4T1.2 vs. 67NR, one-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 3.3: Ly6C^{low} TAM and Ly6C^{high} blood monocyte numbers increase with increasing tumour metastatic capacity.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with 4T1.2 (highly metastatic), 66cl4 (weakly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. Primary tumours and peripheral blood were harvested at end-point (day 28). Primary tumours were disaggregated. Primary tumour TAM and blood monocyte subpopulations were characterised by flow cytometry as described in Figure 3.1. A) Primary tumour Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM numbers. B) Blood Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers. Data are expressed as A) cells per gram of tumour and B) cells per ml of blood. Mean±SEM; n=8 mice/group. A) *P≤0.05 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4. **P≤0.001 4T1.2 vs. 67NR and B) **P≤0.001 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4 and 67NR, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 3.4: Blood neutrophil numbers increase with increasing tumour metastatic capacity.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with 4T1.2 (highly metastatic), 66cl4 (weakly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. Peripheral blood was harvested at end-point (day 28) and neutrophil numbers analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 3.1. Data are expressed as cells per ml of blood. Mean±SEM; n=8 mice/group. A) * $P \le 0.0001$ 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4 and 67NR, one-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 3.5: Primary tumour Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM, as well as TAN numbers, increase around the time visible lung tumour nodules are first observed. Mice were orthotopically injected into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. A cohort of mice (n=12/group) was culled at each of the time points shown. Primary tumours were excised every 5 days after tumour cell inoculation, disaggregated, and TAM and TAN numbers analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 3.1 (left axis). Lungs from tumour-bearing mice were excised every 5 days after tumour cell inoculation, stained with India ink, and lung nodules counted (right axis). No lung nodules were detected in the lungs of 67NR tumour-bearing mice hence only the lung nodule scores from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice are shown. Primary tumour A) Ly6C^{high} TAMs, B) Ly6C^{low} TAMs and C) TANs. Data are expressed as cells per gram of tumour (left axis) and number of total surface lung tumour nodules (right axis). Mean±SEM. **P*≤0.05, ***P*≤0.01 and ****P*≤0.001 4T1.2 vs. 67NR, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.





Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic), 66cl4 (weakly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. Tumour growth was measured using electronic callipers and tumours were excised and weighed at day 28. Primary tumour A) growth (volume, cm³) and B) end-stage weights (grams). Mean \pm SEM; *n*=8 mice/group.



Figure 3.7: IL-12A, IL-12B, IL-23A and IL-10 mRNA expression in Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs from 4T1.2 and 67NR primary tumours.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) mCherry-expressing tumour cells. Primary tumours were excised at day 25 post-tumour cell inoculation, disaggregated and Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs were isolated by cell sorting. TAMs were characterised as mCherry^{neg}CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high} or mCherry^{neg}CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{low}. RNA was extracted from sorted cells and gene expression analysed by qRT-PCR. A) IL-12A (IL-12 alpha), B) IL-12B (IL-12 beta), C) IL-23A (IL-23 alpha) and D) IL-10 mRNA expression. Data are expressed as relative expression of mRNA compared to that of the housekeeping gene, HPRT. Mean±SEM; *n*=2 biological samples, each in triplicate.



Figure 3.8: Schematic of co-injection of TAMs and TANs isolated from either highly metastatic (4T1.2) or non-metastatic (67NR) primary tumours with weakly metastatic (66cl4) tumour cells.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) mCherry-expressing tumour cells. Primary tumours were excised at day 25 post-tumour cell inoculation, disaggregated, and TAMs and TANs were isolated by cell sorting. TAMs were characterised as mCherry^{neg}CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}F4/80⁺ cells, and TANs as mCherry^{neg}CD11b⁺Ly6G^{high} cells. TAMs and TANs isolated from 4T1.2 or 67NR primary tumours were then co-injected into the fourth mammary gland with 66cl4 tumour cells at a ratio of 1 TAM or TAN:10 tumour cells (1.5×10^5 66cl4 tumour cells + 1.5×10^4 TAMs or TANs per mouse). 66cl4 tumour cells injected in PBS alone served as a control. Two further 'top-up' injections of 1.5×10^4 TAMs or TANs, isolated from 4T1.2 or 67NR tumours, were then given into the fourth mammary gland at 1 and 2 weeks post initial co-injections. Mice that received 66cl4 tumour cells alone were injected with PBS 1 and 2 weeks post 66cl4 tumour cell inoculation.



Day post-66cl4 tumour cell inoculation

Figure 3.9: Co-injection of TAMs and TANs from 4T1.2 or 67NR primary tumours increases 66cl4 tumour growth.

TAMs and TANs isolated from 4T1.2 or 67NR primary tumours were co-injected into the fourth mammary gland with 66cl4 tumour cells at a ratio of 1 TAM or TAN:10 tumour cells $(1.5 \times 10^5 66cl4 \text{ tumour cells} + 1.5 \times 10^4 \text{ TAMs or TANs per mouse})$. Two further 'top-up' injections of $1.5 \times 10^4 \text{ TAMs or TANs were then given at 1 and 2}$ weeks post 66cl4 tumour cell inoculation. 66cl4 tumour cells injected in PBS aloneserved as a control (see Figure 3.8). Primary tumour growth (volume, cm³) wasmeasured by callipers. Mean±SEM;*n*=15 mice/group. **P*≤0.01 and ***P*≤0.001 4T1.2 $TAMs vs. 67NR TAMs, 67NR TANs and 66cl4 alone. ^$ *P* $≤0.01 and ^^$ *P*≤0.001 4T1.2TANs vs. 67NR TAMs, 67NR TANs and 66cl4 alone, two-way repeated measuresANOVA.

4 Chapter 4: Monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation by highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours

4.1 Introduction

Systemic monocytes and neutrophils have not been studied extensively in metastasis. Increases in Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells have been reported in the spleen [215], bone marrow [216] and circulation [217] of mice bearing lymphoma, Lewis lung carcinoma and mammary and colon tumours, and at all three sites in the c-erbB-2 (HER-2/neu) mouse model of breast cancer [451]. Gr-1⁺ cells have also been shown to form clusters in the lung prior to the arrival of 4T1 murine mammary tumour cells [3]. However, Gr-1 cells can be either monocytes or neutrophils.

Murine monocytes can be loosely grouped into two functionally specialised subpopulations, the Ly6C^{high}, 'immature, classical' and the Ly6C^{low}, 'mature, nonclassical' [298, 309]. Blood monocytes are increased in breast cancer patients [326] and high tumour expression of monocyte/macrophage chemoattractants and growth factors, such as CCL2 and CSF-1, has been correlated with advanced disease [330]. In the MMTV-PyMT murine breast tumour model, Ly6C^{high} monocyte recruitment increased in lungs with metastases compared to normal lungs [202]. However, this was demonstrated in the context of experimental metastasis, which does not encompass all the steps of physiological metastasis. Analysis of systemic Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocyte subpopulations in spontaneous metastasis may afford a better understanding of the contribution of these cell populations to this process.

Neutrophils have not been comprehensively studied in breast cancer. Aeed et al. found that circulating neutrophil numbers increased with increasing metastatic capacity in a mammary adenocarcinoma model [5]. Neutrophils exposed to tumour-conditioned medium increased metastasis of mammary adenocarcinomas, whereas 'normal' neutrophils did not [424]. However, neutrophils have also been implicated in the clearance of experimental metastasis [425] and a recently described neutrophil population termed 'tumour entrained neutrophils (TENs)' inhibited metastatic seeding of lungs in a mouse mammary tumour model [201]. Therefore, further investigation of systemic neutrophils is required to clarify their role in breast tumour metastasis.

It was shown in Chapter 3 that Ly6C^{low} TAMs and TANs increased in 4T1.2 highly metastatic tumours, and that these increases occurred early in tumour progression. In this chapter, systemic monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils were analysed in the context of primary tumour progression to metastasis. It was found that highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours increased monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation and preliminary data implicated MMP-9 in this process.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Monocytes and neutrophils are mobilised early during highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumour progression

Monocytes and neutrophils were analysed by flow cytometry during tumour progression. Monocytes were characterised as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high} or CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{low} [303], and neutrophils as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{high} [8, 223]. Significant increases in blood Ly6C^{high} monocyte and neutrophil numbers in highly metastatic 4T1.2 compared to weakly metastatic 66cl4 or non-metastatic 67NR tumour-bearing mice and naive controls first occurred at day 20 post-tumour cell inoculation (Figures 4.1A, P≤0.0001 and 4.1C, P≤0.05). Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers increased later in highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice, at day 25 post-tumour cell inoculation (Figure 4.1B, P≤0.0001). As reported in Chapter 3, Ly6C^{high} monocytes were the predominant blood monocyte subpopulation.

Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocytes, as well as neutrophils, therefore increased early during highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumour progression. However, it was unclear how this mobilisation related to metastasis. The experiment was repeated, this time comparing the numbers of mobilised Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocytes, as well as neutrophils to the extent of 4T1.2 metastasis to lung. Weakly metastatic 66cl4 tumour-bearing mice were not analysed again due to their similarity to non-metastatic 67NR tumour-bearing mice in regard to blood monocyte and neutrophil numbers.

Increases in blood Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice coincided with detection of the first visible lung tumour nodules (Figures 4.2A, P \leq 0.001 and 4.2C, P \leq 0.05). As before, blood Ly6C^{low} monocytes increased later (day 25) in

4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice, after lung nodules were first observed (Figure 4.2B, P≤0.001). In the same experiment, neutrophil and Ly6C^{high} monocyte numbers were analysed in the bone marrow (Figure 4.3), as this is where monocytes and neutrophils originate. Ly6C^{low} cells in the bone marrow did not express CD11b (a myeloid cell marker) and hence could not be confirmed as monocytes. As a result, these cells were not included in the analysis. Neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes were significantly increased in the bone marrow of highly metastatic 4T1.2 compared to non-metastatic 67NR tumour-bearing mice at day 15, before the appearance of visible lung tumour nodules (Figure 4.3, P≤0.0001 and P≤0.001, respectively), but declined after day 20 (Figure 4.3). This is most likely due to their mobilisation into the circulation.

Also in the same experiment, splenic Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocytes, as well as neutrophils were analysed in relation to 4T1.2 metastasis to lung (Figure 4.4). The spleen is known to act as a reservoir of immune cells, and is itself an important participant in the generation of inflammatory reactions [452-454]. Splenic neutrophil numbers increased significantly in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice around the time visible lung tumour nodules were first seen (Figure 4.4C, P≤0.05). A trend towards increased Ly6C^{high} monocytes was also observed at this time point and these cells were significantly increased by day 25 (Figure 4.4A, P≤0.05). Ly6C^{low} monocytes accumulated in the spleens of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice only at later stages of tumour growth (day 28) (Figure 4.4B, P≤0.01).

In summary, Ly6C^{high} monocyte and neutrophil numbers in highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice increased in the bone marrow before the appearance of visible lung tumour nodules (Figure 4.3). Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils increased in the blood and spleen around the time visible lung tumour nodules first occurred, albeit splenic Ly6C^{high} monocytes increased later (Figures 4.2 and 4.4). Circulating and splenic Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers increased later in 4T1.2 tumour progression (Figures 4.2B and 4.4B). Since tumour growth and weights at harvest were not seen to differ between the highly metastatic 4T1.2 and non-metastatic 67NR variants (Figure 4.5), the monocyte and neutrophil expansion described above was associated with metastasis, and not tumour growth and size.

Monocyte and neutrophil numbers from day 20 of this time course experiment (when visible lung tumour nodules were first detected) are summarised in Figure 4.6. This figure shows that there was a greater increase in the numbers of neutrophils compared to monocytes in the blood, bone marrow and spleen of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice.

4.2.2 Neutrophils increase in 4T1.2 metastasis-associated lungs around the time tumour cell DNA is first detected

Given that Ly6C^{high} monocytes were shown to be recruited to pre-metastatic lungs in the MMTV-PyMT model [202], a new experiment was set up to analyse Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} macrophages, as well as neutrophils, in the lungs of highly metastatic 4T1.2 compared to non-metastatic 67NR tumour-bearing mice. Tumour variants expressing the mCherry fluorescent protein were used to assess metastatic lung burden. Since visible nodules were first seen at day 20 post-tumour cell inoculation (see Figures 4.2-4.4), tumour cells must lodge in the lungs at earlier time points. Hence, lungs were analysed at day 5, 8, 11 and 13 post-tumour cell inoculation. Tumour-derived mCherry DNA was first detected in the lungs at day 11 after 4T1.2 tumour cell inoculation (Figure 4.7A), whereas mCherry DNA was not found in lungs of 67NR tumour-bearing mice. As before, no differences were seen in primary tumours weights between the 4T1.2 and 67NR variants (Figure 4.7B).

Neutrophil numbers increased significantly in the lungs of 4T1.2 compared to 67NR tumour-bearing mice at day 11 post-tumour cell inoculation (Figure 4.8A, P \leq 0.05). Lung Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} macrophage numbers did not differ between mice bearing the different tumour variants at these time points and appeared to decrease in number after day 5 (Figures 4.8B and 4.8C). Peripheral blood was also harvested from these mice. Blood neutrophils were increased significantly at day 13 post-tumour cell inoculation in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Figure 4.8D, P \leq 0.05). As for lung macrophages, blood Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers were similar between 4T1.2 and 67NR tumour-bearing mice at these time points (Figures 4.8E and 4.8F). This experiment has only been completed once and needs to be confirmed. However, these preliminary data indicate that increases in lung neutrophils rather than macrophages were associated with the arrival of tumour cells in the lung.

4.2.3 MMP-9 and CXCL12 are increased in the serum of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice at day 15 post-tumour cell inoculation

Little is known about the factors involved in mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils from the bone marrow during tumour progression. To address this, serum from mice bearing 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR tumours was taken at day 15 post-tumour cell inoculation, at the time of myeloid cell mobilisation from the bone marrow in this tumour model. Mice injected with saline were used as non-tumour-bearing controls. A RayBio[®] cytokine array (RayBiotech, Inc., GA, USA) that measures ninety-six inflammation-associated factors including cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and proteases was utilised. A number of factors were found to be changed in tumour-bearing mice compared to saline controls, as summarised in Tables 4.1 and 4.2.

Serum from mice bearing 4T1.2 tumours contained elevated levels of pro-angiogenic factors, including members of the VEGF family, growth factors such as bFGF, members of the IGF family, and the adhesion factors E-selectin and ICAM-1 (Table 4.1). Amongst others, CCL2, CCL5 and IL-10 were downregulated in serum of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Table 4.2). Pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 α , IL-12 and IFN γ , and a number of proteins associated with APC and lymphocyte activation, including IL-2, CD30 and CD40, were also downregulated (Table 4.2).

In serum from weakly metastatic 66cl4 tumour-bearing mice, upregulation of L-selectin, members of the IGF growth factor family and the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-12 and IL-2 was seen (Table 4.1). No factors were found to be downregulated in serum from these mice (Table 4.2). In serum from non-metastatic 67NR tumour-bearing mice, the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-12 and IL-2 were upregulated (Table 4.1) and a number of growth factors and adhesion molecules, including P-selectin and ICAM-1 were downregulated (Table 4.2).

MMP-2 and MMP-3 were decreased in the serum of mice bearing highly metastatic 4T1.2 and non-metastatic 67NR tumours. However, this decrease was minor (Table 4.2). Conversely, Pro-MMP-9 was highly increased in the serum of mice bearing all three tumour variants with the highest increase seen in mice bearing highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours (12.1-fold, Table 4.1). The data are shown in more detail in Figure 4.9,

where analysis of the relative fluorescence intensity values revealed that pro-MMP-9 was increased significantly in serum from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice compared to mice bearing 66cl4 and 67NR tumours and naive controls (Figure 4.9A, P \leq 0.001). MMP-9- mediated degradation of CXCL12 (SDF-1 α) has been implicated in mobilisation of cells from the bone marrow after G-CSF stimulation [455]. Serum CXCL12 levels were also found to be increased in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice compared to 66cl4 and 67NR tumour-bearing mice and naive controls (Figure 4.9B, P \leq 0.01). However, serum G-CSF levels were similar between the metastatic variants and naive controls (Figure 4.9C).

MMP-9 levels were then measured in serum of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice at day 15 post-tumour cell inoculation using Western blot and zymography. Culture supernatant from a 4T1.2 BM2/LM-511 tumour cell line variant provided by Dr. Normand Pouliot [456], known to contain MMP-9, was used as a positive control. MMP-9 protein was present in the culture supernatant of BM2/L-511 tumour cells by Western blot (Figure 4.10A lanes 7-9) but could not be detected in the serum from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Figure 4.10A lanes 3-5). Zymography was also used to assess MMP-9 levels. Again, MMP-9 gelatinase activity was detected in the positive controls (Figure 4.10B lanes 7-9) but not in the serum from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Figure 4.10B lanes 3-5).

4.3 Discussion

The use of Gr-1 as a marker of myeloid cells in breast tumours has resulted in some confusion regarding the role of monocytes/TAMs and neutrophils/TANs in metastasis. Analysis of myeloid cells in cancer models using antibodies against Ly6C (found on both monocytes and neutrophils) and Ly6G (found on neutrophils) allows for a clearer delineation of monocytes/macrophages from neutrophils [8, 201, 223-225]. It is reported in this chapter that highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours increased mobilisation of Ly6C^{high} monocytes, as well as neutrophils, early in progression to metastasis. Furthermore, MMP-9 is implicated in this enhancement of monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation.

Blood monocytes increase in patients with metastatic tumours compared to normal individuals [326], and elevated serum neutrophil numbers, neutrophil factors or neutrophil to lymphocyte ratios generally predict poor prognosis in a number of human cancers, including gastric [350, 351], lung [354], cervical [357] and ovarian [358, 359]. In breast cancer, increased levels of the neutrophil specific protease, NE, correlate with poor prognosis [360]. Nevertheless, the mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils in metastatic tumours compared to non-metastatic tumours has not been well investigated.

In this chapter it was found that Ly6C^{high} monocyte and neutrophil numbers increased in the bone marrow of 4T1.2 compared to 67NR tumour-bearing mice before visible lung nodules were first observed (Figure 4.3), whereas blood Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils increased around the time the first visible lung nodules were detected (Figure 4.2). Thus it appears that systemic monocytes and neutrophils, similar to TAMs and TANs, increase during the early stages of metastasis, probably at the pre-metastatic or micrometastatic phases given that bone marrow monocytes and neutrophils increased prior to the appearance of visible lung nodules and circulating monocytes increased around the time of lung nodule detection.

It is unclear at this stage if monocytes and neutrophils mature in the bone marrow or circulation. Given that Ly6C^{low} monocytes were not detected in the bone marrow, but were seen in the circulation, it is likely that maturation occurs in the blood. However, the maturation of monocytes from Ly6C^{high} to Ly6C^{low} has recently been questioned [297]. For example, Sunderkotter et al showed that, after depletion of all blood monocytes in the steady state, the returning circulating monocytes were predominantly Gr-1^{high} and after 5 days converted to Gr-1^{low} [304], but reduction of Gr-1⁺/Ly6C^{high} monocytes does not always result in reduction of Gr-1^{neg/low}/Ly6C^{low} (for further discussion see Chapter 1, Section 1.8.2). Therefore, it also remains unclear if Ly6C^{high} monocytes are directly recruited to tumours from the blood and give rise to Ly6C^{low} TAMs. Blood Ly6C^{high} monocytes may be recruited chiefly to metastatic sites such as the lung as it has been shown that immature bone marrow derived cells and immature (Gr-1^{high}/Ly6C^{high}) monocytes are recruited to pre-metastatic and metastatic lungs [92, 202].

In the spleen, neutrophil, and possibly Ly6C^{high} monocyte, numbers increased around the time that visible lung tumour nodules occurred (Figure 4.4). The spleen has been suggested to act as a reservoir for TAMs and TANs in a murine model of lung adenocarcinoma [452]. In the 4T1.2 model this seems less likely, at least for TAMs, as splenic monocyte numbers increased later in tumour progression. However, it is possible that the spleen contributes TAMs in late stage mammary tumours. On the other hand, the spleen may be acting as a reservoir of TANs early in 4T1.2 tumour progression.

Analysis of monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation in other tumour models and mouse strains is required to confirm that this process is associated with aggressive tumours and whether or not this process is specific to the 4T1.2 mammary tumour model or BALB/c mice.

The data discussed above indicate that mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils from the bone marrow occurs either before metastasis, or at least at the time of early metastatic events. In support of this, preliminary experiments showed that neutrophil numbers increased in lungs of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice at the time that tumour cell DNA was first detected there (Figures 4.7A and 4.8A).

In contrast, Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} macrophage numbers did not differ in the lungs of 4T1.2 and 67NR tumour-bearing mice, and in fact appeared to decrease in number (Figures 4.8B and 4.8C). It is unclear why this decrease occurred. CD11c⁺ resident lung macrophages were not analysed and it is possible that these cells increase in number during metastasis. However, a recent study in the MMTV-PyMT model has suggested that a unique CD11b⁺ macrophage population that promotes metastatic tumour growth was recruited to lungs from the circulation and that the resident CD11c⁺ lung macrophage population did not change in number and was not important for metastasis to this site [335]. Furthermore, increases in bone marrow progenitor cells, such as CD113⁺CD34⁺CD117⁺VEGFR-1⁺ cells (which have been shown to increase in the premetastatic lung [92]), may have been missed during the analysis described in this thesis as these cells are not likely to express Ly6C and Ly6G. Lung macrophages may also 'spike' at day 5 post-tumour cell inoculation and then decrease, but a comparison with macrophage numbers in naive lungs is required to confirm this. Such a comparison was

not done here, as the focus of these experiments was on the differences between metastatic and non-metastatic tumours to distinguish between tumour- and metastasisdriven effects. It would be informative to analyse macrophage and neutrophil numbers in the lungs of tumour-bearing mice at day zero to establish a baseline value for comparison of later timepoints.

It would also be beneficial to determine if clustering of macrophages or neutrophils is occurring in the lung (possibly by immunohistochemistry) as this has been shown to be an important step in pre-metastatic niche formation [3, 92]. However, there is currently a lack of Ly6C and Ly6G antibodies suitable for immunohistochemistry. Furthermore, it would be difficult to assess macrophage sub-populations by immunohistochemistry using the Ly6C marker as it would be difficult to distinguish between differences in fluorescence intensity in the Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} cells. It has recently been shown that Ly6C^{high} monocytes do not express MHC II, whereas Ly6C^{low} monocytes do [226] and this may provide a better method of discriminating between these sub-populations.

Neutrophils were more numerous in the circulation, spleen and bone marrow of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice compared to Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocytes/macrophages around the time visible lung tumour nodules were first observed (Figure 4.6). This could be explained by the fact that monocytes make up 5-10% of circulating white blood cells, whereas neutrophils make up 45-70%. Nevertheless, given that TANs were the predominant immune cell type in 4T1.2 primary tumours (see Chapter 3, Figure 3.1); these systemic increases in neutrophils may indicate that neutrophils/TANs are also important for metastasis in the 4T1.2 model. This is in line with a recent study showing that neutrophils were important for metastasis to lung in the 4T1 murine model of breast tumour metastasis [8].

However, as previously mentioned, Granot et al. showed that neutrophils (TENs) inhibited metastatic seeding in the 4T1 model [201]. In this study neutrophils were characterised as Ly6G⁺ cells and were depleted using an anti-Ly6G antibody [201]. During spontaneous 4T1 tumour metastasis neutrophils were shown to accumulate in the lungs of tumour-bearing mice early during metastatic progression and depletion of these cells increased the number of metastatic lung nodules. It is unclear why conflicting results were seen in this thesis, although neutrophils were not depleted.

Depletion of neutrophils in the 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice would confirm if these cells are also relevant for metastasis in this model (this is discussed further in Chapter 6).

As discussed before, it has been suggested that a unique macrophage population that promotes metastatic tumour growth is recruited to metastasis-associated lungs [335] and in MMTV-PyMT mice, a monocyte subpopulation recruited via CCL2 was shown to be important for metastasis [202]. Hence the contribution of monocytes and macrophages in metastatic tumour growth cannot be discounted. Furthermore, it is possible that macrophages may increase in metastasis associated lungs later than neutrophils, given that neutrophils are typically first to appear at sites of inflammation. Analysis of later time points will clarify if/when macrophage numbers increase during tumour progression.

It is likely that tumour cells arrive in the lungs earlier than day 11 post-tumour cell inoculation. It is difficult to detect single tumour cells at metastatic sites by qPCR as the signal from a single cell is weak. Detection of tumour cells by flow cytometry or immunofluorescence in early metastatic lungs has been used successfully in a previous study with DsRed-expressing tumour cells (mCherry is a DsRed mutant) [92]. It would be worthwhile confirming the timing of tumour cell arrival in the lungs during 4T1.2 mammary tumour progression using these methods.

It is unknown if circulating monocytes or neutrophils can migrate back into the bone marrow, and hence if these cells are also recruited from the blood to bone metastases. It has been suggested that Ly6C^{high} monocytes can move bi-directionally between the circulation and bone marrow [296, 305], thus they may be recruited back into the bone marrow during metastasis. However, given that both monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils are already present in the bone marrow it seems more likely that bone metastases may induce proliferation of these cells here, rather than recruitment from the blood.

The factors involved in mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils in metastatic breast cancer are not resolved, nor have the changes in circulating factors early in tumour progression been fully investigated. Factors in the serum of tumour-bearing mice were analysed, primarily to identify those involved in mobilisation of cells from the bone

marrow. However, given that preliminary experiments showed tumour cells present in lungs at day 11 post 4T1.2 tumour cell inoculation (Figure 4.7A), some of the factors analysed may be involved in progression to metastasis. Analysis of serum at earlier times would provide additional information on changes in these factors during early metastatic events.

IL-12 and IL-2 were upregulated in serum from weakly metastatic 66cl4 and nonmetastatic 67NR tumour-bearing mice, but were downregulated in highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Tables 4.1 and 4.2). IL-12 is a key factor in activating antitumour responses in T and NK cells [173, 174, 448] and treatment with IL-12 reduced mammary tumour metastasis in both the C3L5 and 4T1 murine models [175]. IL-2 also induces anti-breast tumour responses in NK cells [457, 458]. Thus it appears that 66cl4 and 67NR tumours have an impaired ability to suppress anti-tumour responses and this may limit their metastatic potential, whereas 4T1.2 tumours are highly aggressive in part due to their ability to suppress these host responses.

Several angiogenic factors including VEGFR1, 2 and 3 were upregulated predominantly in serum from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Table 4.1). This implies greater angiogenic and lymphangiogenic activity. A previous study from our research group at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre has shown that the 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR tumour variants do not differ in their ability to induce angiogenesis [432]. However, lymphangiogenesis was not investigated. It would therefore be worthwhile to confirm this finding for angiogenesis in the day 15 tumour variants, for example by CD31 immunostaining, and to determine if the tumour variants differ in their ability to induce lymphangiogenesis, for instance by podoplanin or LYVE-1 immunostaining [459-461].

These preliminary results give some insight into the factors that may be involved in early metastatic events. Naturally, further investigation of the relevance of these factors is required. Additionally, it would be of interest to determine which cell types are secreting these factors.

Surprisingly, monocyte chemoattractants CCL2 and CCL5 were downregulated in the serum of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice, as well as the neutrophil chemoattractants LIX and KC (Table 4.2). Other key neutrophil chemoattractants, such as CXCL1 and

CXCL2 were not present on the array and were therefore not analysed. Given that only one time point was analysed, it is possible that these chemoattractants increase later in disease progression. However, pro-MMP-9 was markedly increased in the serum of mice bearing highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours compared to weakly metastatic 66cl4 and non-metastatic 67NR tumour-bearing mice and non-tumour-bearing controls (Figure 4.9A).

MMPs have been shown to promote tumour progression to malignancy [462] and increased expression of MMP-9 in human breast cancer tissues has been proposed to be a prognostic factor for metastasis [463, 464]. MMP-9 plays a key role in breast tumour invasion [203]. However, host-derived MMP-9 has also been shown to be essential for tumour angiogenesis in murine models of pancreatic cancer [465] and ovarian cancer [466]. MMP-9-mediated ECM degradation is important for tumour angiogenesis [389] as degradation of the ECM releases sequestered angiogenic factors such as VEGF [242, 467].

Aside from its pro-tumourigenic role, MMP-9 is important in the reconstitution of bone marrow progenitor cells after bone marrow suppression [468] and MMP-9-mediated degradation of CXCL12 has been implicated in mobilisation of cells from the bone marrow into the circulation [455]. Jin et al. suggested that G-CSF stimulation activated MMP-9 in the bone marrow, but to a lesser degree in the blood, with the subsequent decrease in bone marrow CXCL12 levels creating a gradient causing cells to egress into the circulation [455]. Analysis of CXCL12 and G-CSF expression in the serum of mice bearing highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours revealed that CXCL12 was also upregulated, but G-CSF was not (Figures 4.9B and 4.9C). However, MMP-9 may be promoting mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils from the bone marrow in a mechanism that is independent of G-CSF. Furthermore, CXCL12 has been implicated in the directional metastasis of tumour cells [469]. Thus it is possible that the increased levels of CXCL12 seen in the serum of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice may be promoting metastasis in this way.

No MMP-9 protein or gelatinase activity could be detected in serum from mice bearing highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours at day 15 post-tumour cell inoculation (Figure 4.10). However, the RayBio® cytokine array is a more sensitive assay than Western blot or

zymography, and may have detected small changes that were not apparent in the Western blot and zymography assays. Analysis of monocyte and neutrophil numbers in MMP-9 deficient mice bearing 4T1.2 tumours would determine if this protease is involved in tumour-driven mobilisation of these cells. This will be discussed further in Chapter 6.

4.4 Conclusion

It is shown here that highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours enhanced mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils from the bone marrow early in tumour progression to metastasis. Preliminary experiments indicate that neutrophils also increased in metastasis-associated lungs around the time of tumour cell arrival. In contrast, macrophages did not increase at this time. These increases in systemic monocyte and neutrophil numbers were associated with primary tumour metastatic capacity and not with tumour size. It appears that systemic monocytes and neutrophils increase during the early stages of metastasis, possibly at the pre-metastatic or micrometastatic phases. MMP-9 was implicated in this 4T1.2 tumour-driven enhancement of monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation. These data indicate that increases in systemic neutrophil numbers associate with 4T1.2 tumour metastasis and further investigation of these cells in breast cancer may provide valuable information for the treatment of breast cancer. Given that the increases in monocyte and neutrophil numbers occurred early in tumour progression to metastasis, analysis of changes in these cells in human disease may also aid in the assessment of disease status and likelihood of metastasis.



Figure 4.1: Blood monocyte and neutrophil numbers increase early in highly metastatic 4T1.2 compared to weakly metastatic 66cl4 and non-metastatic 67NR tumour progression.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with 4T1.2 (highly metastatic), 66cl4 (weakly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. Saline was injected into a control group of mice. Peripheral blood was harvested by tail vein every 5 days after tumour cell inoculation and monocytes were characterised as $CD11b^+Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high}$ or $CD11b^+Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{low}$ and neutrophils as $CD11b^+Ly6G^{high}$ by flow cytometry. Peripheral blood A) Ly6C^{high} monocyte, B) Ly6C^{low} monocyte, and C) neutrophil numbers. Data are expressed as cells per ml of blood. Mean±SEM, *n*=8 mice/group. **P*≤0.05 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4, 67NR and saline, ***P*≤0.0001 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4, 67NR and saline, B) ^*P*≤0.05 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4, [#]*P*≤0.01 66cl4 vs. 67NR and saline, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 4.2: Peripheral blood Ly6C^{high} and monocyte and neutrophil numbers increase around the time visible lung metastases are first detected.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. A cohort of mice (n=12/group) was culled at each of the time points shown. Peripheral blood was harvested by tail vein and monocytes and neutrophils were characterised by flow cytometry as described in Figure 4.1 (left axis). Lungs from tumour-bearing mice were also excised at these time points, stained with India ink, and lung nodules counted (right axis). No lung nodules were detected in the lungs of 67NR tumour-bearing mice hence only the lung nodule scores from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice are shown. Blood A) Ly6C^{high} monocytes, B) Ly6C^{low} monocytes and C) neutrophils. Data are expressed as cells per ml of blood (left axis) and number of total surface lung tumour nodules (right axis). Mean±SEM. * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.001$ and *** $P \le 0.001$ 4T1.2 vs. 67NR, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 4.3: Bone marrow Ly6C^{high} monocyte and neutrophil numbers increase before visible lung metastases are first detected.

Whole femurs were excised and monocyte and neutrophil numbers were analysed by flow cytometry and surface lung nodules counted as described in Figure 4.2. A cohort of mice (n=12/group) was culled at each of the time points shown. Bone marrow A) Ly6C^{high} monocytes and B) neutrophils. Data are expressed as cells per femur (<u>left axis</u>) and number of total surface lung tumour nodules (<u>right axis</u>). Mean±SEM. **P*≤0.05, ***P*≤0.001 and ****P*≤0.001 4T1.2 vs. 67NR, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.


Figure 4.4: Splenic Ly6C^{high} and neutrophil numbers increase around the time visible lung metastases are first detected.

Spleens were excised, disaggregated and monocyte and neutrophil numbers were analysed by flow cytometry and surface lung nodules counted as described in Figure 4.2. A cohort of mice (n=12/group) was culled at each of the time points shown. Splenic A) Ly6C^{high} monocytes, B) Ly6C^{low} monocytes and C) neutrophils. Data are expressed as cells per gram of spleen (<u>left axis</u>) and number of total surface lung tumour nodules (<u>right axis</u>). Mean±SEM. **P*≤0.01 and ***P*≤0.001 4T1.2 vs. 67NR, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.





In the same experiments described in Figures 4.2-4.4 primary tumour growth was measured using electronic callipers and primary tumours were excised and weighed every 5 days after tumour cell inoculation. A cohort of mice (n=12/group) was culled at each of the time points shown. Primary tumour A) growth (volume, cm³) and B) weights (grams). Mean±SEM.



Figure 4.6: Neutrophils are highly increased in peripheral blood, bone marrow and spleen of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice.

As described in Figures 4.2-4.4 primary tumours, femurs, and spleens were excised, and peripheral blood was harvested by tail vein at day 20 post-tumour cell inoculation and monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils were characterised by flow cytometry. A) Blood, B) bone marrow and C) splenic neutrophil (Ly6G), and Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers. Data are expressed as A) cells per ml of blood, B) cells per femur and C) cells per gram of spleen. Mean±SEM; *n*=12 mice/group. **P*≤0.001 neutrophils vs. Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocytes (4T1.2 and 67NR), two-way repeated measures ANOVA.





Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) mCherry-expressing tumour cells. Lungs were excised at day 5, 8, 11 and 13 post-tumour cell inoculation, disaggregated and genomic DNA was isolated. Primary tumours were also excised and weighed at these time points. Metastatic tumour DNA was measured by qPCR. However, as no tumour DNA was detected in lungs from mice bearing 67NR tumours, only data from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice is shown. A cohort of mice (n=8/group) was culled at each of the time points shown. A) Tumour DNA in lungs. B) Primary tumour weights. Data are expressed as A) relative expression of mCherry DNA (tumour cells only) to that of the housekeeping gene, vimentin (all cells) and B) grams. Mean±SEM. For day 8 and 11 time points in (B) the error bars are too small to be visible.



Figure 4.8: Neutrophil numbers increase in 4T1.2 metastasis-associated lungs at day eleven post-tumour cell inoculation.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with either 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) mCherry-expressing tumour cells. Lungs were excised and disaggregated, and peripheral blood was harvested by tail vein at day 5, 8, 11 and 13 post-tumour cell inoculation. Monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils were characterised by flow cytometry as described in Figure 4.1. A cohort of mice (n=8/group) was culled at each of the time points shown. Lung A) neutrophil, B) Ly6C^{high} macrophage, and C) Ly6C^{low} macrophage numbers. Blood D) neutrophil E) Ly6C^{high} monocyte and F) Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers. Data are expressed as A-C) cells per gram of lung, and D-F) cells per ml of blood. Mean±SEM. **P*≤0.05 4T1.2 vs. 67NR, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.

Table 4.1: Factors upregulated in serum of 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR tumour-bearing mice compared to naive controls.

4T1.2		66cl4		67NR	
Factor	Fold	Factor	Fold	Factor	Fold
	change		change		change
Pro-MMP-9	12.083	Pro-MMP-9	2.261	MIG	1.816
DPPIV/CD26	3.386	IL-3	2.214	IL-12 p40/p70	1.569
E-selectin	3.006	IGFBP-3	2.126	Pro-MMP-9	1.566
TRANCE	2.62	IL-5	2.009	IL-2	1.542
Lungkine	2.453	IL-2	1.976		
VEGF R3	2.403	L-Selectin	1.874		
Flt-3 Ligand	2.366	IL-12 p70	1.832		
I-TAC	2.308	TNFα	1.824		
TIMP-2	2.273	IL-12 p40/p70	1.778		
bFGF	2.166	IL-6	1.755		
IGFBP-2	2.135	Lymphotactin	1.726		
Dtk	2.04	GM-CSF	1.716		
VEGF R1	2.009	KC	1.693		
VEGF-D	1.954	PF-4	1.577		
Thymus CK-1	1.912	IGFBP-6	1.573		
SDF-1a	1.857	IL-17	1.566		
Osteoprotegerin	1.814	sTNF RII	1.521		
IL-15	1.808	IL-4	1.501		
ICAM-1	1.75				
IL17B R	1.746				
BLC	1.702				
IGF-II	1.701				
IL-7	1.686				
TSLP	1.668				
VEGF R2	1.643				
TIMP-1	1.62				
Lymphotactin	1.565				

Table 4.1: Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with 4T1.2 (highly metastatic), 66cl4 (weakly metastatic) or 67NR (non-metastatic) tumour cells. Saline was injected into another cohort as a control. Cardiac blood was recovered on day 15 and serum was prepared. A RayBio[®] mouse cytokine antibody array (G series 3 and 4) was used to analyse changes in serum factors. Any fold change ≥ 1.5 was considered to be a significant increase in expression, as per manufacturer's instructions. Factors that were significantly upregulated in tumour-bearing mice compared to naive mice are shown. Data are expressed as fold change in fluorescent signal intensity compared to saline controls. *n*=3 mice/group.

Table 4.2: Factors downregulated in serum of 4T1.2, 66cl4 and 67NR tumour-bearing mice compared to naive controls.

4T1.2		66cl4		67NR	
Factor	Fold	Factor	Fold	Factor	Fold
	change		change		change
IL-17	0.119			Resistin	0.363
IL-3	0.166			IGF-I	0.371
CCL2	0.293			Thymus CK-1	0.383
IL-2	0.31			IGF-II	0.446
IFNγ	0.312			Fc	0.465
				gammaRIIB	
IL-12 p70	0.332			Axl	0.53
GM-CSF	0.336			MMP-3	0.543
IL-6	0.394			GITR	0.572
MMP-2	0.404			IGFBP-2	0.588
IL-3 Rβ	0.432			DPPIV/CD26	0.593
СТАСК	0.449			LIX	0.604
IL-9	0.474			Shh-N	0.607
CRG-2	0.48			IL17B R	0.611
IL-4	0.482			TROY	0.625
IL-10	0.485			Dtk	0.626
TECK	0.521			MDC	0.629
VEGF	0.526			TIMP-2	0.633
LIX	0.538			P-Selectin	0.638
TROY	0.54			HGF R	0.64
IL-1α	0.55			ICAM-1	0.645
Leptin R	0.562				
MMP-3	0.568				
CD30 L	0.572				
Axl	0.576				
IL-1 beta	0.58				
IGFBP-3	0.582				
PF-4	0.594				
Fractalkine	0.621				
КС	0.623				
CCL5	0.64				
TCA-3	0.641				
CD40	0.643				
CD30 T	0.643				

Table 4.2: Samples were prepared and analysed as described in Table 4.1. Any fold change ≤ 0.65 was considered to be a decrease in expression, as per manufacturer's instructions. Factors that were significantly downregulated in tumour-bearing mice compared to naive mice are shown. Data are expressed as fold change in fluorescent signal intensity compared to saline controls. *n*=3 mice/group.



Figure 4.9: Pro-MMP-9 and CXCL12 are increased in serum of mice bearing 4T1.2 (highly metastatic) compared to 66cl4 (weakly metastatic), 67NR (non-metastatic) tumours and naive controls.

Samples were prepared and analysed as described in Table 4.1. Serum A) pro-MMP-9, B) CXCL12 (SDF-1 α) and C) G-CSF levels in tumour-bearing mice and non-tumourbearing (naive) controls. Data are expressed as fluorescent signal intensity normalised to in-built positive and negative controls. Mean±SEM; *n*=3 mice/group. **P*≤0.01 and ***P*≤0.001 4T1.2 vs. 66cl4, 67NR and non-tumour-bearing mice, one-way ANOVA.

A Western Blot



B Zymography



Figure 4.10: Analysis of serum MMP-9 levels in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice by Western blot and zymography.

Samples were prepared and analysed as described in Table 4.1. A) Western blot analysis of MMP-9 protein levels in serum from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (lanes 3-5) and culture supernatant (SNT) from 4T1.2 BM2/LM5-11 positive controls (lanes 7-9). B) Zymographic analysis of MMP-9 in serum from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (lanes 3-5) and culture supernatant from 4T1.2 BM2/LM5-11 positive controls (lanes 7-9). Mean±SEM; n=3 mice/group.

5 Targeting Monocytes in Breast Cancer Metastasis

5.1 Introduction

As discussed in Chapter 1 (Section 1.7.6), colony stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1/M-CSF) is a key macrophage growth factor [266, 267], the effects of which are mediated through the receptor tyrosine kinase, CSF-1R (c-Fms/CD115) [267]. Treatment of human mammary xenografts (in immunocompromised mice) with CSF-1 antisense oligonucleotides [292], anti-CSF-1 antibodies [293], or small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) against CSF-1 [294] suppressed tumour growth. In mice deficient in an active *Csf1* gene, MMTV-PyMT metastasis to lung was reduced [199]. However, in more recent studies using the same MMTV-PyMT model, but in mice with intact CSF-1 activity, treatment with CSF-1R signalling antagonists alone had minimal effects on lung metastasis [136]. Only when used in combination with chemotherapy did anti-CSF-1R treatment reduce metastasis to lung [136]. CSF-1 signalling is therefore considered a potential target in breast cancer treatment and clinical trials are underway [135].

GM-CSF is involved in both macrophage and neutrophil function [470, 471] and is proposed to regulate activation of these cells during inflammation [472, 473]. Treatment with GM-CSF has been shown to reduce murine Met-1 mammary tumour growth and metastasis [474]. However, GM-CSF has also been suggested to promote metastatic breast tumour growth in bone [475]. Knockdown of GM-CSF by short hairpin RNAs in MDA-MB-231 human breast tumour cells or antibody-mediated depletion of GM-CSF reduced osteolytic bone metastases in a murine model of experimental metastasis [475].

In immunodeficient mice bearing human breast carcinoma cells, inhibition of the monocyte chemoattractant, CCL2, reduced metastasis to lung [476]. However, these mice did not have an intact immune system, which alone could have affected metastasis. In experimental models of metastasis, using human breast tumour cell lines, enhanced expression of CCL2 increased metastatic growth, and was associated with increased monocyte migration [477]. In another experimental metastasis study in the MMTV-PyMT model, blocking Ly6C^{high} monocytes either by anti-CCL2 antibodies, or using CCR2 deficient mice, delayed tumour cell extravasation into the lung [202]. However,

these experimental metastasis models do not encompass all the steps of metastasis. In this chapter, the effect of monocyte depletion on metastasis was studied in the context of spontaneous metastasis.

It is reported in this chapter that treatment with neutralising GM-CSF antibody does not alter tumour growth or metastasis, nor are blood monocyte and neutrophil numbers reduced with this treatment. Treatment with clodronate depletes Ly6C^{low}, non-classical blood monocytes and reduces metastasis to lung. Surprisingly, increased metastasis to the lung and spine is seen upon neutralisation of CSF-1R signalling. Neutrophils, and possibly Ly6C^{high} monocytes, are implicated in this enhanced metastasis.

5.2 Results

In Chapter 4 it was shown that increased mobilisation of monocytes was associated with metastasis. Given this, and data from other studies showing that inhibition of monocyte recruitment reduces metastasis to lung [202, 476], it was hypothesised that depletion of monocytes would reduce TAM numbers and consequently metastasis, and possibly primary tumour growth as well.

5.2.1 Treatment with clodronate liposomes depletes peripheral blood Ly6C^{low} monocytes and reduces metastasis to lung

Clodronate is toxic to cells but does not cross phospholipid bilayers easily; hence when encapsulated in liposomes, it is rendered harmless. Phagocytic cells such as monocytes can internalise clodronate liposomes [434]. Once inside the cell, the liposomes are degraded, releasing the clodronate, which then accumulates and destroys the cell [434]. Clodronate liposomes have been shown to deplete monocyte and macrophage populations without affecting neutrophil and lymphocyte numbers [478].

The route of injection dictates which monocyte or macrophage subpopulations are depleted; intravenous (i.v.) injection of clodronate liposomes depletes macrophages in the liver (Kupffer cells) and spleen [479], as well as circulating monocytes [304]. Subcutaneous (s.c.) injection of clodronate liposomes depletes macrophages in the draining lymph nodes [480]. Intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of clodronate liposomes

depletes macrophages in the peritoneal cavity, lymph nodes, liver and spleen, as well as circulating monocytes [481].

To assess the effect of monocyte depletion on 4T1.2 metastasis, clodronate treatment via the i.p. route was chosen. This route minimises any tissue damage due to multiple injections, as injections can be administered alternatively into the left and right sides of the peritoneum, whilst still depleting a number of different resident macrophage cell types, as well as circulating monocytes [481, 482]. Mice bearing 4T1.2 mCherry-expressing tumours were treated i.p. with clodronate liposomes every three days, from day 5 to 21 post-tumour cell inoculation. PBS liposomes and PBS alone were used for the control groups.

To determine how clodronate liposome treatment alters circulating monocyte and neutrophil populations, blood was collected 24 hours prior to the first treatment and 48 hours after the third treatment (day 5 and 16 post-tumour cell inoculation, respectively). Monocytes were defined as $CD11b^+Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high}$ or $CD11b^+Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{low}$ [303], and neutrophils as $CD11b^+Ly6G^{high}$ [8, 223]. Treatment with clodronate liposomes depleted $Ly6C^{low}$ monocytes in the peripheral blood compared to treatment with PBS liposomes and PBS (Figure 5.1A, P \leq 0.05). Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils were not affected (Figures 5.1B and 5.1C).

Treatment with clodronate liposomes did not alter primary tumour growth or endpoint weights (Figure 5.2), but significantly reduced metastasis to lung (Figure 5.3A, P \leq 0.05). Metastasis to spine was significantly reduced upon clodronate treatment compared to PBS-treated mice (Figure 5.3B, P \leq 0.05) but only a trend towards reduced metastasis to spine was seen when clodronate liposome-treated mice were compared to PBS liposome-treated mice (Figure 5.3B).

5.2.2 Treatment with clodronate liposomes does not alter end-stage peripheral blood and primary tumour monocyte/TAM and neutrophil/TAN numbers

End-stage TAM and TAN numbers were analysed to determine if treatment with clodronate liposomes altered the number of these cells in the primary tumour. Peripheral blood and primary tumours were harvested at day 28 post-tumour cell inoculation (seven days after the last clodronate liposome treatment). TAMs and TANs were characterised as described above for circulating monocytes and neutrophils. No differences were seen in end-stage Ly6C^{high} or Ly6C^{low} TAM or TAN cell numbers in primary tumours after clodronate treatment (Figure 5.4A-C), nor were there any differences in end-stage Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocytes or neutrophils in the peripheral blood (Figure 5.4D-F).

5.2.3 Treatment with neutralising anti-CSF-1R antibody increases metastasis to lung and spine

The anti-CSF-1R antibody, AFS-98, has been shown to deplete macrophages in atherosclerotic lesions [483], in renal allografts [484], during skeletal muscle damage [485], and in diabetic nephropathy [486]. Previous work in our research group at the Arthritis and Inflammation Research Centre reported that AFS-98 reduces macrophages in the steady state and during inflammation [224]. Kubota et al. have reported that AFS-98 treatment reduces TAM numbers in osteosarcoma [487].

Given the literature linking CSF-1 and TAM numbers with breast cancer metastasis [4, 136, 198, 230, 286], it was expected that treatment with AFS-98 would reduce metastasis, and potentially primary tumour growth, due to depletion of TAMs. However, treatment of mice bearing 4T1.2 mCherry-expressing tumours with AFS-98, although not affecting primary tumour growth (Figure 5.5), significantly increased metastasis to lung (Figure 5.6A, P \leq 0.01) and spine (Figure 5.6B, P \leq 0.05).

5.2.4 Treatment with neutralising anti-GM-CSF antibody does not alter metastasis to lung and spine

GM-CSF has been implicated in progression to advanced disease in cancer [475, 488]. It was therefore hypothesised that neutralising GM-CSF may also reduce metastasis in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice. However, treatment of mice bearing 4T1.2 mCherry-expressing tumours with anti-GM-CSF antibody (22E9) had no effect on primary tumour growth (Figure 5.5), although a non-significant trend towards increased metastasis was observed to both lung and spine (Figure 5.6).

5.2.5 Treatment with neutralising anti-CSF-1R antibody increases neutrophil numbers in the primary tumour and lung

Previous research from our group at the Arthritis and Inflammation Research Centre has demonstrated that AFS-98 treatment reduced tissue macrophages, but only the Ly6C^{low} monocyte subpopulation in the blood, both in the steady state and during inflammation [224]. Treatment with 22E9 was shown to limit increases in circulating Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils in a collagen-induced arthritis model [489]. Given the unexpected result with AFS-98 treatment for metastasis, and the trend towards increased metastasis upon treatment with 22E9, macrophage and neutrophil numbers were measured in primary tumours and lungs, following anti-CSF-1R (AFS-98) and anti-GM-CSF (22E9) treatment. Macrophages and neutrophils were characterised as described in Section 5.2.1.

Treatment with anti-CSF-1R antibody did not reduce TAM numbers (Figure 5.7A) but, surprisingly, increased TAN numbers in primary tumours (Figure 5.7B, P=0.02). A trend towards higher numbers of Ly6C^{high} lung macrophages was observed (Figure 5.7C) but neutrophils were markedly increased in lungs after anti-CSF-1R antibody administration (Figure 5.7D, P=0.001). Treatment with 22E9 did not alter TAM or TAN (Figures 5.8A and 5.8B), or lung macrophage and neutrophil (Figures 5.8C and 5.8D) numbers.

 5.2.6 Treatment with neutralising anti-CSF-1R antibody further enhances tumour-driven increases of circulating neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes

The unexpected increase in primary tumour and lung neutrophils (and perhaps lung Ly6C^{high} macrophages) following anti-CSF-1R administration may have been due to changes in cell trafficking. In Chapter 4 it was shown that peripheral blood neutrophils and monocyte subpopulations increased during 4T1.2 tumour progression in the absence of antibody treatment (see Chapter 4, Figure 4.1).

To assess the effect of anti-CSF-1R and anti-GM-CSF antibody treatment on these cell populations, blood was collected 24 hours prior to the first treatment and 24 hours after the fourth treatment (day 6 and 19 post-tumour cell inoculation, respectively). Monocytes and neutrophils were characterised as described in see Section 5.2.1. As reported in Chapter 4, the expansion of neutrophils, as well as Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocytes was again observed in the isotype control-treated tumour-bearing mice (Figure 5.9; P≤0.01, isotype control: pre- vs. post-treatment). Administration of anti-CSF-1R antibody further increased this tumour-mediated expansion of blood neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes (Figures 5.9A and 5.9B; P≤0.05, anti-CSF-1R vs. isotype control post-treatment) but not of Ly6C^{low} monocytes (Figure 5.9C). GM-CSF blockade did not further enhance tumour-mediated expansion of monocytes and neutrophils in the blood (Figure 5.10).

5.2.7 Treatment with the CSF-1R inhibitor, GW2580, shows a trend towards increased metastasis

GW2580 is an orally bioavailable kinase inhibitor of CSF-1R that binds competitively to the ATP binding site in the CSF-1R and prevents CSF-1R-mediated survival and proliferation of macrophages *in vitro* and *in vivo* [436]. The intracellular domain of CSF-1R is similar in structure to its other family members, but GW2580 has a high specificity for the CSF-1R compared to related kinases such as c-kit and Flt3 [436, 490]. Mice bearing 4T1.2 mCherry-expressing tumours were treated with 160 mg/kg of GW2580 daily, as this treatment regime was shown by Priceman et al. to have maximum bioavailability and minimal toxicity [435].

Treatment with GW2580 has been reported to reduce macrophage numbers in mouse models of autoimmune encephalomyelitis [491] and rheumatoid arthritis [492]. Priceman et al. reported that treatment with GW2580 depleted TAMs in mouse melanoma, as well as in lung and prostate carcinomas [435]. In this thesis, no changes were seen in 4T1.2 primary tumour growth over 28 days following treatment with the CSF-1R inhibitor compared to vehicle (Figure 5.11A), nor were there any differences seen in end-stage primary tumour weights (Figure 5.11B). However, a trend towards increased metastasis to lung and spine was observed following treatment with the CSF-1R inhibitor, but this did not attain significance (Figures 5.11C and 5.11D).

5.2.8 Treatment with the GW2580 CSF-1R inhibitor depletes Ly6C^{low} TAMs in primary tumours

Given the trend towards increased metastasis with the CSF-1R inhibitor, and the unexpected observation that AFS-98 treatment increased metastasis, macrophage and neutrophil numbers were measured in primary tumours and lungs following treatment with GW2580. TAMs/macrophages and TANs/neutrophils were analysed as described in Section 5.2.1. Treatment with GW2580 depleted Ly6C^{low} TAMs in the primary tumour (Figure 5.12A, P≤0.05) and yielded a trend towards increased Ly6C^{high} TAM numbers (5.12A). Therefore treatment with GW2580 may be inhibiting maturation of Ly6C^{high} TAMs into Ly6C^{low} TAMs. TAN numbers were not altered by treatment with GW2580 (Figure 5.12B), nor were lung Ly6C^{high} macrophage, Ly6C^{low} macrophage and neutrophil numbers (Figures 5.12C and 5.12D).

5.2.9 Treatment with the GW2580 CSF-1R inhibitor does not enhance tumour-driven increases of circulating monocytes and neutrophils

As mentioned previously, peripheral blood neutrophils and monocyte subpopulations increase during 4T1.2 tumour progression in the absence of antibody treatment (see Chapter 4, Figure 4.1). To assess the effect of CSF-1R inhibitor treatment on these cell populations, blood was collected 24 hours prior to the first treatment and 24 hours after the fourth treatment (day 6 and 19 post-tumour cell inoculation, respectively) and

monocytes and neutrophils were characterised as described in Section 5.2.1. The expansion of neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes was observed in the vehicle-treated group (Figure 5.13A and 5.13B; P \leq 0.05, vehicle: pre- vs. post-treatment). However, in this case, only a trend towards increased Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers was seen in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice without treatment (Figure 5.13C; vehicle: pre- vs. post-treatment).

This latter result is in contrast to the previous findings from Chapter 4 and what was observed upon treatment with the isotype control for AFS-98 and 22E9 (Figure 5.9C and 5.10C; P \leq 0.01, isotype control: pre- vs. post-treatment). However, this discrepancy could simply be due to the smaller sample size of the groups treated with GW2580 and vehicle, as a trend towards increased numbers of Ly6C^{low} monocytes was observed (Figure 5.13C; inhibitor vs. vehicle post-treatment). These group sizes were limited by the availability of GW2580. Treatment with GW2580 had no impact on the tumour-driven increases in circulating monocyte and neutrophil numbers (Figure 5.13). However, a trend towards reduced Ly6C^{low} blood monocytes was observed upon treatment with GW2580 (Figure 5.13C; inhibitor vs. vehicle post-treatment).

5.2.10 Enhanced expression of G-CSF in tumours increases metastasis Given the increases in systemic and tumour neutrophils reported following blockade of CSF-1R signalling in this thesis, it was hypothesised that enhanced recruitment of neutrophils in the 4T1.2 mammary tumour model would further promote metastasis. In a collaborative experiment with Dr. Yuan Cao, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, the weakly metastatic 66cl4 cell line was engineered to express increased levels of the neutrophil chemoattractant, G-CSF, and the effects on tumour growth, metastasis, as well as blood myeloid cell populations were analysed. The 66cl4 tumour cell line was chosen as it is weakly metastatic and any increase in metastasis would be more apparent than in the highly aggressive 4T1.2 cell line. The weakly metastatic C57BL/6-derived E0771 tumour cell line was also engineered to express G-CSF to confirm that any changes in metastasis or myeloid cell numbers were not specific to the BALB/c 66cl4 model. Dr. Cao engineered the G-CSF over-expressing cells and completed the animal work. I completed the analysis of myeloid cells at our research laboratory at the Arthritis and Inflammation Research Centre. Both 66cl4 and E0771 tumours engineered to express G-CSF showed a marked increase in G-CSF levels compared to empty vector controls (Figures 5.14A and 5.14B, P=0.0001). Enhanced expression of G-CSF in 66cl4 or E0771 tumour cells did not alter primary tumour growth or end-stage weights (Figure 5.14C-F). However, lung and spleen weights were increased in mice bearing 66cl4 G-CSF over-expressing tumours, (Figures 5.14G, P=0.02 and 5.14H, P=0.0001, respectively), which is indicative of increased metastasis [493]. A trend towards increased lung and spleen weights was observed in mice bearing E0771 G-CSF over-expressing tumours (Figures 5.14I and 5.14J)

To determine the effect of elevated G-CSF expression by tumours on circulating myeloid cells, blood was collected at end-point and monocytes and neutrophils were analysed by flow cytometry. Monocytes and neutrophils were characterised as described in Section 5.2.1. Circulating neutrophil and Ly6C^{high} monocyte numbers were increased in 66cl4-G-CSF-expressing tumours (Figures 5.15A, P=0.02 and 5.15B, P=0.01, respectively), whereas Ly6C^{low} blood monocyte numbers were not altered (Figure 5.15C). Elevated expression of G-CSF in E0771 tumours markedly increased circulating neutrophil (Figure 5.15D, P=0.001), as well as Ly6C^{high} (Figure 5.15E, P=0.0001) and, to a lesser degree, Ly6C^{low} blood monocyte numbers (Figure 5.15F, P= 0.02).

5.3 Discussion

In Chapters 3 and 4, it was shown that highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours promoted mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils from the bone marrow, resulting in increased circulating Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils, as well as increased TAMs and TANs in the primary tumour. However, it is unclear if these changes in tumour and systemic cell numbers are important for metastasis. In this chapter, it was reported that treatment with clodronate liposomes depleted peripheral blood Ly6C^{low} monocytes (Figure 5.1A) and that this was associated with reduced metastasis to lung (Figure 5.3A) and possibly spine (Figure 5.3B). It has been reported previously that treatment with clodronate liposomes reduced lung cancer metastasis to bone [494]. However, this was an

experimental metastasis model and, thus, did not include all the steps of metastasis. The 4T1.2 model is a spontaneous model of metastasis and this may explain why a significant reduction in spine metastasis was not seen following clodronate treatment (Figure 5.3B).

Blood Ly6C^{high} monocytes were not depleted upon treatment with clodronate (Figure 5.1B). This may be due to the relatively low dose used (50 μ l), as the resident peritoneal macrophages and the more phagocytic Ly6C^{low} monocytes [495] could have engulfed all of the clodronate liposomes first. This dose was chosen as, given the number of injections, higher doses proved toxic. It is possible that with a higher dose of clodronate, Ly6C^{high} monocytes would also have been depleted, as total blood monocyte depletion was achieved in another study where 200 μ l of clodronate liposomes were injected i.v. [304]. A higher dose was possible for the above study as fewer injections of clodronate were given than for the study in this thesis. However, highly aggressive 4T1.2 tumours markedly increase circulating monocyte and neutrophil numbers (see Chapter 4, Figures 4.1 and 4.2); thus the toxic effects seen upon clodronate administration may be due to destruction of large numbers of cells. In this regard, a better result may have been achieved with a less aggressive metastatic tumour cell line, such as 4T1 or 66cl4.

It is possible that depletion of both Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} blood monocytes may have a more profound effect on 4T1.2 tumour metastasis, as Ly6C^{high} monocytes increased in MMTV-PyMT metastasis-associated lungs, and inhibition of Ly6C^{high} monocytes via blockade of CCL2 reduced metastatic seeding at this site [202]. Treatment with clodronate liposomes can also reduce CD4⁺ T cell proliferation [496], and inhibit APCs [478, 497]. Hence the reduction in 4T1.2 tumour metastasis reported in this chapter after clodronate treatment may not necessarily be due to depletion of Ly6C^{low} blood monocytes.

Both end-stage Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM numbers were the same in clodronate and control treatment groups (Figures 5.4A and 5.4B). However, this was seven days after the last clodronate treatment. Treatment with clodronate liposomes has been shown to deplete TAMs in models of rhabdomyosarcoma [498], lung cancer [494] and melanoma [499]. However, in all these studies TAM numbers were analysed within four days of the last clodronate treatment and splenic macrophages have been shown to begin to re-

populate by one week after clodronate treatment [500]. Thus, it is possible that TAM numbers in 4T1.2 tumours were reduced during clodronate treatment, and re-populated after the last dose was given. Hence a possible effect on metastasis due to TAM reduction cannot be completely ruled out. Clodronate liposomes are viable for 2 weeks, after which they begin to degrade [482]. Since the aim of the experiment for this thesis was to investigate monocytes in metastasis, mice were treated from day 5 to 21 post-tumour cell inoculation to target key stages of the metastatic process.

Previous studies by our research group at the Arthritis and Inflammation Research Centre using the anti-GM-CSF antibody (22E9) found that neutralising GM-CSF activity limited increases in circulating Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils in a collagen-induced arthritis model [489] and reduced neutrophil numbers in a model of lung inflammation [501]. In this chapter it was found that treatment with neutralising GM-CSF antibody did not affect blood or lung monocyte/macrophage and neutrophil numbers (Figures 5.8 and 5.10), nor were primary tumour TAM and TAN numbers altered (Figure 5.8). Furthermore, inhibition of GM-CSF activity did not affect metastasis (Figure 5.6). This in line with a previous study using the 4T1 mammary tumour model, showing that treatment with GM-CSF neutralising antibody did not alter blood or lung neutrophil numbers and did not appear to be important for metastasis [8].

GM-CSF plays a key role in a number of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases [472]. However, in these settings a more 'pro-inflammatory' reaction is induced, contrary to the 'trophic, anti-inflammatory' reaction generated by metastatic breast tumours [265]. Thus, GM-CSF inhibition may not have any impact on the 'trophic-like' environment of breast cancer.

Surprisingly, anti-CSF-1R antibody administration, although not affecting primary tumour growth, enhanced metastasis of 4T1.2 tumours to both lung and spine (Figures 5.5 and 5.6). Furthermore, treatment of mice bearing 4T1.2 tumours with the CSF-1R inhibitor, GW2580, again while not affecting primary tumour growth (Figures 5.11A and 5.11B), showed a trend towards increased metastasis to lung and spine (Figures 5.11C and 5.11D). Prior to this report, various approaches disrupting CSF-1R/CSF-1 signalling in a number of solid tumour models resulted in suppression of growth and/or metastasis but never an increase in either parameter [136, 199, 293, 294]. In this

chapter, TAMs were not depleted by anti-CSF-1R treatment but (Figure 5.7A), unexpectedly, TANs were increased 3-fold (Figure 5.7B). The increase in neutrophil numbers was also manifested in metastasis-involved lungs and in peripheral blood (Figures 5.7D and 5.9A).

Tumour-driven increases in blood neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes seen without anti-CSF-1R treatment (see Chapter 4, Figure 4.1) could be actively contributing to metastasis. Neutralising anti-CSF-1R treatment further enhanced these increases in neutrophils in the blood (Figure 5.9A) and lung (Figure 5.7D), and possibly, as a result of this, further promoted metastasis. Additionally, increases in Ly6C^{high} monocytes/macrophages in the blood (Figure 5.9B), and possibly in the lung (Figure 5.7C), were further enhanced by anti-CSF-1R administration. An increase in Ly6C^{high} blood monocytes after neutralisation with AFS-98 was not observed in our previous study [224], but has been reported by another group after administration of a different anti-CSF-1R antibody (M279) in the steady state [502]. Ly6C^{high} monocytes have been implicated in experimental MMTV-PyMT tumour metastasis to lung [202], and hence may be involved in the enhanced metastasis reported after CSF-1R neutralisation in this thesis.

It is possible that depletion of monocytes or TAMs may have been achieved with higher doses of anti-CSF-1R or anti-GM-CSF antibodies. The doses used for the above experiments were guided by the analysis of the half-life of the anti-GM-CSF (22E9) antibody carried out by MorphoSys (Martinsried/Planegg, Germany), which revealed that a protocol of 150 ug of antibody administered twice weekly was sufficient to guarantee ample levels of antibody. Similar studies were not completed for the AFS-98 antibody hence a higher dose of 250 ug was chosen to ensure sufficient levels of antibody. These doses have been shown to deplete monocytes and macrophages with minimal cytotoxicity in our laboratory at the Arthritis and Inflammation Centre (Cook et al., unpublished data).

Elevated expression of the key neutrophil chemoattractant, G-CSF [503], in weakly metastatic 66cl4 tumours increased lung and spleen weights (Figures 5.14G and 5.14H), and, in E0771 tumours, yielded a trend towards increased lung and spleen weights (Figures 5.14I and 5.14J) and this was associated with increased circulating neutrophils

and Ly6C^{high} monocytes (Figure 5.15). Increased lung and spleen weights are indicative of increased metastasis [493]. These data support the concept that the increased neutrophil, and possibly Ly6C^{high} monocyte mobilisation seen after AFS-98 administration enhances 4T1.2 tumour metastasis. It would also be of value to assess G-CSF, GM-CSF and CSF-1 serum levels in mice bearing tumours of varying metastatic capacity at different stages of metastatic progression. In particular, assessment of serum CSF-1 levels in mice treated with the anti-CSF-1R neutralising antibody will give an indication of the effectiveness of the AFS-98 antibody.

Unlike treatment with neutralising CSF-1R antibody, treatment with the GW2580 inhibitor did not enhance tumour-driven mobilisation of monocytes or neutrophils (Figure 5.13) which could explain why a significant increase in metastasis was not seen following this treatment. This result with GW2580 treatment may also be due to the smaller group sizes in this study. Enhanced mobilisation of Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils, as well as a significant increase in metastasis with GW2580 treatment may become evident with larger sample sizes.

Treatment with GW2580 did, however, deplete Ly6C^{low} TAMs (Figure 5.12A), with a trend towards reduced Ly6C^{low} blood monocytes also observed (Figure 5.13C). It has been shown previously by another group that, after 14 days of treatment with GW2580, a significant reduction in TAMs, as well as monocytes in the bone marrow and spleen, and a trend towards reduced monocytes in the blood, occurred in a mouse model of lung carcinoma [435]. In this study, it was claimed that GW2580 affected only Ly6C^{high} monocytes and not neutrophils. However, Ly6C^{high} monocytes were classified as CD11b⁺Gr-1^{low}Ly6C^{high} cells, whereas CD11b⁺Gr-1^{high}Ly6C^{low} cells were considered neutrophils. Since Gr-1 labels both Ly6C and Ly6G, cells that are Gr-1^{high} by all rights should be Ly6C^{high} as well. Therefore it remains unclear whether GW2580 affected both monocyte subpopulations or only Ly6C^{high} monocytes in the above study [435].

A second ligand for the CSF-1R that shows functional overlap with CSF-1, IL-34, has been described recently [277, 278, 504]. Thus the possibility that the effects on metastasis seen upon treatment with CSF-1R antibody or inhibitor may result from inhibition of IL-34 signalling cannot be ruled out completely. However, the two ligands appear to bind different parts of the CSF-1R [504], and show differences in bioactivity

and signal activation; for example IL-34 and CSF-1 showed differences in their ability to induce production of CCL2 in macrophages, and IL-34 induced a stronger, albeit brief, phosphorylation of the CSF-1R [505].

5.4 Conclusion

Depletion of blood Ly6C^{low} monocytes by clodronate liposomes associated with reduced metastasis to lung. However, secondary effects due to inhibition of APCs and impairment of T cell function cannot be ruled out. Blockade of CSF-1R signalling increased metastasis to lung and spine and was associated with enhanced tumour-driven mobilisation of neutrophils, and to a lesser degree, Ly6C^{high} monocytes. Enhanced expression of G-CSF in weakly metastatic tumours increased metastasis to lung and this was associated with enhanced mobilisation of neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes. These findings provide evidence that neutrophils are also likely to be important in 4T1.2 metastasis, and it may be necessary to deplete both macrophages and neutrophils in order to successfully treat advanced breast cancer.



Figure 5.1: Clodronate liposome treatment depletes blood Ly6C^{low} monocytes.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with 4T1.2 mCherryexpressing tumour cells and treated every 3 days, from day 5 to 21 post-tumour cell inoculation, with 50 µl of clodronate liposomes (ClodLip), PBS liposomes (PBSLip) or PBS alone as controls. Peripheral blood was harvested via the tail vein at day 5 and 16 post-tumour cell inoculation (24 h prior to the first, and 48 h after the third treatment, respectively). Monocytes were characterised as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{high} or CD11b⁺Ly6G^{neg}Ly6C^{low} and neutrophils as CD11b⁺Ly6G^{high} by flow cytometry. Blood A) Ly6C^{low} monocyte, B) Ly6C^{high} monocyte and C) neutrophil numbers. Data are expressed as cells per ml of blood. Mean±SEM; *n*=20 mice/group. **P*≤0.05 ClodLip vs. PBSLip and PBS, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.2: Clodronate liposome treatment does not alter primary tumour growth. 4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated as described in Figure 5.1. Tumour growth was measured using electronic callipers and tumours were excised and weighed at end-point (day 28). Primary tumour A) growth (volume, cm³) and B) end-point weights (grams). Mean±SEM; *n*=20 mice/group.







Figure 5.4: Clodronate liposome treatment does not alter end-stage TAM or TAN numbers or blood monocyte and neutrophil numbers.

4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated as described in Figure 5.1. Peripheral blood was harvested via the tail vein and primary tumours were excised and disaggregated at end-point (day 28). Primary tumour TAMs and TANs, and peripheral blood monocytes and neutrophils, were analysed by flow cytometry, again as described in Figure 5.1. Primary tumour A) Ly6C^{high} TAM, B) Ly6C^{low} TAM and C) TAN numbers. Blood D) Ly6C^{high} monocyte E) Ly6C^{low} monocyte and F) neutrophil numbers. Data are expressed cells per g of tumour (A-C) or cells per ml of blood (D-F). Mean±SEM; *n*=20 mice/group. NS = not significant, two-way repeated measures ANOVA



Figure 5.5: Anti-CSF-1R and anti-GM-CSF antibody treatment does not alter primary tumour growth.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with 4T1.2 mCherryexpressing tumour cells and treated intraperitoneally every 4 days from day 7-21 posttumour cell inoculation with either 250 µg of anti-CSF-1R antibody (AFS-98), 150 µg of anti-GM-CSF antibody (22E9) or 250 µg of anti- β -galactosidase isotype control [224]. Tumour growth was measured using electronic callipers and tumours were excised and weighed at end-point (day 28). Primary tumour A) growth (volume, cm³) and B) end-stage weights (grams). Mean±SEM; *n*=15 mice/group.



Figure 5.6: Anti-CSF-1R antibody treatment increases metastasis to lung and spine.

4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated as described in Figure 5.5. Lungs were excised at end-point and disaggregated. Spines were excised at end-point, snap frozen and homogenised. Genomic DNA was isolated from lung and spine samples and tumour mCherry DNA measured by qPCR. A) Lung metastasis and B) spine metastasis. Data are expressed as relative expression of mCherry DNA (tumour cells only) to that of vimentin DNA (all cells). Mean±SEM; *n*=15 mice/group. **P*≤0.05. ***P*≤0.01 anti-CSF-1R vs. isotype control, NS = not significant, non-paired student's T test.



Figure 5.7: Anti-CSF-1R antibody treatment increases primary tumour TAN and metastasis-associated lung neutrophil numbers.

4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated with 250 µg of AFS-98 or isotype control as described in Figure 5.5. Primary tumours and lungs were excised and disaggregated at end-point (day 28). TAMs/macrophages and TANs/neutrophils were analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 5.1. Primary tumour A) Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM and B) TAN numbers. Lung C) Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} macrophage and D) neutrophil numbers. Data are expressed as cells per gram of tumour (A and B) or cells per gram of lung (C and D). Mean±SEM; *n*=15 mice/group. **P*=0.02. ***P*=0.001 anti-CSF-1R vs. isotype control, NS = not significant, non-paired student's T test.



Figure 5.8: Anti-GM-CSF antibody treatment does not alter primary tumour TAM and TAN, or metastasis-associated lung neutrophil and macrophage numbers.

4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated with 150 μ g of 22E9 or 250 μ g of isotype control as described in Figure 5.5. Primary tumours and lungs were excised and TAMs/macrophages and TANs/neutrophils were analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 5.1. Primary tumour A) Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM and B) TAN numbers. Lung C) Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} macrophage and D) neutrophil numbers. Data are expressed as cells per gram of tumour (A and B) or cells per gram of lung (C and D). Mean±SEM; *n*=15 mice/group.



Figure 5.9: Anti-CSF-1R antibody treatment enhances tumour-driven increases of blood neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes.

4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated with 250 µg of AFS-98 or isotype control as described in Figure 5.5. Peripheral blood was collected 24 h prior to the first and 24 h after the fourth antibody treatment (day 6 and 19 post-tumour cell inoculation, respectively). Monocyte and neutrophil numbers were analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 5.1. Blood A) neutrophil, B) Ly6C^{high} monocyte and C) Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers. Data are expressed as cells per ml of blood. Mean±SEM; *n*=15 mice/group. A-C) ***P*≤0.01 isotype control pre-treatment vs. post-treatment. A and B) **P*≤0.05 anti-CSF-1R vs. isotype control, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.10: Anti-GM-CSF antibody treatment does not enhance tumour-driven increases of blood neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes.

4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated with 150 µg of 22E9 or 250 µg of isotype control as described in Figure 5.5. Peripheral blood was collected 24 h prior to the first and 24 h after the fourth antibody treatment (day 6 and 19 post-tumour cell inoculation, respectively). Monocyte and neutrophil numbers were analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 5.1. Blood A) neutrophil, B) Ly6C^{high} monocyte and C) Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers. Data are expressed as cells per ml of blood. Mean±SEM; *n*=15 mice/group. **P*≤0.01 isotype control pre-treatment vs. post-treatment two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.11: CSF-1R inhibitor treatment does not alter primary tumour growth but shows a trend towards increased metastasis.

Mice were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland with 4T1.2 mCherryexpressing tumour cells and treated by oral gavage daily from day 7-21 post-tumour cell inoculation with 160 mg/kg of GW2580 or 200 μ l of vehicle. Tumour growth was measured using electronic callipers and tumours were excised and weighed at end-point (day 28). Primary tumour A) growth (volume, cm³) and B) end-point weights (grams). Lungs and spines were excised at end-point, spines were snap frozen and homogenised and lungs were disaggregated. Genomic DNA was isolated from lung and spine samples and tumour mCherry DNA measured by qPCR. C) Lung metastasis and D) spine metastasis. Data are expressed as relative expression of mCherry DNA (tumour cells only) to that of vimentin DNA (all cells). Mean±SEM; *n*=9 mice/group. NS = not significant, non-paired student's T test.


Figure 5.12: CSF-1R inhibitor treatment depletes Ly6C^{low} TAMs.

4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated as described in Figure 5.11. Primary tumours and lungs were excised and disaggregated at end-point (day 28). TAMs/macrophages and TANs/neutrophils were analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 5.1. Primary tumour A) Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAM and B) TAN numbers. Lung C) Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} macrophage and D) neutrophil numbers. Data are expressed as cells per gram of tumour (A and B) or cells per gram of lung (C and D). Mean±SEM; *n*=9 mice/group. **P*≤0.05 CSF-1R inhibitor vs. vehicle, NS = not significant, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.13: CSF-1R inhibitor treatment does not enhance tumour-driven increases of blood neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes.

4T1.2 (mCherry) tumour-bearing mice were treated as described in Figure 5.11. Peripheral blood was collected 24 h prior to the first and 24 h after the fourth inhibitor treatment (day 6 and 19 post-tumour cell inoculation, respectively). Monocyte and neutrophil numbers were analysed by flow cytometry as described in Figure 5.1. Blood A) neutrophil, B) Ly6C^{high} monocyte and C) Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers. Data are expressed as cells per ml of blood. Mean±SEM; *n*=9 mice/group. **P*≤0.05 pre-treatment vs. post-treatment, NS = not significant, two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.14: Enhanced expression of G-CSF in 66cl4 and E0771 tumours does not alter primary tumour growth but increases lung and spleen weights.

This experiment was completed by Dr. Yuan Cao at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre. 66cl4 or E0771 tumour cells engineered to express G-CSF were injected orthotopically into the fourth mammary gland of BALB/c or C57BL/6 mice, respectively. 66cl4 or E0771 tumours expressing vector controls were used for comparison. Tumour growth was measured using electronic callipers and tumours were excised and weighed at end-point. A) G-CSF levels expressed by 66cl4 \pm G-CSF tumours and B) G-CSF levels expressed by E0771 \pm G-CSF tumours. Primary tumour C) growth (volume, mm³) and D) end-stage weights (grams) for 66cl4 \pm G-CSF tumours. Primary tumour E) growth (volume, mm³) and F) end-stage weights (grams) for E0771 \pm G-CSF tumours. G) End-stage lung weights (grams) and H) end-stage spleen weights (grams) for 66cl4 \pm G-CSF tumour-bearing mice. I) End-stage lung weights (grams) and J) end-stage spleen weights (grams) for E0771 \pm G-CSF tumourbearing mice. Mean \pm SEM; *n*=5 mice/group. **P*=0.02, ***P*=0.0001, NS = not significant, non-paired student's T test.





This experiment was completed in collaboration with Dr. Yuan Cao at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre. Dr. Cao recovered the peripheral blood at end-point from mice bearing 66cl4 or E0771±G-CSF tumours (see Figure 5.14). I analysed monocyte and neutrophil numbers by flow cytometry as described in Figure 5.1. Blood A) neutrophil, B) Ly6C^{high} and C) Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers in 66cl4 ± G-CSF tumourbearing mice. Blood D) neutrophil, E) Ly6C^{high} and F) Ly6C^{low} monocyte numbers in E0771 ± G-CSF tumour-bearing mice. Data are expressed as cells/ml of blood. Mean±SEM; n=5 mice/group. A) ***P*=0.02, B) **P*=0.01, D) ****P*=0.001, E) *****P*=0.0001 and F) ***P*=0.02, non-paired student's T test.

6 Discussion

My thesis has investigated how macrophages/TAMs and their precursors, monocytes, influence mammary tumour metastasis, and if targeting these cells reduces systemic spread of tumours. Furthermore, the association between neutrophils/TANs and metastasis of mammary tumours was examined. This general discussion reviews the broad findings of this project and the impact that they could have on the classification and treatment of advanced breast cancer. The challenges remaining and strategies for further investigation of the contribution of these cells to metastasis are also considered.

6.1 Highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours enhance mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils

The results from this thesis showed that 4T1.2 tumours increased mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils from the bone marrow into the circulation, and this was associated with metastasis but not tumour growth and size. As discussed in Chapter 1, Section 1.6, confusion regarding the heterogeneity of MDSCs has impeded a thorough analysis of individual myeloid cell populations and subpopulations in metastatic breast tumours [206-208]. This thesis is the first body of work to include a comprehensive analysis of changes in monocyte/macrophage subpopulations and neutrophils during tumour progression.

6.1.1 Increases in TAM and TAN numbers are associated with tumour metastatic capacity

Ly6C^{low} TAMs were the predominant TAM subpopulation in tumours and their numbers increased with increasing metastatic capacity. A similar trend was seen for the less prevalent Ly6C^{high} TAM subpopulation (Figure 3.3A). Other studies have also reported Ly6C^{low} TAMs to be the predominant subpopulation in mammary tumour models [202, 225]. However, increased Ly6C^{low}, and possibly Ly6C^{high}, TAM numbers with increasing metastatic capacity has not been described previously.

The Ly6C^{low} subpopulation is often considered to be the more mature monocyte/macrophage population and it is thought that Ly6C^{high} monocytes convert into Ly6C^{low} macrophages as they infiltrate tissues and mature [304]. Ly6C^{high} monocytes have been reported to be the precursors for TAMs in murine mammary TS/A tumours [225]. Conversely, in studies of MMTV-PyMT tumours, Ly6C^{low} monocytes were preferentially recruited [202]. Hence, it is unclear whether Ly6C^{high} monocytes convert into Ly6C^{low} cells within tumours, or if they do so in the blood, and then migrate into 4T1.2 tumours. Since, in this thesis Ly6C^{high} TAMs were seen in primary tumours (Figure 3.3A), it is possible that the former mechanism takes place. To clarify this, tagged Ly6C^{high} monocytes could be adoptively transferred into mice with established tumours. The presence of tagged Ly6C^{high} TAMs in primary tumours would indicate that conversion from Ly6C^{high} to Ly6C^{low} occurs there. However, Ly6C^{low} monocytes were also observed in the blood of tumour-bearing mice (Figure 3.3B) and it is possible that Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocytes are recruited independently of each other. Intravital confocal microscopy imaging in real time could be used to determine the mechanism of monocyte recruitment to primary tumours. This technique was used successfully to track monocytes in the circulation [313], and also to track TAM and tumour cell co-migration within primary tumours [261, 506].

Both Ly6C^{low} and Ly6C^{high} TAM numbers were increased in primary tumours around the time that visible lung tumour nodules were first detected in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Figures 3.5A and 3.5B). It is therefore possible that Ly6C^{low} TAMs, as well as Ly6C^{high} TAMs (even though they are less numerous), may be involved early in tumour progression to metastasis.

TANs were the predominant myeloid cell population found in highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours, and were also increased in number around the time of visible lung metastatic nodule detection (Figures 3.1A and 3.5C). Thus TANs were also associated with metastatic capacity in the 4T1.2 mammary tumour model, and may be involved early in metastasis. Increased TAN numbers have been associated with poor prognosis in renal cell carcinoma [361], bronchioloalveolar and gastric carcinomas [6, 349], and melanoma [363], but this has not yet been shown for breast cancer. To the best of my knowledge this thesis is the first report of increased TAN numbers associating with metastasis in an animal model of breast cancer.

Increased neutrophil numbers have recently been proposed to be associated with an antimetastatic response in the 4T1 model (the parent cell line of 4T1.2) [201]. However, this accumulation of neutrophils occurred in the lungs, rather than primary tumour [201], and hence increased numbers of TANs in the primary tumour may still indicate poor prognosis in mammary tumour models. Analysis of TAN numbers in other mammary tumour models will confirm this.

A pilot study in this thesis indicated that TAMs and TANs isolated from highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours can increase growth of weakly metastatic 66cl4 tumours, whereas TAMs and TANs from non-metastatic 67NR tumours cannot (Figure 3.9). It has been reported previously by another group that Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells isolated from tumours and spleens of 4T1 tumour-bearing mice increased metastasis to lung when co-injected with 4T1 tumour cells, whereas 4T1 tumour cells co-injected with Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells from normal spleens did not [185]. However, Gr-1⁺ cells can be macrophages/TAMs or neutrophils/TANs. Given the data from this study, and the pilot study from this thesis showing that TAMs and TANs may affect tumour growth, it is possible that either TAMs and/or TANs can also influence metastasis. Analysis of the effect of co-injecting TAMs and TANs from highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours with weakly metastatic 66cl4 tumour cells on 66cl4 metastasis will determine whether or not TAMs and TANs can regulate metastasis. If TAMs are found to influence tumour metastatic capacity, it would also be of interest to investigate if Ly6C^{high} and/or Ly6C^{low} TAMs differ in their capacity to do so.

Furthermore, it appears that TAMs and TANs 'educated' by highly metastatic primary tumours retain this phenotype upon transfer into another microenvironment. It would be of interest to ascertain if there are phenotypic differences between TAMs and TANs from 4T1.2 tumours co-injected with less metastatic 66cl4 tumour cells (once the tumour is established) compared to TAMs and TANs isolated from un-manipulated 66cl4 tumours.

6.1.2 Increases in systemic monocyte/macrophage and neutrophil numbers are associated with metastasis

In contrast to primary tumours, $Ly6C^{high}$ monocytes were found to be the predominant monocyte subpopulation in the circulation. Highly metastatic 4T1.2 tumours markedly enhanced circulating $Ly6C^{high}$ monocytes and neutrophils and, to a lesser extent, $Ly6C^{low}$ monocytes, whereas non-metastatic 67NR tumours did not (Figure 4.1). Weakly metastatic 66cl4 tumours somewhat enhanced $Ly6C^{high}$ monocyte mobilisation at end-stages of tumour progression (Figure 4.1) As seen for TAM and TAN numbers, increases in blood monocytes and neutrophils in 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice occurred around the time that visible lung nodules were first detected (Figures 4.2A and 4.2C). Splenic neutrophils were also found to increase at this time (Figure 4.4C). Additionally, bone marrow $Ly6C^{high}$ monocyte and neutrophil numbers increased prior to the appearance of visible lung tumour nodules (Figure 4.3).

Ly6C^{high} monocytes have been reported to be recruited to pre-metastatic lungs in the MMTV-PyMT model [202]. However, preliminary experiments in this thesis have shown that neutrophils, rather than macrophages, increase in 4T1.2 metastasis-associated lungs (Figures 4.7 and 4.8). This is in line with a recent study using the 4T1 model showing that neutrophils, rather than macrophages, were important in metastasis to lung [8]. However, as neutrophils are typically the first cells to arrive at sites of inflammation and only early time points were analysed in this thesis, it is possible that macrophages may increase later in the lung and still contribute to metastatic tumour growth.

Both blood monocytes and lung macrophages have been found adjacent to tumour cells in the lung, and facilitated tumour cell extravasation and growth in models of Lewis lung carcinoma and melanoma [92]. Neutrophils increased melanoma cell arrest and extravasation through a fibroblast monolayer in an *in vitro* flow extravasation assay [422]. It would be of interest to determine if either Ly6C^{high} or Ly6C^{low} monocytes, as well as neutrophils, are found in close proximity to 4T1.2 tumour cells in the circulation or in metastasis-associated lungs, as they may also facilitate tumour cell extravasation and growth in this model. Little is currently known about the factors that are involved in the mobilisation of myeloid cells by tumours. Studies from this thesis revealed that pro-MMP-9 was increased in serum from mice bearing metastatic 4T1.2 tumours around the time of monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation (Table 4.1 and Figure 4.9A). MMP-9 is important in the reconstitution of bone marrow progenitor cells after bone marrow suppression [468] and it has been proposed that, after G-CSF stimulation, MMP-9 is activated and degrades CXCL12 in the bone marrow resulting in a gradient that causes egress of cells into the circulation [455]. It is possible that there is low level MMP-9 activity in the blood, or that MMP-9 is present primarily in the inactive zymogen form, pro-MMP-9, and upon G-CSF stimulation, MMP-9 have been reported in serum of BALB/c-neuT mice compared to serum from normal BALB/c mice and in this same study it was suggested that tumour-derived MMP-9 may be one of the factors involved in mobilisation of Gr-1⁺ cells from the bone marrow in tumour-bearing mice [451].

Based on the studies discussed above, and the data in Chapters 3 and 4, a model is proposed in which metastatic breast tumours generate an inflammatory reaction that mobilises neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes from the bone marrow. This occurs, at least in part, via degradation of CXCL12 by MMP-9 activity triggered by the presence of an aggressive tumour. Ly6C^{high} monocytes then either convert to Ly6C^{low} cells in the blood or in the primary tumour, ultimately amplifying TAN and Ly6C^{low} TAM numbers in primary that then promote tumour cell homing to distant tissues such as the lung. Increases in circulating neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes may also facilitate tumour cell migration through the circulation, and arrest, extravasation and growth at secondary sites (Figure 6.1).

In the c-erbB-2 (HER-2/neu) mammary tumour model, diminished MMP-9 expression was shown to reduce Gr-1⁺ cell expansion in the bone marrow and peripheral blood [507]. In the 4T1.2 model, MMP-9 is secreted primarily from stromal cells in tumours, and no compensatory increase in MMP-9 expression is seen primary tumour cells grown in MMP-9 deficient mice, despite 4T1.2 cells in culture having robust MMP-9 expression (Pouliot and Anderson, unpublished data). Analysis of monocyte and neutrophil numbers in bone marrow and blood of MMP-9 deficient mice bearing 4T1.2 tumours could be carried out to determine if MMP-9 is involved in mobilisation of cells

from the bone marrow during 4T1.2 tumour progression. If MMP-9 is important for mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils from the bone marrow in the 4T1.2 model, the absence of MMP-9 should result in a reduction in monocyte and neutrophil numbers compared to wild type controls.

6.2 Monocytes/macrophages as therapeutic targets

6.2.1 Clodronate treatment depletes blood Ly6C^{low} monocytes and reduces metastasis to lung

Treatment with clodronate liposomes depleted Ly6C^{low} monocytes in peripheral blood and this was associated with reduced metastasis to lung and possibly spine as well (Figures 5.1A and 5.3). End-stage TAM numbers were not reduced after clodronate treatment (Figure 5.4). This may be due to cell re-population, as the last clodronate treatment was given seven days prior to this measurement [500]. However, given that Ly6C^{high} blood monocytes were not affected (Figure 5.1B), it is also possible that they were contributing to TAM numbers in the primary tumour [304, 508]. Toxic depletion of both Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} blood monocytes may have a more profound effect on metastasis.

6.2.2 CSF-1R neutralisation enhances metastasis to lung and bone and increases neutrophil/TAN numbers

Previous studies have reported that CSF-1R/CSF-1 blockade reduces primary tumour growth and metastasis either alone [199, 292-294], or in combination with chemotherapy [136]. CSF-1 signalling is therefore considered a potential target for adjuvant therapy of breast cancer and clinical trials are underway [135]. In contrast, it is reported in this thesis that treatment with a neutralising CSF-1R antibody (AFS-98), while not affecting primary tumour growth, actually enhanced metastasis of breast carcinoma to both lung and spine (Figure 5.6). This was associated with an increase in TANs and metastasis-associated lung neutrophils, but not with a reduction in TAMs or lung macrophages (Figures 5.7). Treatment with a small molecule inhibitor of CSF-1R also showed a trend towards increased metastasis to lung and spine (Figures 5.11C and 5.11D).

The data in Chapter 4 indicate that tumour-driven increases in systemic neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes seen without treatment may be actively promoting metastasis. Treatment with the anti-CSF-1R antibody further enhanced these tumour-driven increases in circulating neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes (Figures 5.9A and 5.9B), and this may be contributing to the enhanced metastasis seen upon CSF-1R blockade. Along these lines, it has been suggested that neutrophils can acquire a 'metastatic phenotype' under certain conditions [411]. G-CSF mobilised Ly6G⁺Ly6C⁺ granulocytes enhanced 4T1 metastasis to lung [8] and Gr-1⁺ myeloid cells (which contain granulocytic lineage cells) can tip the balance to tumour promotion in the pre-metastatic lung [3]. However, the role of neutrophils in metastasis in murine breast cancer models is controversial with an anti-metastatic activity of lung neutrophils recently being proposed [201].

It has been shown that a unique population of cytotoxic neutrophils, termed 'tumour entrained neutrophils' or TENs, were induced by the primary tumour to accumulate in the lungs early in 4T1 tumour metastasis [201]. Depletion of neutrophils by treatment with anti-Ly6G antibody increased the number of metastatic events in the lung indicating that TENs were limiting metastatic seeding [201]. However, neutrophils were only successfully depleted until day 14 of treatment, thus a possible rebound effect resulting in the generation of cytotoxic neutrophils cannot be completely ruled out. Furthermore, metastatic growth eventually occurred indicating that TENs were insufficient to completely inhibit metastasis [201]. The primary tumour appeared to be protected from TEN-mediated cytotoxicity, possibly through the activity of TGFβ, which can suppress anti-tumour neutrophil responses [201, 412]. It was suggested by the authors that TENs were only effective in suppressing micrometastases, where $TGF\beta$ levels were low, whereas in large metastases and primary tumours, increased TGFB levels overcame the anti-metastatic properties of these cells [201]. Hence, neutrophils may play a dual role in metastasis, and, like macrophages, their contribution to metastatic growth is dependent on the complex milieu generated by primary tumours and metastatic nodules.

Further investigation of the contribution of neutrophils to 4T1.2 metastasis, and how primary tumours and metastatic nodules can affect the phenotype of these cells is required. Since Ly6C^{high} blood monocytes facilitate pulmonary metastasis in the

MMTV-PyMT transgenic mouse [202], it is possible that this major monocyte subpopulation may also contribute to the increased metastasis seen in the 4T1.2 model, given that a trend towards increased numbers with increasing metastatic capacity was seen and their numbers increased early in tumour progression (Figures 3.3B and 4.2A). Further investigation of these cells in metastasis is also required.

Treatment with the small molecule inhibitor of CSF-1R did not further enhance tumourdriven neutrophil and monocyte mobilisation (Figures 5.13A and 5.13B), and this may explain why only a trend towards increased metastasis was seen after such treatment. The differences seen between CSF-1R neutralising antibody treatment and the small molecule CSF-1R inhibitor may be due to differences in the mechanisms by which they inhibit CSF-1R signalling [509], or due to the extent to which they block signalling through CSF-1R.

Previous research completed in the Arthritis and Inflammation Research Centre, along with other studies, has reported that neutralisation with AFS-98 preferentially reduced the Ly6C^{low} subpopulation in blood and tissue in the steady state [224, 502] and during acute inflammation [224]. These findings are consistent with the notion that CSF-1 (and/or IL-34) acts later in macrophage lineage development [224, 502]. In these studies, an increase in Ly6C^{high} blood monocytes after neutralisation with AFS-98 was not observed [224]; although it has been reported by another group that after administration of a different anti-CSF-1R antibody (M279) in the steady state, an increase in Ly6C^{high} blood monocytes was seen [502].

The reason for the increased neutrophil numbers following treatment with the anti-CSF-1R antibody is unknown, although compensatory increases in neutrophils during infection in $Csf1^{op}/Csf1^{op}$ mice have been noted [510], and increased granulocyte numbers have also been reported with M279 treatment during inflammation [502]. Even though a reduction in TAMs was not seen, it is possible that their function is altered such that their influence on neutrophil trafficking in or out of the tumour has changed, or perhaps their ability to clear the neutrophils by phagocytosis is compromised [511].

Disposal of apoptotic neutrophils is an important step in resolution of inflammation [512] and macrophages are thought to influence neutrophil accumulation during

inflammation through phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils [511] and may even induce neutrophil apoptosis directly [513]. Blockade of monocytes/macrophages delays clearance of apoptotic neutrophils during inflammation [140]. Tumours have been described as 'wounds that do not heal' [514, 515] and TAMs (or at least some TAM subpopulations) are 'trophic'-like in nature [257]. Thus it is possible that TAMs are attempting to resolve tumour-mediated inflammation and are inhibiting TANs. Thus, depletion of TAMs may abrogate inhibition of neutrophil recruitment to tumours, resulting in increased numbers of TANs that are influenced by the tumour microenvironment to promote tumour growth and progression. In support of this, compensatory increases in TANs capable of promoting tumour development have been reported after TAM reduction in a model of ovarian cancer [426]. However, it is also possible that there is enhanced mobilisation of the neutrophils from the bone marrow. It was shown in Chapter 5 that increased expression of the key neutrophil chemoattractant, G-CSF, in tumours enhanced blood neutrophil (and Ly6C^{high} monocyte numbers) and promoted metastasis (Figures 5.15 and 5.14G-J, respectively), providing further evidence that mobilisation of these cell populations can enhance metastasis.

Previous studies inhibiting CSF-1/CSF-1R signalling in breast tumour models found a reduction in TAMs [136, 293, 294, 435]. It is not clear why significant reductions in TAMs or blood Ly6C^{low} monocytes were not found in the 4T1.2 model with anti-CSF-1R antibody treatment. This was unexpected as a similar protocol was used to that in the previous study from our research group where a significant reduction in Ly6C^{low} monocytes was observed within 4 days of a single injection of AFS-98 [224]. It is possible that a treatment regime commencing earlier in disease progression may result in reduced TAMs, metastasis and primary tumour growth. However, this study aimed to target metastasis using a protocol that reflects the limited number of options available for treatment of advanced disease. Beginning treatments earlier than day 7 would not have allowed delineation between possible secondary effects on metastasis due to disrupted primary tumour development.

Treatment with the small molecule inhibitor of CSF-1R, on the other hand, did deplete $Ly6C^{low}$ TAMs, with a trend towards reduced circulating $Ly6C^{low}$ monocytes also observed (Figures 5.12A and 5.13C). This is similar to what was seen in a lung carcinoma model where treatment with the same inhibitor reduced TAMs, and possibly

blood monocytes [435]. Given that clodronate-mediated depletion of Ly6C^{low} blood monocytes was associated with reduced metastasis to lung, it is unclear why CSF-1R inhibitor treatment did not reduce metastasis, especially given this reduction in Ly6C^{low} TAMs and blood monocytes. Decreased CD4⁺ T cell proliferation [496] and reduced APC numbers have also been associated with clodronate treatment [478, 497]. Thus it may be that the depletion of Ly6C^{low} blood monocytes by clodronate did not affect metastasis, but rather, reduced metastasis occurred due to changes in T cells and APCs. This may also explain why reduced metastasis was not seen after CSF-1R inhibitormediated reduction of Ly6C^{low} monocytes/TAMs.

In a previous study using the isogenic, weakly metastatic 66cl4 tumour cell line variant, stress-induced metastasis was suppressed by CSF-1R inhibitor treatment and was associated with a decrease in TAM numbers [516]. It is possible that the 4T1.2 model is more dependent on neutrophils for tumour progression to metastasis, and hence depletion of TAMs may not inhibit this process. However, it was reported in Chapter 5 that elevated expression of the neutrophil factor, G-CSF, in 66cl4 tumours enhanced blood neutrophil numbers and metastasis to lung (Figures 5.15A, 5.14G and 5.14H, respectively), indicating that neutrophils can also enhance metastasis in this isogenic tumour variant.

These data raise a cautionary note for the use of anti-CSF-1/CSF-1R therapy, even in an adjuvant setting, for patients at high risk of extensive metastasis. It may be prudent to attempt to stratify patients based on the properties and features of the primary lesions [136], such as myeloid cell content or aggressiveness, before undertaking CSF-1/CSF-1R therapy. Importantly these studies provide further evidence that neutrophils may be active participants in breast tumour metastasis.

6.3 Future research questions

6.3.1 Analysis of TAMs and TANs and systemic monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils in breast cancer metastasis may help to tailor treatments for advanced breast tumours

Inflammatory cells have been implicated in metastasis of breast tumours [152], and it has been suggested that analysis of inflammatory components in the tumour microenvironment may aid in better classification of aggressive breast tumours [46-48]. The studies from this thesis have shown that increased numbers of circulating 'classical' Ly6C^{high} monocytes and neutrophils associated with 4T1.2 tumour metastasis. Human monocytes have subpopulations corresponding to those seen in mice [298] and increases in circulating monocytes, in particular the 'non-classical' CD16⁺ subset , have been reported in breast cancer patients [326, 327]. At present, limited analyses are available for predicting the likelihood of metastasis; therefore it would be of value to determine if increases in circulating monocyte subpopulation numbers, as well as neutrophil numbers, associate with metastasis in breast cancer. This approach, in conjunction with current methods that include tumour size, grade, lymph node biopsies, hormone and HER2 receptor expression, may aid in diagnosing the tumours that are likely to and/or have metastasised.

Macrophages are influenced by the local environment and display a continuum of phenotypes of which the 'inflammatory' M1-like and 'trophic' M2-like macrophages are the extremes [437]. Recent studies have shown that TAM subpopulations differ in their gene expression profiles. For example, immature TAMs, most likely representing Ly6C^{high} TAMs, express pro-inflammatory genes, whereas mature TAMs, most likely representing Ly6C^{low} TAMs, express trophic genes [225, 257, 264]. Preliminary data in this thesis support this finding in that Ly6C^{high} TAMs appeared to express a more pro-inflammatory gene profile (Figure 3.7). However, these data need to be confirmed with analysis of further biological replicates. Furthermore, the studies described above reported that TAM subpopulation phenotypes appear to associate with the region of the tumour in which these subpopulations reside [225, 261, 262]. MHC II^{high} TAMs

TAMs expressed genes associated with wound healing (M2), displayed a higher proangiogenic activity and were found to reside preferentially in hypoxic regions of the tumour [225]. However, these MHC II^{high} and MHC II^{low} subpopulations were also $Ly6C^{low}$. Moreover, it has recently been shown that $Ly6C^{high}$ cells do not express MHC II [226]. It is therefore possible that the $Ly6C^{high}$ and $Ly6C^{low}$ subpopulations themselves are not associated with a specific phenotype but are influenced by the region of the tumour in which they are found, regardless of their Ly6C status. It would important to determine whether the $Ly6C^{high}$ and $Ly6C^{low}$ subpopulations preferentially reside in different tumour regions and if this relates to any functional differences, or whether they are found in the same tumour regions and display a similar phenotype based on the microenvironmental influences of the particular region they reside in.

Classification of M1-like and M2-like phenotypes via gene expression is not an ideal approach as macrophages display a phenotypic spectrum, and some of the 'classical' M1 and M2 genes do not cluster with M1-like or M2-like macrophages [517]. Rather than attempt to characterise Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs as M1- or M2-like, it would be better to identify genetic differences that may infer functional differences using these phenotypic extremes as a reference point.

Recently, a 'metastatic gene set' was identified in TAMs isolated from late stage MMTV-PyMT mammary tumours comprising of ARG1, VEGFA, CXCL4, CCL2, APOE, ADAM8, SCL16A3, CATHB, APOC, STAB1, ECM1, WNT7B and MMP-12 [257, 262]. It was somewhat surprising that MMP-9 was not identified in this 'metastatic gene set' as it has been implicated in breast/mammary tumour metastasis in a number of studies [92, 203, 204, 518, 519]. Analysis of gene and protein expression of the 'metastatic set' and of 'pro-inflammatory' mediators such as iNOS, TNF α , and IL-1, as well as 'trophic' factors, including IL-4, EGF and MMP-9, would provide a good foundation for further phenotypic analysis.

Given that both Ly6C^{low} and Ly6C^{high} TAM numbers increase early in disease progression, it would also be of interest to assess gene expression profiles of Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} TAMs earlier in disease progression. Such an analysis would allow us to assess if TAM phenotypes change over the course of disease progression, and if gene expression may be differentially regulated during metastatic progression. TAN numbers were also found to associate with metastasis in the 4T1.2 mammary tumour model. Given that few studies have assessed the role of neutrophils in breast tumour metastasis, inhibition of TANs by anti-G-CSF, anti-G-CSF-1R and/or anti-Ly6G antibody treatment, not only in the 4T1.2 model but also in other mammary tumour models, is required to confirm that these cells are necessary for mammary tumour metastasis. Furthermore, analysis of human breast tumours is required to determine if TAN numbers associate with prognosis in human disease. It has been proposed that neutrophils, like macrophages, display a phenotypic spectrum [411, 520]. Similar studies investigating TAN gene expression in tumours of varying metastatic capacity, as described above for TAMs, may prove to be informative.

Primary tumours have recently been shown to influence macrophages at distant sites [521, 522] and tumour cell gene expression profiles have been shown to differ between primary tumours and metastases [65, 66]. Therefore, macrophages and neutrophils at metastatic sites may express different genetic profiles to TAMs and TANs in primary tumours. Thus, it would be beneficial to investigate gene expression in macrophages and neutrophils at metastatic sites, since treatment targets arising from gene profiling of TAMs and TANs in primary tumours may be different to those found in metastases and may not necessarily inhibit metastatic tumour growth.

6.3.2 Targeting monocytes and neutrophils in advanced breast cancer Depletion of Ly6C^{low} monocytes by clodronate was associated with reduced metastasis (Figures 5.1A and 5.3), although Ly6C^{high} monocytes were unaffected by this particular treatment regime (Figure 5.1B). It would therefore be of interest to determine if specific depletion of Ly6C^{high} monocytes affects metastasis. In experimental models of breast tumour metastasis, enhanced expression of CCL2 in tumour cells increased metastatic growth in both lungs and bone [477] and inhibition of CCL2 reduced Ly6C^{high} monocyte recruitment to metastasis-associated lungs [202]. Depletion of CCR2 by RNA interference in mice bearing lymphomas resulted in reduced primary tumour growth and reduction of Ly6C^{high}, but not Ly6C^{low} TAMs. The effects of this therapy on metastasis were not assessed, nor were changes in blood or lung monocyte numbers investigated [523]. It would therefore be valuable to determine if anti-CCL2 and/or anti-CCR2

depletion of Ly6C^{high} monocytes and/or TAMs in the 4T1.2 mammary tumour model can impact on metastasis. However, given that CCL2 is also a chemoattractant for memory T lymphocytes and NK cells [524], and depletion of these cells may also affect metastasis, any anti-CCL2/CCR2 effects on T cells and NK cells would need to be ascertained. Furthermore, determining how depletion of both Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} subpopulations affects metastasis compared to depletion of either of these populations alone may yield more insight into their contributions to metastasis.

In this thesis, blockade of CSF-1R signalling was shown to enhance metastasis, and this was associated with increases not only in TAN (Figure 5.7B), but also in lung (Figure 5.7D) and blood neutrophil (Figure 5.9A) numbers. This is contrary to what has been reported in other studies where CSF-1/CSF-1R signalling has been inhibited [292-294]. However, in a recent publication by Denardo et al., treatment of mice bearing MMTV-PyMT mammary tumours with a small molecule inhibitor of CSF-1R signalling, or with an antibody targeting CSF-1, did not alter either primary tumour growth or metastasis to lung. Only when CSF-1/CSF-1R blockade was employed in conjunction with chemotherapy was a reduction in metastasis seen [136]. 4T1.2 tumours are more aggressive than the MMTV-PyMT tumours, showing extensive metastasis to several sites [432] and thus may respond differently to such treatment. Nonetheless it is necessary to determine if CSF-1R neutralisation can lead to increased metastasis and increased primary tumour TAN, and systemic neutrophil and Lv6C^{high} monocyte/macrophage numbers in other tumour models. It would be of interest to investigate if depletion of neutrophils can reverse the increase in metastasis seen upon CSF-1R blockade. Furthermore, it would be of value to determine if an inverse relationship exists between CSF-1/CSF-1R expression and TAN numbers in aggressive human breast tumours as it may be necessary to target both macrophages and neutrophils in order to successfully treat advanced breast cancer.

The acute loss of monocytes and tissue macrophages seen upon treatment with AFS-98 may reflect either direct antibody toxicity or clearance of monocytes/macrophages [509]. AFS-98 is a rat IgG2a which binds the MHC class I-related receptor, FcRn with high affinity [525] and this may result in destruction of cells via antibody mediated cytotoxicity [509]. The M279 antibody, on the other hand, is a rat IgG1 which binds poorly to FcRn and hence does not stimulate this kind of cytotoxicity [525]. To confirm

that the increase in metastasis seen upon treatment with AFS-98 is due to CSF-1R blockade, rather than any toxic effects on monocytes/macrophages, the same experiments would need to be repeated with M279 (or a similar monoclonal antibody), or with an anti-CSF-1 monoclonal antibody.

6.3.3 Targeting the cross talk between TAMs, TANs and other cancer-associated immune cells

The tumour microenvironment comprises a number of tumour-associated immune cells that create a signalling network capable of modifying immune responses towards the tumour. For example, the cross talk between NK or NKT cells and TAMs is important in mediating NK and NKT cell anti-tumour responses [526, 527]. In a model of neuroblastoma, TAMs in hypoxic tumour regions could suppress NKT cell activity [526]. Expression of IL-15 in NKT cells abrogated this TAM-mediated suppression, enhanced NKT cell destruction of TAMs and, as a result, reduced metastasis [526]. In another study, macrophages activated by Poly:IC, which is likely to induce an M1-like phenotype, enhanced NK cell anti-tumour cytotoxicity but were themselves protected from NK cell-mediated destruction [527]. This anti-tumour cytotoxicity of NK cells was dependent, in part, on macrophage secretion of IL-15, IL-18 and IL-12 [527]. A number of factors involved in NK or NKT cell activation were downregulated in the serum of 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Table 4.2). Hence it is possible that TAMs and NK or NKT cells are also functionally linked in this model, although IL-15 was upregulated in serum from 4T1.2 tumour-bearing mice (Table 4.1).

Given that TAM subpopulations appear to differ in phenotype, it would be interesting to investigate the cross-talk between NK and/or NKT cells and the different subpopulations. The enhancement of the M1-like phenotype seen in some TAM subpopulations [225, 264] may increase NK or NKT cell activation and lead to suppression of metastasis. Furthermore, such a treatment/therapy may result in destruction of M2-like pro-tumour TAMs, while the M1-like anti-tumour TAMs may be protected. The presence of a similar cross-talk between TANs and NK/NKT cells could also be explored. To treat metastatic disease effectively, it may be necessary to inhibit and/or enhance pathways within the signalling network generated by these tumour-

associated immune cells. Therefore, a thorough analysis of the relationships between different classes of immune cells associated with breast tumours and metastasis is required.

6.4 Conclusions

In this thesis it is reported that increases in both primary tumour Ly6C^{low} TAMs and TANs, as well as systemic Ly6C^{high} macrophages/monocytes and neutrophils were associated with metastasis in the 4T1.2 mammary tumour model of breast cancer. Furthermore, increases in these cell populations occurred early in tumour progression to metastasis. Thus it appears that more aggressive tumours escalate monocyte and neutrophil mobilisation, possibly via MMP-9, which in turn promotes metastasis. Further investigation of neutrophils, as well as Ly6C^{high} and Ly6C^{low} monocyte/macrophage subpopulations, not only in the primary tumour, but also systemically and at metastatic sites may yield novel targets to help classify and treat advanced breast tumours.

In contrast to previous studies, inhibition of CSF-1R signalling increased metastasis to both lung and spine, and this was associated with increased TAN and lung neutrophil numbers, as well as an enhancement of tumour-driven neutrophil and Ly6C^{high} monocyte mobilisation. These data indicate that caution is warranted for the use of anti-CSF-1/CSF-1R therapy for patients at high risk of extensive metastasis. Importantly, the above data also highlight the need to further investigate the contributions of neutrophils to breast tumour metastasis, as well as the functional relationships between macrophages/TAMs and neutrophils/TANs. Different tumour subtypes may recruit and utilise different inflammatory cell populations, and stratification of patients, possibly based on primary tumour TAM or TAN numbers and/or immune cell content, may better predict not only the likelihood of metastasis, but also response to therapy.



Figure 6.1: Proposed model for mobilisation of monocytes and neutrophils by metastatic tumours.

Metastatic breast tumours generate an inflammatory reaction whereby 1) CXCL12 degradation by tumour-derived MMP-9 mobilises neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes from the bone marrow. 2) Monocytes either convert to Ly6C^{low} cells in the primary tumour or in the blood. 3) The amplified monocyte and neutrophil numbers increase the number of TAMs and TANs which then 4) promote tumour cell homing to distant tissues such as the lung. 4) Neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes may also aid tumour cell migration through the circulation, arrest, extravasation and growth at secondary sites.

7 Bibliography

- 1. Cancer Council Victoria, 2007.
- 2. Bunt, S.K., et al., *Inflammation induces myeloid-derived suppressor cells that facilitate tumor progression.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(1): p. 284-90.
- 3. Yan, H.H., et al., *Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells tip the balance of immune protection to tumor promotion in the premetastatic lung.* Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(15): p. 6139-49.
- 4. Allavena, P., et al., *The inflammatory micro-environment in tumor progression: The role of tumor-associated macrophages.* Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2008. **66**(1): p. 1-9.
- 5. Aeed, P.A., M. Nakajima, and D.R. Welch, *The role of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN) on the growth and metastatic potential of 13762NF mammary adenocarcinoma cells.* Int J Cancer, 1988. **42**(5): p. 748-59.
- 6. Liu, H., et al., *It is possible that tumour-infiltrating granulocytes promote tumour progression*. Oncol Rep, 2009. **22**(1): p. 29-33.
- Strell, C., et al., Neutrophil granulocytes promote the migratory activity of MDA-MB-468 human breast carcinoma cells via ICAM-1. Exp Cell Res, 2010. 316(1): p. 138-48.
- 8. Kowanetz, M., et al., *Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor promotes lung metastasis through mobilization of Ly6G+Ly6C+ granulocytes.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(50): p. 21248-55.
- 9. World Health Organisation, 2006.
- 10. Sporn, M.B., *The war on cancer*. Lancet, 1996. **347**(9012): p. 1377-81.
- 11. MacMahon, B., *Epidemiology and the causes of breast cancer*. Int J Cancer, 2006. **118**(10): p. 2373-8.
- 12. Trainer, A.H., et al., *The role of BRCA mutation testing in determining breast cancer therapy*. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2010. **7**(12): p. 708-17.
- 13. Edge, S.B.B., D.R. Compton, C.C. Fritz, A.G. Greene, F.L. Trotti, A, *AJCC Cancer Staging Manual*. 2010: Springer.
- 14. Perou, C.M., et al., *Molecular portraits of human breast tumours*. Nature, 2000. **406**(6797): p. 747-52.
- 15. Dunnwald, L.K., M.A. Rossing, and C.I. Li, *Hormone receptor status, tumor characteristics, and prognosis: a prospective cohort of breast cancer patients.* Breast Cancer Res, 2007. **9**(1): p. R6.
- 16. Mazouni, C., et al., *Is quantitative oestrogen receptor expression useful in the evaluation of the clinical prognosis? Analysis of a homogeneous series of 797 patients with prospective determination of the ER status using simultaneous EIA and IHC.* Eur J Cancer, 2010. **46**(15): p. 2716-25.
- 17. Furnival, C.M., N.C. Hillyard, and I.R. Gough, *Oestrogen receptor assay in primary breast cancer: clinical validation and prognostic value*. Aust N Z J Surg, 1982. **52**(4): p. 403-8.
- 18. Chia, S., et al., *Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 overexpression as a prognostic factor in a large tissue microarray series of node-negative breast cancers.* J Clin Oncol, 2008. **26**(35): p. 5697-704.
- 19. Kallioniemi, O.P., et al., Association of c-erbB-2 protein over-expression with high rate of cell proliferation, increased risk of visceral metastasis and poor long-term survival in breast cancer. Int J Cancer, 1991. **49**(5): p. 650-5.
- 20. Varley, J.M., et al., Alterations to either c-erbB-2(neu) or c-myc proto-

oncogenes in breast carcinomas correlate with poor short-term prognosis. Oncogene, 1987. **1**(4): p. 423-30.

- 21. James, R., et al., *Clinical outcome of adjuvant endocrine treatment according to Her-2/neu status in breast cancer*. Indian J Med Res, 2011. **133**: p. 70-5.
- 22. Cooke, T., et al., *HER2 as a prognostic and predictive marker for breast cancer*. Ann Oncol, 2001. **12 Suppl 1**: p. S23-8.
- 23. Slamon, D.J., et al., *Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2*. N Engl J Med, 2001. **344**(11): p. 783-92.
- Smith, I., et al., 2-year follow-up of trastuzumab after adjuvant chemotherapy in HER2-positive breast cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 2007.
 369(9555): p. 29-36.
- 25. Press, M.F., et al., *HER-2 gene amplification*, *HER-2 and epidermal growth factor receptor mRNA and protein expression, and lapatinib efficacy in women with metastatic breast cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 2008. **14**(23): p. 7861-70.
- 26. Ward, S., H. Pilgrim, and D. Hind, *Trastuzumab for the treatment of primary breast cancer in HER2-positive women: a single technology appraisal.* Health Technol Assess, 2009. **13 Suppl 1**: p. 1-6.
- 27. Vogel, C.L., et al., *Efficacy and safety of trastuzumab as a single agent in firstline treatment of HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2002. **20**(3): p. 719-26.
- 28. Nishimura, R. and N. Arima, *Is triple negative a prognostic factor in breast cancer*? Breast Cancer, 2008. **15**(4): p. 303-8.
- 29. Hudis, C.A. and L. Gianni, *Triple-negative breast cancer: an unmet medical need*. Oncologist, 2011. **16 Suppl 1**: p. 1-11.
- 30. Onitilo, A.A., et al., *Breast cancer subtypes based on ER/PR and Her2 expression: comparison of clinicopathologic features and survival.* Clin Med Res, 2009. **7**(1-2): p. 4-13.
- 31. Miglietta, L., et al., *Clinical and pathological response to primary chemotherapy in patients with locally advanced breast cancer grouped according to hormonal receptors, Her2 status, grading and Ki-67 proliferation index.* Anticancer Res, 2009. **29**(5): p. 1621-5.
- 32. Jacquemier, J., et al., *Association of GATA3*, *P53*, *Ki67 status and vascular peritumoral invasion are strongly prognostic in luminal breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res, 2009. **11**(2): p. R23.
- 33. Arpino, G., et al., *Predictive value of apoptosis, proliferation, HER-2, and topoisomerase IIalpha for anthracycline chemotherapy in locally advanced breast cancer.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2005. **92**(1): p. 69-75.
- 34. Bouchalova, K., et al., *Triple negative breast cancer--current status and prospective targeted treatment based on HER1 (EGFR), TOP2A and C-MYC gene assessment.* Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub, 2009. **153**(1): p. 13-7.
- 35. Yang, Q., M.S. Moran, and B.G. Haffty, *Bcl-2 expression predicts local relapse* for early-stage breast cancer receiving conserving surgery and radiotherapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2009. **115**(2): p. 343-8.
- 36. Tawfik, K., et al., *Prognostic significance of Bcl-2 in invasive mammary carcinomas: a comparative clinicopathologic study between "triple-negative" and non-"triple-negative" tumors.* Hum Pathol, 2012. **43**(1): p. 23-30.
- 37. Allred, D.C., et al., *Association of p53 protein expression with tumor cell proliferation rate and clinical outcome in node-negative breast cancer.* J Natl

Cancer Inst, 1993. 85(3): p. 200-6.

- 38. Gruvberger, S., et al., *Estrogen receptor status in breast cancer is associated with remarkably distinct gene expression patterns.* Cancer Res, 2001. **61**(16): p. 5979-84.
- 39. Perou, C.M., et al., *Distinctive gene expression patterns in human mammary epithelial cells and breast cancers*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. **96**(16): p. 9212-7.
- 40. Sorlie, T., et al., *Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(19): p. 10869-74.
- 41. Jonsson, G., et al., *Genomic subtypes of breast cancer identified by arraycomparative genomic hybridization display distinct molecular and clinical characteristics.* Breast Cancer Res, 2010. **12**(3): p. R42.
- 42. Sotiriou, C. and L. Pusztai, *Gene-expression signatures in breast cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2009. **360**(8): p. 790-800.
- 43. Wirapati, P., et al., *Meta-analysis of gene expression profiles in breast cancer: toward a unified understanding of breast cancer subtyping and prognosis signatures.* Breast Cancer Res, 2008. **10**(4): p. R65.
- 44. Reis-Filho, J.S., C. Westbury, and J.Y. Pierga, *The impact of expression profiling on prognostic and predictive testing in breast cancer.* J Clin Pathol, 2006. **59**(3): p. 225-31.
- 45. Guedj, M., et al., *A refined molecular taxonomy of breast cancer*. Oncogene, 2012. **31**(9): p. 1196-206.
- 46. Alexe, G., et al., *High expression of lymphocyte-associated genes in nodenegative HER2+ breast cancers correlates with lower recurrence rates.* Cancer Res, 2007. **67**(22): p. 10669-76.
- 47. Teschendorff, A.E., et al., *An immune response gene expression module identifies a good prognosis subtype in estrogen receptor negative breast cancer.* Genome Biol, 2007. **8**(8): p. R157.
- 48. Tlsty, T.D. and L.M. Coussens, *Tumor stroma and regulation of cancer development*. Annu Rev Pathol, 2006. **1**: p. 119-50.
- 49. Liotta, L.A. and E.C. Kohn, *The microenvironment of the tumour-host interface*. Nature, 2001. **411**(6835): p. 375-9.
- 50. Fidler, I.J., *The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2003. **3**(6): p. 453-8.
- 51. Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation*. Cell, 2011. **144**(5): p. 646-74.
- 52. Chambers, A.F., A.C. Groom, and I.C. MacDonald, *Dissemination and growth* of cancer cells in metastatic sites. Nat Rev Cancer, 2002. **2**(8): p. 563-72.
- 53. Chaffer, C.L. and R.A. Weinberg, *A perspective on cancer cell metastasis*. Science, 2011. **331**(6024): p. 1559-64.
- 54. Mehlen, P. and A. Puisieux, *Metastasis: a question of life or death*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2006. **6**(6): p. 449-58.
- 55. Weiss, L., *Metastatic inefficiency*. Adv Cancer Res, 1990. **54**: p. 159-211.
- 56. Kim, J.W., et al., *Rapid apoptosis in the pulmonary vasculature distinguishes non-metastatic from metastatic melanoma cells.* Cancer Lett, 2004. **213**(2): p. 203-12.
- 57. Joyce, J.A. and J.W. Pollard, *Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2009. **9**(4): p. 239-52.
- 58. Karrison, T.G., D.J. Ferguson, and P. Meier, *Dormancy of mammary carcinoma*

after mastectomy. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1999. 91(1): p. 80-5.

- 59. Hynes, R.O., *Metastatic potential: generic predisposition of the primary tumor or rare, metastatic variants-or both?* Cell, 2003. **113**(7): p. 821-3.
- 60. Cairns, J., *Mutation selection and the natural history of cancer*. Nature, 1975. **255**(5505): p. 197-200.
- 61. Foulds, L., *The experimental study of tumor progression: a review*. Cancer Res, 1954. **14**(5): p. 327-39.
- 62. Fidler, I.J. and M.L. Kripke, *Metastasis results from preexisting variant cells within a malignant tumor.* Science, 1977. **197**(4306): p. 893-5.
- 63. Ding, L., et al., *Genome remodelling in a basal-like breast cancer metastasis and xenograft.* Nature, 2010. **464**(7291): p. 999-1005.
- 64. Klein, C.A., *Parallel progression of primary tumours and metastases*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2009. **9**(4): p. 302-12.
- 65. Becker, T.E., et al., *The genomic heritage of lymph node metastases: implications for clinical management of patients with breast cancer.* Ann Surg Oncol, 2008. **15**(4): p. 1056-63.
- 66. Katona, T.M., et al., *Genetically heterogeneous and clonally unrelated metastases may arise in patients with cutaneous melanoma*. Am J Surg Pathol, 2007. **31**(7): p. 1029-37.
- 67. Collins, V.P., R.K. Loeffler, and H. Tivey, *Observations on growth rates of human tumors*. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med, 1956. **76**(5): p. 988-1000.
- 68. Engel, J., et al., *The process of metastasisation for breast cancer*. Eur J Cancer, 2003. **39**(12): p. 1794-806.
- 69. Husemann, Y., et al., *Systemic spread is an early step in breast cancer*. Cancer Cell, 2008. **13**(1): p. 58-68.
- 70. Nguyen, D.X., P.D. Bos, and J. Massague, *Metastasis: from dissemination to organ-specific colonization*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2009. **9**(4): p. 274-84.
- 71. Virchow, C., *Cellularpathologie 1st edn*, ed. A. Hirschwalkd. 1858, Berlin.
- 72. Ewing, J., *Neoplastic diseases 6th edn*, ed. W. Saunders. 1928, Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Co.
- 73. Paget, S., *The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast.* 1889. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 1989. **8**(2): p. 98-101.
- 74. Hart, I.R. and I.J. Fidler, *Role of organ selectivity in the determination of metastatic patterns of B16 melanoma*. Cancer Res, 1980. **40**(7): p. 2281-7.
- 75. Psaila, B., et al., *Priming the 'soil' for breast cancer metastasis: the premetastatic niche*. Breast Dis, 2006. **26**: p. 65-74.
- 76. Kalluri, R. and R.A. Weinberg, *The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition*. J Clin Invest, 2009. **119**(6): p. 1420-8.
- 77. Thiery, J.P., *Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2002. **2**(6): p. 442-54.
- 78. Kalluri, R. and E.G. Neilson, *Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and its implications for fibrosis.* J Clin Invest, 2003. **112**(12): p. 1776-84.
- 79. Chaffer, C.L., et al., *Mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition facilitates bladder cancer metastasis: role of fibroblast growth factor receptor-2.* Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(23): p. 11271-8.
- 80. Jechlinger, M., S. Grunert, and H. Beug, *Mechanisms in epithelial plasticity and metastasis: insights from 3D cultures and expression profiling.* J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2002. **7**(4): p. 415-32.
- 81. Shi, Y. and J. Massague, Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell

membrane to the nucleus. Cell, 2003. 113(6): p. 685-700.

- 82. Niessen, K., et al., *Slug is a direct Notch target required for initiation of cardiac cushion cellularization.* J Cell Biol, 2008. **182**(2): p. 315-25.
- 83. Medici, D., E.D. Hay, and B.R. Olsen, *Snail and Slug promote epithelialmesenchymal transition through beta-catenin-T-cell factor-4-dependent expression of transforming growth factor-beta3*. Mol Biol Cell, 2008. **19**(11): p. 4875-87.
- 84. Kokudo, T., et al., *Snail is required for TGF beta-induced endothelialmesenchymal transition of embryonic stem cell-derived endothelial cells.* J Cell Sci, 2008. **121**(Pt 20): p. 3317-24.
- 85. Folkman, J., *Role of angiogenesis in tumor growth and metastasis*. Semin Oncol, 2002. **29**(6 Suppl 16): p. 15-8.
- 86. Weigelt, B. and M.J. Bissell, *Unraveling the microenvironmental influences on the normal mammary gland and breast cancer*. Semin Cancer Biol, 2008. **18**(5): p. 311-21.
- 87. Mantovani, A., et al., *Cancer-related inflammation*. Nature, 2008. **454**(7203): p. 436-44.
- 88. Peinado, H., S. Rafii, and D. Lyden, *Inflammation joins the "niche"*. Cancer Cell, 2008. **14**(5): p. 347-9.
- 89. Roy, L.D., et al., Collagen induced arthritis increases secondary metastasis in *MMTV-PyV MT mouse model of mammary cancer*. BMC Cancer, 2011. **11**: p. 365.
- 90. Das Roy, L., et al., *Breast-cancer-associated metastasis is significantly increased in a model of autoimmune arthritis.* Breast Cancer Res, 2009. **11**(4): p. R56.
- 91. Hiratsuka, S., et al., *Tumour-mediated upregulation of chemoattractants and recruitment of myeloid cells predetermines lung metastasis*. Nat Cell Biol, 2006.
 8(12): p. 1369-75.
- 92. Kaplan, R.N., et al., *VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche*. Nature, 2005. **438**(7069): p. 820-7.
- 93. Hiratsuka, S., et al., *MMP9 induction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 is involved in lung-specific metastasis.* Cancer Cell, 2002. **2**(4): p. 289-300.
- 94. Erler, J.T., et al., *Hypoxia-induced lysyl oxidase is a critical mediator of bone marrow cell recruitment to form the premetastatic niche*. Cancer Cell, 2009. 15(1): p. 35-44.
- 95. Bissell, M.J. and D. Radisky, *Putting tumours in context*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2001.
 1(1): p. 46-54.
- 96. Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *The hallmarks of cancer*. Cell, 2000. **100**(1): p. 57-70.
- 97. Nicolini, A., A. Carpi, and G. Rossi, *Cytokines in breast cancer*. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, 2006. **17**(5): p. 325-37.
- 98. Balkwill, F.R., *The chemokine system and cancer*. J Pathol, 2012. **226**(2): p. 148-57.
- 99. Keely, P.J., *Mechanisms by which the extracellular matrix and integrin signaling act to regulate the switch between tumor suppression and tumor promotion.* J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2011. **16**(3): p. 205-19.
- 100. Friedl, P. and S. Alexander, *Cancer invasion and the microenvironment: plasticity and reciprocity*. Cell, 2011. **147**(5): p. 992-1009.
- 101. Coussens, L.M. and Z. Werb, *Inflammation and cancer*. Nature, 2002.

420(6917): p. 860-7.

- 102. Lyden, D., et al., *Impaired recruitment of bone-marrow-derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth.* Nat Med, 2001. **7**(11): p. 1194-201.
- 103. Fukumura, D., et al., *Tumor induction of VEGF promoter activity in stromal cells*. Cell, 1998. **94**(6): p. 715-25.
- 104. Aboussekhra, A., *Role of cancer-associated fibroblasts in breast cancer development and prognosis.* Int J Dev Biol, 2011. **55**(7-9): p. 841-9.
- 105. Orimo, A., et al., Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. Cell, 2005. **121**(3): p. 335-48.
- 106. Iyengar, P., et al., *Adipocyte-secreted factors synergistically promote mammary tumorigenesis through induction of anti-apoptotic transcriptional programs and proto-oncogene stabilization.* Oncogene, 2003. **22**(41): p. 6408-23.
- 107. Dirat, B., et al., *Cancer-associated adipocytes exhibit an activated phenotype and contribute to breast cancer invasion*. Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(7): p. 2455-65.
- 108. Balkwill, F. and A. Mantovani, *Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow?* Lancet, 2001. **357**(9255): p. 539-45.
- 109. Sepulveda, A.R. and D.Y. Graham, *Role of Helicobacter pylori in gastric carcinogenesis*. Gastroenterol Clin North Am, 2002. **31**(2): p. 517-35, x.
- 110. Itzkowitz, S.H. and X. Yio, *Inflammation and cancer IV. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: the role of inflammation.* Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2004. **287**(1): p. G7-17.
- Zhang, G.H., M. Su, and D.P. Tian, *Effect of chronic inflammation-induced basement membrane changes on esophageal carcinogenesis*. Ai Zheng, 2005. 24(9): p. 1071-5.
- 112. Jackson, L. and B.M. Evers, *Chronic inflammation and pathogenesis of GI and pancreatic cancers*. Cancer Treat Res, 2006. **130**: p. 39-65.
- 113. Castle, P.E., et al., *An association of cervical inflammation with high-grade cervical neoplasia in women infected with oncogenic human papillomavirus (HPV).* Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2001. **10**(10): p. 1021-7.
- 114. Dunn, G.P., et al., *Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape.* Nat Immunol, 2002. **3**(11): p. 991-8.
- 115. Khong, H.T. and N.P. Restifo, *Natural selection of tumor variants in the generation of "tumor escape" phenotypes.* Nat Immunol, 2002. **3**(11): p. 999-1005.
- 116. Theoharides, T.C. and P. Conti, *Mast cells: the Jekyll and Hyde of tumor growth*. Trends Immunol, 2004. **25**(5): p. 235-41.
- 117. Dabiri, S., et al., *The presence of stromal mast cells identifies a subset of invasive breast cancers with a favorable prognosis.* Mod Pathol, 2004. 17(6): p. 690-5.
- 118. Rajput, A.B., et al., Stromal mast cells in invasive breast cancer are a marker of favourable prognosis: a study of 4,444 cases. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2008.
 107(2): p. 249-57.
- 119. Pinzon-Charry, A., et al., *Numerical and functional defects of blood dendritic cells in early- and late-stage breast cancer*. Br J Cancer, 2007. **97**(9): p. 1251-9.
- 120. Kichler-Lakomy, C., et al., *Deficiences in phenotype expression and function of dentritic cells from patients with early breast cancer*. Eur J Med Res, 2006.
 11(1): p. 7-12.
- 121. Sawant, A., et al., Depletion of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Inhibits Tumor

Growth and Prevents Bone Metastasis of Breast Cancer Cells. J Immunol, 2012.

- 122. Sisirak, V., et al., Impaired IFN-a production by Plasmacytoid dendritic cells favors regulatory T cell expansion and contributes to breast cancer progression. Cancer Res, 2012.
- 123. Ramos, R.N., et al., *Monocyte-derived dendritic cells from breast cancer patients are biased to induce CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells.* J Leukoc Biol, 2012. **92**(3): p. 673-82.
- 124. Zheng, X., et al., *Silencing IDO in dendritic cells: A novel approach to enhance cancer immunotherapy in a murine breast cancer model.* Int J Cancer, 2012.
- 125. Wang, B., et al., *Targeting of the non-mutated tumor antigen HER2/neu to mature dendritic cells induces an integrated immune response that protects against breast cancer in mice.* Breast Cancer Res, 2012. **14**(2): p. R39.
- 126. Qi, C.J., et al., *Autologous dendritic cell vaccine for estrogen receptor* (*ER*)/progestin receptor (*PR*) double-negative breast cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2012.
- 127. Koski, G.K., et al., A novel dendritic cell-based immunization approach for the induction of durable Th1-polarized anti-HER-2/neu responses in women with early breast cancer. J Immunother, 2012. **35**(1): p. 54-65.
- 128. Park, M.H., et al., *Alpha-Type 1 Polarized Dendritic Cells Loaded with Apoptotic Allogeneic Breast Cancer Cells Can Induce Potent Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes against Breast Cancer*. Cancer Res Treat, 2011. **43**(1): p. 56-66.
- Holt, D.M., et al., *Modulation of host natural killer cell functions in breast cancer via prostaglandin E2 receptors EP2 and EP4*. J Immunother, 2012.
 35(2): p. 179-88.
- 130. Mamessier, E., et al., *Human breast tumor cells induce self-tolerance mechanisms to avoid NKG2D-mediated and DNAM-mediated NK cell recognition.* Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(21): p. 6621-32.
- Mamessier, E., et al., *Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity*. J Clin Invest, 2011. 121(9): p. 3609-22.
- 132. Kohrt, H.E., et al., *Stimulation of natural killer cells with a CD137-specific antibody enhances trastuzumab efficacy in xenotransplant models of breast cancer.* J Clin Invest, 2012. **122**(3): p. 1066-75.
- 133. Lu, H., et al., *TLR2 agonist PSK activates human NK cells and enhances the antitumor effect of HER2-targeted monoclonal antibody therapy.* Clin Cancer Res, 2011. **17**(21): p. 6742-53.
- 134. Kelly, P.M., et al., *Macrophages in human breast disease: a quantitative immunohistochemical study.* Br J Cancer, 1988. **57**(2): p. 174-7.
- 135. Coussens, L.M. Komen: Enhancing Efficacy of Chemotherapy in Triplenegative/Basal-like Breast Cancer by Targeting Macrophages (2011) Cited in 2011. Available from <u>http://ww5.komen.org/2011researchgrants.html</u>. Available from: <u>http://ww5.komen.org/uploadedFiles/Content/ResearchGrants/GrantPrograms/R</u> esearchGrants/KG111084_rev.pdf.
- 136. Denardo, D.G., et al., Leukocyte Complexity Predicts Breast Cancer Survival and Functionally Regulates Response to Chemotherapy. Cancer Discov, 2011.
 1: p. 54-67.
- 137. Lee, C.C., et al., Sesamin inhibits macrophage-induced vascular endothelial growth factor and matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression and proangiogenic activity in breast cancer cells. Inflammation, 2011. **34**(3): p. 209-21.

- 138. Bekes, E.M., et al., *Tumor-recruited neutrophils and neutrophil TIMP-free MMP-9 regulate coordinately the levels of tumor angiogenesis and efficiency of malignant cell intravasation.* Am J Pathol, 2011. **179**(3): p. 1455-70.
- Kuang, D.M., et al., Peritumoral neutrophils link inflammatory response to disease progression by fostering angiogenesis in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol, 2011. 54(5): p. 948-55.
- 140. Li, P., et al., *Blocking of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 during tubulointerstitial nephritis resulted in delayed neutrophil clearance.* Am J Pathol, 2005. **167**(3): p. 637-49.
- 141. Jablonska, J., et al., Neutrophils responsive to endogenous IFN-beta regulate tumor angiogenesis and growth in a mouse tumor model. J Clin Invest, 2010.
 120(4): p. 1151-64.
- 142. Gordon, S. and P.R. Taylor, *Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(12): p. 953-64.
- 143. Mosser, D.M. and J.P. Edwards, *Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(12): p. 958-69.
- 144. Duffield, J.S., et al., *Selective depletion of macrophages reveals distinct, opposing roles during liver injury and repair.* J Clin Invest, 2005. **115**(1): p. 56-65.
- 145. Verreck, F.A., et al., *Human IL-23-producing type 1 macrophages promote but IL-10-producing type 2 macrophages subvert immunity to (myco)bacteria.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(13): p. 4560-5.
- 146. Mills, C.D., et al., *M-1/M-2 macrophages and the Th1/Th2 paradigm*. J Immunol, 2000. **164**(12): p. 6166-73.
- 147. Hagemann, T., et al., "*Re-educating*" tumor-associated macrophages by targeting NF-kappaB. J Exp Med, 2008. **205**(6): p. 1261-8.
- Mylonas, K.J., et al., Alternatively activated macrophages elicited by helminth infection can be reprogrammed to enable microbial killing. J Immunol, 2009. 182(5): p. 3084-94.
- 149. Stout, R.D., et al., Macrophages sequentially change their functional phenotype in response to changes in microenvironmental influences. J Immunol, 2005. 175(1): p. 342-9.
- 150. Ohno, S., et al., *The degree of macrophage infiltration into the cancer cell nest is a significant predictor of survival in gastric cancer patients.* Anticancer Res, 2003. **23**(6D): p. 5015-22.
- 151. Allavena, P., et al., *The Yin-Yang of tumor-associated macrophages in neoplastic progression and immune surveillance*. Immunol Rev, 2008. **222**: p. 155-61.
- 152. Mantovani, A., et al., *Inflammation and cancer: breast cancer as a prototype*. Breast, 2007. **16 Suppl 2**: p. S27-33.
- 153. Hamilton, T.A., *Molecular basis of macrophage activation: from gene expression to phenotypic diversity.*, in *The Macrophage*, B.a.L. Bourke, C., Editor. 2002, Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- 154. Mantovani, A., A. Sica, and M. Locati, *Macrophage polarization comes of age*. Immunity, 2005. **23**(4): p. 344-6.
- 155. Orlikowsky, T., et al., *Activation or destruction of T cells via macrophages*. Pathobiology, 1999. **67**(5-6): p. 298-301.
- 156. Gordon, S., *Alternative activation of macrophages*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2003.3(1): p. 23-35.
- 157. Ricardo, S.D., H. van Goor, and A.A. Eddy, Macrophage diversity in renal

injury and repair. J Clin Invest, 2008. 118(11): p. 3522-30.

- 158. Wynn, T.A. and L. Barron, *Macrophages: master regulators of inflammation and fibrosis.* Semin Liver Dis, 2010. **30**(3): p. 245-57.
- 159. Sindrilaru, A., et al., *An unrestrained proinflammatory M1 macrophage population induced by iron impairs wound healing in humans and mice.* J Clin Invest, 2011. **121**(3): p. 985-97.
- 160. Lucas, T., et al., *Differential roles of macrophages in diverse phases of skin repair*. J Immunol, 2010. **184**(7): p. 3964-77.
- 161. Fiorentino, D.F., et al., *IL-10 acts on the antigen-presenting cell to inhibit cytokine production by Th1 cells.* J Immunol, 1991. **146**(10): p. 3444-51.
- 162. Pesce, J.T., et al., *Arginase-1-expressing macrophages suppress Th2 cytokinedriven inflammation and fibrosis.* PLoS Pathog, 2009. **5**(4): p. e1000371.
- Herbert, D.R., et al., Arginase I suppresses IL-12/IL-23p40-driven intestinal inflammation during acute schistosomiasis. J Immunol, 2010. 184(11): p. 6438-46.
- 164. Savage, N.D., et al., *Human anti-inflammatory macrophages induce Foxp3+ GITR+ CD25+ regulatory T cells, which suppress via membrane-bound TGFbeta-1.* J Immunol, 2008. **181**(3): p. 2220-6.
- 165. Leidi, M., et al., *M2 macrophages phagocytose rituximab-opsonized leukemic targets more efficiently than m1 cells in vitro*. J Immunol, 2009. **182**(7): p. 4415-22.
- 166. Gratchev, A., et al., *Alternatively activated macrophages differentially express fibronectin and its splice variants and the extracellular matrix protein betaIG-H3*. Scand J Immunol, 2001. **53**(4): p. 386-92.
- 167. Kodelja, V., et al., *Differences in angiogenic potential of classically vs alternatively activated macrophages.* Immunobiology, 1997. **197**(5): p. 478-93.
- 168. Martinez, F.O., et al., *Macrophage activation and polarization*. Front Biosci, 2008. **13**: p. 453-61.
- 169. Mantovani, A., et al., *Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(8): p. 519-31.
- 170. Nathan, C., *Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2006. **6**(3): p. 173-82.
- 171. Williams, M.R., et al., *Emerging mechanisms of neutrophil recruitment across endothelium*. Trends Immunol, 2011. **32**(10): p. 461-9.
- 172. Cassatella, M.A., *Neutrophil-derived proteins: selling cytokines by the pound*. Adv Immunol, 1999. **73**: p. 369-509.
- 173. Kuge, S., et al., *Interleukin-12 augments the generation of autologous tumorreactive CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes from tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes.* Jpn J Cancer Res, 1995. **86**(2): p. 135-9.
- 174. Divino, C.M., et al., *Anti-tumor immunity induced by interleukin-12 gene therapy in a metastatic model of breast cancer is mediated by natural killer cells.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2000. **60**(2): p. 129-34.
- 175. Steding, C.E., et al., *The role of interleukin-12 on modulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells, increasing overall survival and reducing metastasis.* Immunology, 2011. **133**(2): p. 221-38.
- 176. Llanes-Fernandez, L., et al., *Association between the expression of IL-10 and T cell activation proteins loss in early breast cancer patients*. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 2009. **135**(2): p. 255-64.
- 177. Kozlowski, L., et al., Concentration of interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8) and interleukin-10 (IL-10) in blood serum of breast cancer patients. Rocz Akad

Med Bialymst, 2003. 48: p. 82-4.

- 178. Gangemi, S., et al., *Clinical significance of circulating interleukin-23 as a prognostic factor in breast cancer patients.* J Cell Biochem, 2012. **113**(6): p. 2122-5.
- 179. Voronov, E., et al., *IL-1 is required for tumor invasiveness and angiogenesis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(5): p. 2645-50.
- 180. Schmid, M.C., et al., *Combined blockade of integrin-alpha4beta1 plus cytokines SDF-1alpha or IL-1beta potently inhibits tumor inflammation and growth.* Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(22): p. 6965-75.
- 181. Menetrier-Caux, C., et al., *Inhibition of the differentiation of dendritic cells from CD34*(+) progenitors by tumor cells: role of interleukin-6 and macrophage *colony-stimulating factor*. Blood, 1998. **92**(12): p. 4778-91.
- 182. Salgado, R., et al., *Circulating interleukin-6 predicts survival in patients with metastatic breast cancer.* Int J Cancer, 2003. **103**(5): p. 642-6.
- 183. Leek, R.D., et al., Association of tumour necrosis factor alpha and its receptors with thymidine phosphorylase expression in invasive breast carcinoma. Br J Cancer, 1998. 77(12): p. 2246-51.
- 184. Sheen-Chen, S.M., et al., *Serum concentration of tumor necrosis factor in patients with breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 1997. **43**(3): p. 211-5.
- 185. Yang, L., et al., Abrogation of TGF beta signaling in mammary carcinomas recruits Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells that promote metastasis. Cancer Cell, 2008. 13(1): p. 23-35.
- 186. McEarchern, J.A., et al., *Invasion and metastasis of a mammary tumor involves TGF-beta signaling*. Int J Cancer, 2001. **91**(1): p. 76-82.
- 187. Tiwari, R.K., et al., *Interferon-alpha and gamma mediated gene responses in a human breast carcinoma cell line*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 1991. 18(1): p. 33-41.
- 188. Pulaski, B.A., M.J. Smyth, and S. Ostrand-Rosenberg, *Interferon-gammadependent phagocytic cells are a critical component of innate immunity against metastatic mammary carcinoma.* Cancer Res, 2002. **62**(15): p. 4406-12.
- 189. Menon, C., et al., *Tumoricidal activity of high-dose tumor necrosis factor-alpha is mediated by macrophage-derived nitric oxide burst and permanent blood flow shutdown*. Int J Cancer, 2008. **123**(2): p. 464-75.
- 190. Sinha, P., V.K. Clements, and S. Ostrand-Rosenberg, *Reduction of myeloidderived suppressor cells and induction of M1 macrophages facilitate the rejection of established metastatic disease.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(2): p. 636-45.
- 191. Rodriguez, P.C., et al., Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses. Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(16): p. 5839-49.
- 192. Gal, A. and G.N. Wogan, *Mutagenesis associated with nitric oxide production in transgenic SJL mice*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(26): p. 15102-7.
- 193. Schmielau, J. and O.J. Finn, *Activated granulocytes and granulocyte-derived hydrogen peroxide are the underlying mechanism of suppression of t-cell function in advanced cancer patients.* Cancer Res, 2001. **61**(12): p. 4756-60.
- 194. Lewis, J.S., et al., *Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by macrophages is up-regulated in poorly vascularized areas of breast carcinomas.* J Pathol, 2000. **192**(2): p. 150-8.
- 195. Chrysogelos, S.A. and R.B. Dickson, *EGF receptor expression, regulation, and function in breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 1994. **29**(1): p. 29-40.
- 196. Goswami, S., et al., Macrophages promote the invasion of breast carcinoma

cells via a colony-stimulating factor-1/epidermal growth factor paracrine loop. Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(12): p. 5278-83.

- 197. Kang, H., et al., Stromal cell derived factor-1: its influence on invasiveness and migration of breast cancer cells in vitro, and its association with prognosis and survival in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res, 2005. **7**(4): p. R402-10.
- 198. Scholl, S.M., et al., *Anti-colony-stimulating factor-1 antibody staining in primary breast adenocarcinomas correlates with marked inflammatory cell infiltrates and prognosis.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 1994. **86**(2): p. 120-6.
- 199. Lin, E.Y., et al., *Colony-stimulating factor 1 promotes progression of mammary tumors to malignancy*. J Exp Med, 2001. **193**(6): p. 727-40.
- 200. Roy, V. and E.A. Perez, *Biologic therapy of breast cancer: focus on coinhibition of endocrine and angiogenesis pathways.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2009. **116**(1): p. 31-8.
- 201. Granot, Z., et al., *Tumor entrained neutrophils inhibit seeding in the premetastatic lung*. Cancer Cell, 2011. **20**(3): p. 300-14.
- 202. Qian, B.Z., et al., *CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis.* Nature, 2011. **475**(7355): p. 222-5.
- 203. Raghu, H., et al., *Localization of uPAR and MMP-9 in lipid rafts is critical for migration, invasion and angiogenesis in human breast cancer cells.* BMC Cancer, 2010. **10**: p. 647.
- 204. Tester, A.M., et al., MMP-9 secretion and MMP-2 activation distinguish invasive and metastatic sublines of a mouse mammary carcinoma system showing epithelial-mesenchymal transition traits. Clin Exp Metastasis, 2000. 18(7): p. 553-60.
- 205. Shamamian, P., et al., *Activation of progelatinase A (MMP-2) by neutrophil elastase, cathepsin G, and proteinase-3: a role for inflammatory cells in tumor invasion and angiogenesis.* J Cell Physiol, 2001. **189**(2): p. 197-206.
- 206. Gabrilovich, D.I., et al., *The terminology issue for myeloid-derived suppressor cells*. Cancer Res, 2007. **67**(1): p. 425; author reply 426.
- 207. Movahedi, K., et al., *Identification of discrete tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell subpopulations with distinct T cell-suppressive activity.* Blood, 2008. **111**(8): p. 4233-44.
- 208. Bronte, V., et al., *Identification of a CD11b+/Gr-1+/CD31+ myeloid progenitor capable of activating or suppressing CD8+ T cells*. Blood, 2000. **96**(12): p. 3838-46.
- 209. Serafini, P., et al., *Myeloid-derived suppressor cells promote cross-tolerance in B-cell lymphoma by expanding regulatory T cells.* Cancer Res, 2008. **68**(13): p. 5439-49.
- 210. Rotondo, R., et al., *IL-8 induces exocytosis of arginase 1 by neutrophil polymorphonuclears in nonsmall cell lung cancer*. Int J Cancer, 2009. **125**(4): p. 887-93.
- 211. Coffelt, S.B., et al., Angiopoietin 2 stimulates TIE2-expressing monocytes to suppress T cell activation and to promote regulatory T cell expansion. J Immunol, 2011. 186(7): p. 4183-90.
- 212. Pan, P.Y., et al., *Immune stimulatory receptor CD40 is required for T-cell suppression and T regulatory cell activation mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer.* Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(1): p. 99-108.
- 213. Huang, B., et al., *Gr-1+CD115+ immature myeloid suppressor cells mediate the development of tumor-induced T regulatory cells and T-cell anergy in tumor-bearing host.* Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(2): p. 1123-31.

- Almand, B., et al., Increased production of immature myeloid cells in cancer patients: a mechanism of immunosuppression in cancer. J Immunol, 2001.
 166(1): p. 678-89.
- 215. Bronte, V., et al., Unopposed production of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor by tumors inhibits CD8+ T cell responses by dysregulating antigen-presenting cell maturation. J Immunol, 1999. **162**(10): p. 5728-37.
- 216. Ramaswamy, B., et al., *Estrogen-mediated suppression of the gene encoding protein tyrosine phosphatase PTPRO in human breast cancer: mechanism and role in tamoxifen sensitivity.* Mol Endocrinol, 2009. **23**(2): p. 176-87.
- 217. Metcalfe, K.A., et al., *Breast cancer risks in women with a family history of breast or ovarian cancer who have tested negative for a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation.* Br J Cancer, 2009. **100**(2): p. 421-5.
- 218. Sawanobori, Y., et al., *Chemokine-mediated rapid turnover of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice*. Blood, 2008. **111**(12): p. 5457-66.
- 219. Youn, J.I., et al., *Subsets of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice*. J Immunol, 2008. **181**(8): p. 5791-802.
- 220. Augier, S., et al., *Inflammatory blood monocytes contribute to tumor development and represent a privileged target to improve host immunosurveillance*. J Immunol, 2010. **185**(12): p. 7165-73.
- 221. Kusmartsev, S. and D.I. Gabrilovich, *STAT1 signaling regulates tumorassociated macrophage-mediated T cell deletion*. J Immunol, 2005. **174**(8): p. 4880-91.
- Yang, L., et al., Expansion of myeloid immune suppressor Gr+CD11b+ cells in tumor-bearing host directly promotes tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Cell, 2004. 6(4): p. 409-21.
- 223. Fleming, T.J., M.L. Fleming, and T.R. Malek, Selective expression of Ly-6G on myeloid lineage cells in mouse bone marrow. RB6-8C5 mAb to granulocytedifferentiation antigen (Gr-1) detects members of the Ly-6 family. J Immunol, 1993. 151(5): p. 2399-408.
- 224. Lenzo, J.C., et al., *Control of macrophage lineage populations by CSF-1* receptor and GM-CSF in homeostasis and inflammation. Immunol Cell Biol, 2011.
- 225. Movahedi, K., et al., *Different tumor microenvironments contain functionally distinct subsets of macrophages derived from Ly6C(high) monocytes.* Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(14): p. 5728-39.
- 226. Rose, S., A. Misharin, and H. Perlman, *A novel Ly6C/Ly6G-based strategy to analyze the mouse splenic myeloid compartment*. Cytometry A, 2012. **81**(4): p. 343-50.
- 227. Bao, Y. and X. Cao, *Revisiting the protective and pathogenic roles of neutrophils: Ly-6G is key!* Eur J Immunol, 2011. **41**(9): p. 2535-8.
- 228. Carr, K.D., et al., Specific depletion reveals a novel role for neutrophil-mediated protection in the liver during Listeria monocytogenes infection. Eur J Immunol, 2011. **41**(9): p. 2666-76.
- 229. Underwood, J.C., *Lymphoreticular infiltration in human tumours: prognostic and biological implications: a review.* Br J Cancer, 1974. **30**(6): p. 538-48.
- 230. Pollard, J.W., *Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2004. **4**(1): p. 71-8.
- 231. Mantovani, A., et al., *Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes*. Trends Immunol, 2002. **23**(11): p. 549-55.

- 232. Condeelis, J. and J.W. Pollard, *Macrophages: obligate partners for tumor cell migration, invasion, and metastasis.* Cell, 2006. **124**(2): p. 263-6.
- Bingle, L., N.J. Brown, and C.E. Lewis, *The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies*. J Pathol, 2002. **196**(3): p. 254-65.
- 234. Bolat, F., et al., *Microvessel density, VEGF expression, and tumor-associated macrophages in breast tumors: correlations with prognostic parameters.* J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 2006. **25**(3): p. 365-72.
- 235. Tsutsui, S., et al., *Macrophage infiltration and its prognostic implications in breast cancer: the relationship with VEGF expression and microvessel density.* Oncol Rep, 2005. **14**(2): p. 425-31.
- 236. Paik, S., et al., *A multigene assay to predict recurrence of tamoxifen-treated, node-negative breast cancer.* N Engl J Med, 2004. **351**(27): p. 2817-26.
- 237. Ruohola, J.K., et al., *Enhanced invasion and tumor growth of fibroblast growth factor 8b-overexpressing MCF-7 human breast cancer cells*. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(10): p. 4229-37.
- 238. Leal, J.A., et al., *Human mammary tumor cell proliferation: primary role of platelet-derived growth factor and possible synergism with human alpha-fetoprotein.* Steroids, 1991. **56**(5): p. 247-51.
- 239. Wyckoff, J.B., J.E. Segall, and J.S. Condeelis, *The collection of the motile population of cells from a living tumor*. Cancer Res, 2000. **60**(19): p. 5401-4.
- 240. O'Sullivan, C., et al., *Secretion of epidermal growth factor by macrophages associated with breast carcinoma*. Lancet, 1993. **342**(8864): p. 148-9.
- 241. Folkman, J., *Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications*. N Engl J Med, 1971. **285**(21): p. 1182-6.
- 242. Bergers, G. and L.E. Benjamin, *Tumorigenesis and the angiogenic switch*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2003. **3**(6): p. 401-10.
- 243. Sunderkotter, C., et al., *Macrophage-derived angiogenesis factors*. Pharmacol Ther, 1991. **51**(2): p. 195-216.
- 244. Saji, H., et al., Significant correlation of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression with neovascularization and progression of breast carcinoma. Cancer, 2001. **92**(5): p. 1085-91.
- 245. Engels, K., et al., *Up-regulation of thymidine phosphorylase expression is associated with a discrete pattern of angiogenesis in ductal carcinomas in situ of the breast.* J Pathol, 1997. **182**(4): p. 414-20.
- 246. Turner, L., et al., *Hypoxia inhibits macrophage migration*. Eur J Immunol, 1999. **29**(7): p. 2280-7.
- 247. Leek, R.D., et al., *Association of macrophage infiltration with angiogenesis and prognosis in invasive breast carcinoma.* Cancer Res, 1996. **56**(20): p. 4625-9.
- 248. Harmey, J.H., et al., *Regulation of macrophage production of vascular* endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by hypoxia and transforming growth factor beta-1. Ann Surg Oncol, 1998. **5**(3): p. 271-8.
- 249. Leek, R.D., et al., *Relation of hypoxia-inducible factor-2 alpha (HIF-2 alpha)* expression in tumor-infiltrative macrophages to tumor angiogenesis and the oxidative thymidine phosphorylase pathway in Human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 2002. **62**(5): p. 1326-9.
- 250. Lin, E.Y., et al., *Macrophages regulate the angiogenic switch in a mouse model* of breast cancer. Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(23): p. 11238-46.
- 251. Vlodavsky, I., et al., *Extracellular matrix-resident basic fibroblast growth factor: implication for the control of angiogenesis.* J Cell Biochem, 1991. **45**(2):

p. 167-76.

- 252. Hagemann, T., et al., Enhanced invasiveness of breast cancer cell lines upon cocultivation with macrophages is due to TNF-alpha dependent up-regulation of matrix metalloproteases. Carcinogenesis, 2004. **25**(8): p. 1543-9.
- 253. Steinbrink, K., et al., *Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells*. J Immunol, 1997. **159**(10): p. 4772-80.
- 254. Halak, B.K., H.C. Maguire, Jr., and E.C. Lattime, *Tumor-induced interleukin-10 inhibits type 1 immune responses directed at a tumor antigen as well as a non-tumor antigen present at the tumor site.* Cancer Res, 1999. **59**(4): p. 911-7.
- 255. Allavena, P., et al., *IL-10 prevents the differentiation of monocytes to dendritic cells but promotes their maturation to macrophages*. Eur J Immunol, 1998.
 28(1): p. 359-69.
- 256. Doedens, A.L., et al., *Macrophage expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha suppresses T-cell function and promotes tumor progression.* Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(19): p. 7465-75.
- 257. Ojalvo, L.S., et al., *High-density gene expression analysis of tumor-associated macrophages from mouse mammary tumors*. Am J Pathol, 2009. **174**(3): p. 1048-64.
- 258. Pucci, F., et al., A distinguishing gene signature shared by tumor-infiltrating Tie2-expressing monocytes, blood "resident" monocytes, and embryonic macrophages suggests common functions and developmental relationships. Blood, 2009. **114**(4): p. 901-14.
- 259. Van Ginderachter, J.A., et al., Classical and alternative activation of mononuclear phagocytes: picking the best of both worlds for tumor promotion. Immunobiology, 2006. 211(6-8): p. 487-501.
- 260. Lewis, C.E. and J.W. Pollard, *Distinct role of macrophages in different tumor microenvironments*. Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(2): p. 605-12.
- 261. Wyckoff, J.B., et al., *Direct visualization of macrophage-assisted tumor cell intravasation in mammary tumors.* Cancer Res, 2007. **67**(6): p. 2649-56.
- 262. Ojalvo, L.S., et al., *Gene expression analysis of macrophages that facilitate tumor invasion supports a role for Wnt-signaling in mediating their activity in primary mammary tumors.* J Immunol, 2010. **184**(2): p. 702-12.
- 263. Nanni, P., et al., *TS/A: a new metastasizing cell line from a BALB/c spontaneous mammary adenocarcinoma*. Clin Exp Metastasis, 1983. **1**(4): p. 373-80.
- 264. Wang, B., et al., *Transition of tumor-associated macrophages from MHC class II(hi) to MHC class II(low) mediates tumor progression in mice.* BMC Immunol, 2011. **12**: p. 43.
- 265. Hamilton, J.A., *Colony-stimulating factors in inflammation and autoimmunity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(7): p. 533-44.
- 266. Stanley, E.R. and P.M. Heard, *Factors regulating macrophage production and growth. Purification and some properties of the colony stimulating factor from medium conditioned by mouse L cells.* J Biol Chem, 1977. **252**(12): p. 4305-12.
- 267. Pixley, F.J. and E.R. Stanley, *CSF-1 regulation of the wandering macrophage: complexity in action.* Trends Cell Biol, 2004. **14**(11): p. 628-38.
- 268. Cosman, D., et al., *Human macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF): alternate RNA splicing generates three different proteins that are expressed on the cell surface and secreted.* Behring Inst Mitt, 1988(83): p. 15-26.
- 269. Guilbert, L.J. and E.R. Stanley, *Specific interaction of murine colony-stimulating factor with mononuclear phagocytic cells*. J Cell Biol, 1980. 85(1): p. 153-9.
- 270. Yeung, Y.G., et al., *Purification of the colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor and demonstration of its tyrosine kinase activity*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1987.
 84(5): p. 1268-71.
- 271. Rettenmier, C.W., et al., *The product of the c-fms proto-oncogene: a glycoprotein with associated tyrosine kinase activity*. Science, 1985. 228(4697): p. 320-2.
- 272. Sherr, C.J., et al., *The c-fms proto-oncogene product is related to the receptor for the mononuclear phagocyte growth factor, CSF-1.* Cell, 1985. **41**(3): p. 665-76.
- 273. Byrne, P.V., L.J. Guilbert, and E.R. Stanley, *Distribution of cells bearing receptors for a colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1) in murine tissues.* J Cell Biol, 1981. **91**(3 Pt 1): p. 848-53.
- 274. Tushinski, R.J., et al., *Survival of mononuclear phagocytes depends on a lineage-specific growth factor that the differentiated cells selectively destroy.* Cell, 1982. **28**(1): p. 71-81.
- 275. Stanley, E.R., et al., *CSF-1--a mononuclear phagocyte lineage-specific hemopoietic growth factor*. J Cell Biochem, 1983. **21**(2): p. 151-9.
- 276. Webb, S.E., J.W. Pollard, and G.E. Jones, *Direct observation and quantification of macrophage chemoattraction to the growth factor CSF-1*. J Cell Sci, 1996.
 109 (Pt 4): p. 793-803.
- 277. Lin, H., et al., *Discovery of a cytokine and its receptor by functional screening of the extracellular proteome*. Science, 2008. **320**(5877): p. 807-11.
- Wei, S., et al., Functional overlap but differential expression of CSF-1 and IL-34 in their CSF-1 receptor-mediated regulation of myeloid cells. J Leukoc Biol, 2010. 88(3): p. 495-505.
- 279. Wiktor-Jedrzejczak, W., et al., *Total absence of colony-stimulating factor 1 in the macrophage-deficient osteopetrotic (op/op) mouse*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1990. **87**(12): p. 4828-32.
- 280. Felix, R., et al., *Impairment of macrophage colony-stimulating factor production and lack of resident bone marrow macrophages in the osteopetrotic op/op mouse.* J Bone Miner Res, 1990. **5**(7): p. 781-9.
- 281. Naito, M., et al., *Abnormal differentiation of tissue macrophage populations in 'osteopetrosis' (op) mice defective in the production of macrophage colony-stimulating factor.* Am J Pathol, 1991. **139**(3): p. 657-67.
- 282. Cecchini, M.G., et al., *Role of colony stimulating factor-1 in the establishment and regulation of tissue macrophages during postnatal development of the mouse*. Development, 1994. **120**(6): p. 1357-72.
- 283. Dai, X.M., et al., Incomplete restoration of colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF-1) function in CSF-1-deficient Csflop/Csflop mice by transgenic expression of cell surface CSF-1. Blood, 2004. **103**(3): p. 1114-23.
- 284. Kacinski, B.M., et al., *FMS (CSF-1 receptor) and CSF-1 transcripts and protein are expressed by human breast carcinomas in vivo and in vitro.* Oncogene, 1991. **6**(6): p. 941-52.
- 285. Kacinski, B.M., *CSF-1 and its receptor in breast carcinomas and neoplasms of the female reproductive tract.* Mol Reprod Dev, 1997. **46**(1): p. 71-4.
- 286. McDermott, R.S., et al., *Circulating macrophage colony stimulating factor as a marker of tumour progression*. Eur Cytokine Netw, 2002. **13**(1): p. 121-7.
- 287. Scholl, S.M., et al., *Is colony-stimulating factor-1 a key mediator of breast cancer invasion and metastasis?* Mol Carcinog, 1993. **7**(4): p. 207-11.
- 288. Jadus, M.R., et al., Macrophages can recognize and kill tumor cells bearing the

membrane isoform of macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Blood, 1996. **87**(12): p. 5232-41.

- 289. Jadus, M.R., et al., *Macrophages kill T9 glioma tumor cells bearing the membrane isoform of macrophage colony stimulating factor through a phagocytosis-dependent pathway.* J Immunol, 1998. **160**(1): p. 361-8.
- 290. Williams, C.C., et al., *Membrane macrophage colony-stimulating factor on MADB106 breast cancer cells does not activate cytotoxic macrophages but immunizes rats against breast cancer*. Mol Ther, 2001. **3**(2): p. 216-24.
- 291. Lin, E.Y., et al., *The macrophage growth factor CSF-1 in mammary gland development and tumor progression*. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2002. 7(2): p. 147-62.
- 292. Aharinejad, S., et al., Colony-stimulating factor-1 antisense treatment suppresses growth of human tumor xenografts in mice. Cancer Res, 2002.
 62(18): p. 5317-24.
- 293. Paulus, P., et al., *Colony-stimulating factor-1 antibody reverses chemoresistance in human MCF-7 breast cancer xenografts.* Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(8): p. 4349-56.
- 294. Aharinejad, S., et al., *Colony-stimulating factor-1 blockade by antisense oligonucleotides and small interfering RNAs suppresses growth of human mammary tumor xenografts in mice.* Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(15): p. 5378-84.
- 295. Taylor, P.R. and S. Gordon, *Monocyte heterogeneity and innate immunity*. Immunity, 2003. **19**(1): p. 2-4.
- 296. Yrlid, U., C.D. Jenkins, and G.G. MacPherson, *Relationships between distinct blood monocyte subsets and migrating intestinal lymph dendritic cells in vivo under steady-state conditions*. J Immunol, 2006. **176**(7): p. 4155-62.
- 297. Geissmann, F., et al., *Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells*. Science, 2010. **327**(5966): p. 656-61.
- 298. Geissmann, F., S. Jung, and D.R. Littman, *Blood monocytes consist of two* principal subsets with distinct migratory properties. Immunity, 2003. **19**(1): p. 71-82.
- 299. Fingerle, G., et al., *The novel subset of CD14+/CD16+ blood monocytes is expanded in sepsis patients*. Blood, 1993. **82**(10): p. 3170-6.
- 300. Thieblemont, N., et al., *CD14lowCD16high: a cytokine-producing monocyte subset which expands during human immunodeficiency virus infection.* Eur J Immunol, 1995. **25**(12): p. 3418-24.
- 301. Belge, K.U., et al., *The proinflammatory CD14+CD16+DR++ monocytes are a major source of TNF*. J Immunol, 2002. **168**(7): p. 3536-42.
- 302. Ziegler-Heitbrock, L., et al., *Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood*. Blood, 2010. **116**(16): p. e74-80.
- 303. Chan, J., et al., *Macrophage lineage cells in inflammation: characterization by colony-stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) receptor (c-Fms), ER-MP58, and ER-MP20* (Ly-6C) expression. Blood, 1998. **92**(4): p. 1423-31.
- 304. Sunderkotter, C., et al., Subpopulations of mouse blood monocytes differ in maturation stage and inflammatory response. J Immunol, 2004. 172(7): p. 4410-7.
- 305. Varol, C., et al., *Monocytes give rise to mucosal, but not splenic, conventional dendritic cells.* J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(1): p. 171-80.
- 306. Tacke, F., et al., *Immature monocytes acquire antigens from other cells in the bone marrow and present them to T cells after maturing in the periphery*. J Exp Med, 2006. **203**(3): p. 583-97.

- 307. Scatizzi, J.C., et al., *p21Cip1 is required for the development of monocytes and their response to serum transfer-induced arthritis.* Am J Pathol, 2006. **168**(5): p. 1531-41.
- 308. Mildner, A., et al., *Microglia in the adult brain arise from Ly-6ChiCCR2+ monocytes only under defined host conditions.* Nat Neurosci, 2007. **10**(12): p. 1544-53.
- 309. Geissmann, F., et al., Blood monocytes: distinct subsets, how they relate to dendritic cells, and their possible roles in the regulation of T-cell responses. Immunol Cell Biol, 2008. 86(5): p. 398-408.
- 310. Xu, H., et al., *Differentiation to the CCR2+ inflammatory phenotype in vivo is a constitutive, time-limited property of blood monocytes and is independent of local inflammatory mediators.* J Immunol, 2005. **175**(10): p. 6915-23.
- 311. Drevets, D.A., et al., *The Ly-6Chigh monocyte subpopulation transports Listeria monocytogenes into the brain during systemic infection of mice.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(7): p. 4418-24.
- 312. Ginhoux, F., et al., *Langerhans cells arise from monocytes in vivo*. Nat Immunol, 2006. **7**(3): p. 265-73.
- 313. Auffray, C., et al., *Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior*. Science, 2007. **317**(5838): p. 666-70.
- 314. Cros, J., et al., *Human CD14dim monocytes patrol and sense nucleic acids and viruses via TLR7 and TLR8 receptors.* Immunity, 2010. **33**(3): p. 375-86.
- 315. Robbins, C.S., et al., *Extramedullary hematopoiesis generates Ly-6C(high) monocytes that infiltrate atherosclerotic lesions*. Circulation, 2012. **125**(2): p. 364-74.
- 316. Karlmark, K.R., et al., *Hepatic recruitment of the inflammatory Gr1+ monocyte subset upon liver injury promotes hepatic fibrosis.* Hepatology, 2009. **50**(1): p. 261-74.
- Nahrendorf, M., et al., *The healing myocardium sequentially mobilizes two monocyte subsets with divergent and complementary functions*. J Exp Med, 2007. 204(12): p. 3037-47.
- 318. Arnold, L., et al., *Inflammatory monocytes recruited after skeletal muscle injury switch into antiinflammatory macrophages to support myogenesis.* J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(5): p. 1057-69.
- 319. Lin, S.L., et al., Bone marrow Ly6Chigh monocytes are selectively recruited to injured kidney and differentiate into functionally distinct populations. J Immunol, 2009. 183(10): p. 6733-43.
- 320. King, I.L., T.L. Dickendesher, and B.M. Segal, *Circulating Ly-6C+ myeloid precursors migrate to the CNS and play a pathogenic role during autoimmune demyelinating disease*. Blood, 2009. **113**(14): p. 3190-7.
- 321. Getts, D.R., et al., *Ly6c+ "inflammatory monocytes" are microglial precursors recruited in a pathogenic manner in West Nile virus encephalitis.* J Exp Med, 2008. **205**(10): p. 2319-37.
- 322. Zhu, B., et al., *CD11b+Ly-6C(hi) suppressive monocytes in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* J Immunol, 2007. **179**(8): p. 5228-37.
- 323. Shechter, R., et al., *Infiltrating blood-derived macrophages are vital cells playing an anti-inflammatory role in recovery from spinal cord injury in mice*. PLoS Med, 2009. **6**(7): p. e1000113.
- 324. Donnelly, D.J., et al., *Deficient CX3CR1 signaling promotes recovery after mouse spinal cord injury by limiting the recruitment and activation of Ly6Clo/iNOS+ macrophages.* J Neurosci, 2011. **31**(27): p. 9910-22.

- 325. Cochain, C., et al., *Regulation of monocyte subset systemic levels by distinct chemokine receptors controls post-ischaemic neovascularization*. Cardiovasc Res, 2010. **88**(1): p. 186-95.
- 326. Barrett, O., Jr., *Monocytosis in malignant disease*. Ann Intern Med, 1970. **73**(6): p. 991-2.
- 327. Saleh, M.N., et al., *CD16+ monocytes in patients with cancer: spontaneous elevation and pharmacologic induction by recombinant human macrophage colony-stimulating factor.* Blood, 1995. **85**(10): p. 2910-7.
- 328. Zhang, L., T. Yoshimura, and D.T. Graves, *Antibody to Mac-1 or monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 inhibits monocyte recruitment and promotes tumor growth.* J Immunol, 1997. **158**(10): p. 4855-61.
- 329. Nesbit, M., et al., Low-level monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 stimulation of monocytes leads to tumor formation in nontumorigenic melanoma cells. J Immunol, 2001. 166(11): p. 6483-90.
- 330. Ueno, T., et al., Significance of macrophage chemoattractant protein-1 in macrophage recruitment, angiogenesis, and survival in human breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2000. **6**(8): p. 3282-9.
- 331. Luboshits, G., et al., *Elevated expression of the CC chemokine regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES) in advanced breast carcinoma.* Cancer Res, 1999. **59**(18): p. 4681-7.
- 332. Niwa, Y., et al., *Correlation of tissue and plasma RANTES levels with disease course in patients with breast or cervical cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 2001. **7**(2): p. 285-9.
- 333. Ribatti, D., *The paracrine role of Tie-2-expressing monocytes in tumor angiogenesis.* Stem Cells Dev, 2009. **18**(5): p. 703-6.
- 334. De Palma, M., et al., *Tie2-expressing monocytes: regulation of tumor* angiogenesis and therapeutic implications. Trends Immunol, 2007. **28**(12): p. 519-24.
- 335. Qian, B., et al., A distinct macrophage population mediates metastatic breast cancer cell extravasation, establishment and growth. PLoS One, 2009. **4**(8): p. e6562.
- 336. Blot, E., et al., *Cooperation between monocytes and breast cancer cells* promotes factors involved in cancer aggressiveness. Br J Cancer, 2003. **88**(8): p. 1207-12.
- 337. Mohamed, M.M., D. Cavallo-Medved, and B.F. Sloane, *Human monocytes augment invasiveness and proteolytic activity of inflammatory breast cancer*. Biol Chem, 2008. **389**(8): p. 1117-21.
- 338. Gaggioli, C., et al., *Fibroblast-led collective invasion of carcinoma cells with differing roles for RhoGTPases in leading and following cells*. Nat Cell Biol, 2007. **9**(12): p. 1392-400.
- 339. Wels, J., et al., *Migratory neighbors and distant invaders: tumor-associated niche cells*. Genes Dev, 2008. **22**(5): p. 559-74.
- 340. Mantovani, A., et al., *Role of tumor-associated macrophages in tumor progression and invasion*. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 2006. **25**(3): p. 315-22.
- 341. Mougiakakos, D., et al., *Regulatory T cells in cancer*. Adv Cancer Res, 2010.107: p. 57-117.
- 342. Yamaguchi, R., et al., *Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are important pathologic predictors for neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with breast cancer.* Hum Pathol, 2012. **Epub ahead of print**.
- 343. Bernhard, H., et al., Adoptive transfer of autologous, HER2-specific, cytotoxic T

lymphocytes for the treatment of HER2-overexpressing breast cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2008. **57**(2): p. 271-80.

- Alderson, K.L. and P.M. Sondel, *Clinical cancer therapy by NK cells via* antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J Biomed Biotechnol, 2011.
 2011: p. 379123.
- 345. Gillgrass, A. and A. Ashkar, *Stimulating natural killer cells to protect against cancer: recent developments.* Expert Rev Clin Immunol, 2011. **7**(3): p. 367-82.
- 346. Johnson, G.R., R. Whitehead, and N.A. Nicola, *Effects of a murine mammary tumor on in vivo and in vitro hemopoiesis*. Int J Cell Cloning, 1985. **3**(2): p. 91-105.
- 347. Hardy, C.L. and L. Balducci, *Early hematopoietic events during tumor growth in mice*. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1986. **76**(3): p. 535-40.
- 348. Wislez, M., et al., *Hepatocyte growth factor production by neutrophils infiltrating bronchioloalveolar subtype pulmonary adenocarcinoma: role in tumor progression and death.* Cancer Res, 2003. **63**(6): p. 1405-12.
- Bellocq, A., et al., Neutrophil alveolitis in bronchioloalveolar carcinoma: induction by tumor-derived interleukin-8 and relation to clinical outcome. Am J Pathol, 1998. 152(1): p. 83-92.
- 350. Jung, M.R., et al., *Elevated preoperative neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio predicts poor survival following resection in late stage gastric cancer.* J Surg Oncol, 2011. **104**(5): p. 504-10.
- 351. Shimada, H., et al., *High preoperative neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio predicts poor survival in patients with gastric cancer*. Gastric Cancer, 2010. **13**(3): p. 170-6.
- 352. Ding, P.R., et al., *Elevated preoperative neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio predicts risk of recurrence following curative resection for stage IIA colon cancer.* Int J Colorectal Dis, 2010. **25**(12): p. 1427-33.
- 353. Chua, W., et al., *Neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio predicts chemotherapy outcomes in patients with advanced colorectal cancer.* Br J Cancer, 2011. **104**(8): p. 1288-95.
- 354. Tomita, M., et al., *Preoperative neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic predictor after curative resection for non-small cell lung cancer*. Anticancer Res, 2011. **31**(9): p. 2995-8.
- 355. Sharaiha, R.Z., et al., *Elevated Preoperative Neutrophil:Lymphocyte Ratio as a Predictor of Postoperative Disease Recurrence in Esophageal Cancer*. Ann Surg Oncol, 2011.
- 356. An, X., et al., *Elevated neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio predicts survival in advanced pancreatic cancer*. Biomarkers, 2010. **15**(6): p. 516-22.
- 357. Tavares-Murta, B.M., et al., *Systemic leukocyte alterations are associated with invasive uterine cervical cancer*. Int J Gynecol Cancer, 2010. **20**(7): p. 1154-9.
- 358. Cho, H., et al., *Pre-treatment neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio is elevated in epithelial ovarian cancer and predicts survival after treatment*. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2009. **58**(1): p. 15-23.
- 359. Thavaramara, T., et al., *Role of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic indicator for epithelial ovarian cancer.* J Med Assoc Thai, 2011. **94**(7): p. 871-7.
- 360. Yamashita, J., M. Ogawa, and T. Shirakusa, *Free-form neutrophil elastase is an independent marker predicting recurrence in primary breast cancer.* J Leukoc Biol, 1995. **57**(3): p. 375-8.
- 361. Jensen, H.K., et al., *Presence of intratumoral neutrophils is an independent prognostic factor in localized renal cell carcinoma*. J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(28):

p. 4709-17.

- 362. Trellakis, S., et al., *Polymorphonuclear granulocytes in human head and neck cancer: Enhanced inflammatory activity, modulation by cancer cells and expansion in advanced disease.* Int J Cancer, 2010.
- 363. Jensen, T.O., et al., Intratumoral neutrophils and plasmacytoid dendritic cells indicate poor prognosis and are associated with pSTAT3 expression in AJCC stage I/II melanoma. Cancer, 2011.
- 364. Clark, R.A. and S.J. Klebanoff, *Neutrophil-mediated tumor cell cytotoxicity: role of the peroxidase system.* J Exp Med, 1975. **141**(6): p. 1442-7.
- 365. Kondo, M., et al., *Treatment of cancer ascites by intraperitoneal administration of a streptococcal preparation OK-432 with fresh human complement-role of complement-derived chemotactic factor to neutrophils.* Int J Immunopharmacol, 1986. **8**(7): p. 715-21.
- 366. Lichtenstein, A., Stimulation of the respiratory burst of murine peritoneal inflammatory neutrophils by conjugation with tumor cells. Cancer Res, 1987.
 47(9): p. 2211-7.
- 367. Lichtenstein, A. and J. Kahle, *Anti-tumor effect of inflammatory neutrophils: characteristics of in vivo generation and in vitro tumor cell lysis.* Int J Cancer, 1985. **35**(1): p. 121-7.
- 368. Pickaver, A.H., et al., *Cytotoxic effects of peritoneal neutrophils on a syngeneic rat tumour*. Nat New Biol, 1972. **235**(58): p. 186-7.
- Inoue, T. and F. Sendo, *In vitro induction of cytotoxic polymorphonuclear leukocytes by supernatant from a concanavalin A-stimulated spleen cell culture*. J Immunol, 1983. **131**(5): p. 2508-14.
- 370. Dvorak, A.M., et al., *Immunologic rejection of mammary adenocarcinoma* (*TA3-St*) in C57BL/6 mice: participation of neutrophils and activated macrophages with fibrin formation. J Immunol, 1978. **120**(4): p. 1240-8.
- 371. Colombo, M.P., et al., *Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) gene* transduction in murine adenocarcinoma drives neutrophil-mediated tumor inhibition in vivo. Neutrophils discriminate between G-CSF-producing and G-CSF-nonproducing tumor cells. J Immunol, 1992. **149**(1): p. 113-9.
- 372. Stoppacciaro, A., G. Forni, and M.P. Colombo, *Different tumours, transduced* with different cytokine genes as G-CSF and IL-2, show inhibition of tumour take through neutrophil activation but differ in T cell functions. Folia Biol (Praha), 1994. **40**(1-2): p. 89-99.
- 373. Colombo, M.P., et al., *Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor gene transfer suppresses tumorigenicity of a murine adenocarcinoma in vivo.* J Exp Med, 1991. **173**(4): p. 889-97.
- 374. Aeed, P.A. and D.R. Welch, *Sensitivity of locally recurrent rat mammary tumour cell lines to syngeneic polymorphonuclear cell, macrophage and natural killer cell cytolysis.* Br J Cancer, 1988. **58**(6): p. 746-52.
- 375. Tazzyman, S., et al., Inhibition of neutrophil infiltration into A549 lung tumors in vitro and in vivo using a CXCR2-specific antagonist is associated with reduced tumor growth. Int J Cancer, 2011.
- 376. Murphy, P.M., *Neutrophil receptors for interleukin-8 and related CXC chemokines*. Semin Hematol, 1997. **34**(4): p. 311-8.
- 377. Eck, M., et al., *Pleiotropic effects of CXC chemokines in gastric carcinoma: differences in CXCL8 and CXCL1 expression between diffuse and intestinal types of gastric carcinoma.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2003. **134**(3): p. 508-15.
- 378. Bieche, I., et al., *CXC chemokines located in the 4q21 region are up-regulated*

in breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer, 2007. 14(4): p. 1039-52.

- 379. Cheng, W.L., et al., *Overexpression of CXCL1 and its receptor CXCR2 promote tumor invasion in gastric cancer.* Ann Oncol, 2011. **22**(10): p. 2267-76.
- 380. Waugh, D.J. and C. Wilson, *The interleukin-8 pathway in cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 2008. **14**(21): p. 6735-41.
- 381. Green, A.R., et al., *Expression of cytokine messenger RNA in normal and neoplastic human breast tissue: identification of interleukin-8 as a potential regulatory factor in breast tumours.* Int J Cancer, 1997. **72**(6): p. 937-41.
- 382. Tjiong, M.Y., et al., *Increased IL-6 and IL-8 levels in cervicovaginal secretions* of patients with cervical cancer. Gynecol Oncol, 1999. **73**(2): p. 285-91.
- 383. Scheibenbogen, C., et al., Serum interleukin-8 (IL-8) is elevated in patients with metastatic melanoma and correlates with tumour load. Melanoma Res, 1995.
 5(3): p. 179-81.
- 384. Haqqani, A.S., J.K. Sandhu, and H.C. Birnboim, *Expression of interleukin-8 promotes neutrophil infiltration and genetic instability in mutatect tumors*. Neoplasia, 2000. 2(6): p. 561-8.
- 385. Benelli, R., A. Albini, and D. Noonan, *Neutrophils and angiogenesis: potential initiators of the angiogenic cascade*. Chem Immunol Allergy, 2003. **83**: p. 167-81.
- 386. Scapini, P., et al., *CXCL1/macrophage inflammatory protein-2-induced angiogenesis in vivo is mediated by neutrophil-derived vascular endothelial growth factor-A.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(8): p. 5034-40.
- 387. Nozawa, H., C. Chiu, and D. Hanahan, *Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(33): p. 12493-8.
- 388. Bausch, D., et al., *Neutrophil granulocyte derived MMP-9 is a VEGF independent functional component of the angiogenic switch in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma.* Angiogenesis, 2011. **14**(3): p. 235-43.
- 389. Egeblad, M. and Z. Werb, *New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2002. **2**(3): p. 161-74.
- 390. Ardi, V.C., et al., *Human neutrophils uniquely release TIMP-free MMP-9 to provide a potent catalytic stimulator of angiogenesis.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(51): p. 20262-7.
- Woodfin, A., M.B. Voisin, and S. Nourshargh, *Recent developments and complexities in neutrophil transmigration*. Curr Opin Hematol, 2010. 17(1): p. 9-17.
- 392. Opdenakker, G. and J. Van Damme, *The countercurrent principle in invasion and metastasis of cancer cells. Recent insights on the roles of chemokines.* Int J Dev Biol, 2004. **48**(5-6): p. 519-27.
- 393. Pham, C.T., *Neutrophil serine proteases: specific regulators of inflammation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2006. **6**(7): p. 541-50.
- 394. Hager, M., J.B. Cowland, and N. Borregaard, *Neutrophil granules in health and disease*. J Intern Med, 2010. **268**(1): p. 25-34.
- Queen, M.M., et al., Breast cancer cells stimulate neutrophils to produce oncostatin M: potential implications for tumor progression. Cancer Res, 2005. 65(19): p. 8896-904.
- 396. Jaeger, B.N., et al., *Neutrophil depletion impairs natural killer cell maturation, function, and homeostasis.* J Exp Med, 2012. **209**(3): p. 565-80.
- 397. Sporri, R., et al., *A novel role for neutrophils as critical activators of NK cells.* J Immunol, 2008. **181**(10): p. 7121-30.

- 398. Oberlies, J., et al., *Regulation of NK cell function by human granulocyte arginase*. J Immunol, 2009. **182**(9): p. 5259-67.
- 399. Thoren, F.B., et al., *Human NK Cells induce neutrophil apoptosis via an NKp46- and Fas-dependent mechanism.* J Immunol, 2012. **188**(4): p. 1668-74.
- 400. Hall, L.J., S. Clare, and G. Dougan, *NK cells influence both innate and adaptive immune responses after mucosal immunization with antigen and mucosal adjuvant.* J Immunol, 2010. **184**(8): p. 4327-37.
- 401. Tsuchiya, T., et al., *NK1.1(+) cells regulate neutrophil migration in mice with Acinetobacter baumannii pneumonia*. Microbiol Immunol, 2012. **56**(2): p. 107-16.
- 402. Bhatnagar, N., et al., *Cytokine-activated NK cells inhibit PMN apoptosis and preserve their functional capacity.* Blood, 2010. **116**(8): p. 1308-16.
- 403. Costantini, C., et al., *Neutrophil activation and survival are modulated by interaction with NK cells.* Int Immunol, 2010. **22**(10): p. 827-38.
- 404. Morikawa, K., et al., *Hydrogen peroxide as a tumoricidal mediator of murine* polymorphonuclear leukocytes induced by a linear beta-1,3-D-glucan and some other immunomodulators. Cancer Res, 1985. **45**(8): p. 3482-6.
- 405. Babior, B.M., J.D. Lambeth, and W. Nauseef, *The neutrophil NADPH oxidase*. Arch Biochem Biophys, 2002. **397**(2): p. 342-4.
- 406. Evans, T.J., et al., *Cytokine-treated human neutrophils contain inducible nitric oxide synthase that produces nitration of ingested bacteria.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(18): p. 9553-8.
- 407. Wheeler, M.A., et al., *Bacterial infection induces nitric oxide synthase in human neutrophils*. J Clin Invest, 1997. **99**(1): p. 110-6.
- 408. Sandhu, J.K., et al., *Neutrophils, nitric oxide synthase, and mutations in the mutatect murine tumor model.* Am J Pathol, 2000. **156**(2): p. 509-18.
- 409. Weitzman, S.A. and L.I. Gordon, *Inflammation and cancer: role of phagocyte-generated oxidants in carcinogenesis.* Blood, 1990. **76**(4): p. 655-63.
- 410. Wilkinson, D., et al., *Hprt mutants in a transplantable murine tumour arise more frequently in vivo than in vitro.* Br J Cancer, 1995. **72**(5): p. 1234-40.
- 411. Mantovani, A., *The yin-yang of tumor-associated neutrophils*. Cancer Cell, 2009. **16**(3): p. 173-4.
- 412. Fridlender, Z.G., et al., *Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: "N1" versus "N2" TAN.* Cancer Cell, 2009. **16**(3): p. 183-94.
- 413. Psaila, B. and D. Lyden, *The metastatic niche: adapting the foreign soil*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2009. **9**(4): p. 285-93.
- 414. Pollard, J.W., *Macrophages define the invasive microenvironment in breast cancer*. J Leukoc Biol, 2008.
- 415. Robinson-Smith, T.M., et al., *Macrophages mediate inflammation-enhanced metastasis of ovarian tumors in mice*. Cancer Res, 2007. **67**(12): p. 5708-16.
- 416. De Larco, J.E., B.R. Wuertz, and L.T. Furcht, *The potential role of neutrophils in promoting the metastatic phenotype of tumors releasing interleukin-8.* Clin Cancer Res, 2004. **10**(15): p. 4895-900.
- 417. Tazawa, H., et al., Infiltration of neutrophils is required for acquisition of metastatic phenotype of benign murine fibrosarcoma cells: implication of inflammation-associated carcinogenesis and tumor progression. Am J Pathol, 2003. **163**(6): p. 2221-32.
- 418. Ishikawa, M., et al., Augmentation of B16 melanoma lung colony formation in C57BL/6 mice having marked granulocytosis. Int J Cancer, 1986. **37**(6): p. 919-24.

- 419. Wyckoff, J., et al., *A paracrine loop between tumor cells and macrophages is required for tumor cell migration in mammary tumors.* Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(19): p. 7022-9.
- 420. Hernandez, L., et al., *The EGF/CSF-1 paracrine invasion loop can be triggered by heregulin beta1 and CXCL12.* Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(7): p. 3221-7.
- 421. van Netten, J.P., et al., *Macrophage-tumor cell associations: a factor in metastasis of breast cancer?* J Leukoc Biol, 1993. **54**(4): p. 360-2.
- 422. Leitch, A.E., et al., *The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor R-roscovitine downregulates Mcl-1 to override pro-inflammatory signalling and drive neutrophil apoptosis.* Eur J Immunol, 2010. **40**(4): p. 1127-38.
- 423. Wu, Q.D., et al., *Human neutrophils facilitate tumor cell transendothelial migration*. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2001. **280**(4): p. C814-22.
- 424. Welch, D.R., et al., *Tumor-elicited polymorphonuclear cells, in contrast to "normal" circulating polymorphonuclear cells, stimulate invasive and metastatic potentials of rat mammary adenocarcinoma cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1989. **86**(15): p. 5859-63.
- 425. Glaves, D., *Role of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in the pulmonary clearance of arrested cancer cells.* Invasion Metastasis, 1983. **3**(3): p. 160-73.
- 426. Pahler, J.C., et al., *Plasticity in tumor-promoting inflammation: impairment of macrophage recruitment evokes a compensatory neutrophil response*. Neoplasia, 2008. **10**(4): p. 329-40.
- 427. Lelekakis, M., et al., *A novel orthotopic model of breast cancer metastasis to bone*. Clin Exp Metastasis, 1999. **17**(2): p. 163-70.
- 428. Aslakson, C.J. and F.R. Miller, *Selective events in the metastatic process defined by analysis of the sequential dissemination of subpopulations of a mouse mammary tumor.* Cancer Res, 1992. **52**(6): p. 1399-405.
- 429. Heppner, G.H., et al., *Heterogeneity in drug sensitivity among tumor cell subpopulations of a single mammary tumor.* Cancer Res, 1978. **38**(11 Pt 1): p. 3758-63.
- 430. Dexter, D.L., et al., *Heterogeneity of tumor cells from a single mouse mammary tumor*. Cancer Res, 1978. **38**(10): p. 3174-81.
- 431. Miller, B.E., et al., *Quantitative selectivity of contact-mediated intercellular communication in a metastatic mouse mammary tumor line*. Cancer Res, 1983.
 43(9): p. 4102-7.
- 432. Eckhardt, B.L., et al., *Genomic analysis of a spontaneous model of breast cancer metastasis to bone reveals a role for the extracellular matrix.* Mol Cancer Res, 2005. **3**(1): p. 1-13.
- 433. Martin, W.J., M. Walton, and J. Harper, *Resident macrophages initiating and driving inflammation in a monosodium urate monohydrate crystal-induced murine peritoneal model of acute gout.* Arthritis Rheum, 2009. **60**(1): p. 281-9.
- 434. van Rooijen, N., A. Sanders, and T.K. van den Berg, *Apoptosis of macrophages induced by liposome-mediated intracellular delivery of clodronate and propamidine*. J Immunol Methods, 1996. **193**(1): p. 93-9.
- 435. Priceman, S.J., et al., *Targeting distinct tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells by inhibiting CSF-1 receptor: combating tumor evasion of antiangiogenic therapy*. Blood, 2010. **115**(7): p. 1461-71.
- 436. Conway, J.G., et al., *Inhibition of colony-stimulating-factor-1 signaling in vivo* with the orally bioavailable cFMS kinase inhibitor GW2580. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. **102**(44): p. 16078-83.
- 437. Mosser, D.M., *The many faces of macrophage activation*. J Leukoc Biol, 2003.

73(2): p. 209-12.

- 438. Sica, A., et al., *Tumour-associated macrophages are a distinct M2 polarised population promoting tumour progression: potential targets of anti-cancer therapy*. Eur J Cancer, 2006. **42**(6): p. 717-27.
- 439. Kershaw, M.H., J.A. Trapani, and M.J. Smyth, *Cytotoxic lymphocytes: redirecting the cell-mediated immune response for the therapy of cancer.* Ther Immunol, 1995. **2**(3): p. 173-81.
- 440. Ghiringhelli, F., et al., *The role of regulatory T cells in the control of natural killer cells: relevance during tumor progression*. Immunol Rev, 2006. **214**: p. 229-38.
- 441. Gallimore, A. and A. Godkin, *Regulatory T cells and tumour immunity observations in mice and men.* Immunology, 2008. **123**(2): p. 157-63.
- 442. Orentas, R.J., M.E. Kohler, and B.D. Johnson, *Suppression of anti-cancer immunity by regulatory T cells: back to the future.* Semin Cancer Biol, 2006. **16**(2): p. 137-49.
- 443. Oppmann, B., et al., Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine, IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. Immunity, 2000. **13**(5): p. 715-25.
- 444. Gubler, U., et al., *Coexpression of two distinct genes is required to generate secreted bioactive cytotoxic lymphocyte maturation factor*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1991. **88**(10): p. 4143-7.
- 445. Wolf, S.F., et al., *Cloning of cDNA for natural killer cell stimulatory factor, a heterodimeric cytokine with multiple biologic effects on T and natural killer cells.* J Immunol, 1991. **146**(9): p. 3074-81.
- 446. Sica, A., et al., *Targeting tumour-associated macrophages*. Expert Opin Ther Targets, 2007. **11**(9): p. 1219-29.
- 447. Blake-Mortimer, J.S., et al., *Cytotoxic T lymphocyte count and survival time in women with metastatic breast cancer*. Breast J, 2004. **10**(3): p. 195-9.
- 448. Dias, S., H. Thomas, and F. Balkwill, *Multiple molecular and cellular changes* associated with tumour stasis and regression during *IL-12 therapy of a murine* breast cancer model. Int J Cancer, 1998. **75**(1): p. 151-7.
- 449. Portielje, J.E., et al., *IL-12: a promising adjuvant for cancer vaccination*. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2003. **52**(3): p. 133-44.
- 450. Woo, S.U., et al., *Overexpression of interleukin-10 in sentinel lymph node with breast cancer*. Ann Surg Oncol, 2007. **14**(11): p. 3268-73.
- 451. Melani, C., et al., *Myeloid cell expansion elicited by the progression of spontaneous mammary carcinomas in c-erbB-2 transgenic BALB/c mice suppresses immune reactivity*. Blood, 2003. **102**(6): p. 2138-45.
- 452. Cortez-Retamozo, V., et al., *Origins of tumor-associated macrophages and neutrophils*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2012. **109**(7): p. 2491-6.
- 453. Liu, Y.H., et al., *Effect of ACE inhibitors and angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonists on endothelial NO synthase knockout mice with heart failure.* Hypertension, 2002. **39**(2 Pt 2): p. 375-81.
- 454. Swirski, F.K., et al., *Identification of splenic reservoir monocytes and their deployment to inflammatory sites.* Science, 2009. **325**(5940): p. 612-6.
- 455. Jin, F., et al., *Degradation of BM SDF-1 by MMP-9: the role in G-CSF-induced hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell mobilization*. Bone Marrow Transplant, 2008. **42**(9): p. 581-8.
- 456. Kusuma, N., et al., Integrin-dependent response to laminin-511 regulates breast tumor cell invasion and metastasis. Int J Cancer, 2012. **130**(3): p. 555-66.

- 457. Kajitani, K., et al., *Mechanistic analysis of the antitumor efficacy of human natural killer cells against breast cancer cells*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2012. **Epub ahead of print**.
- 458. Roberti, M.P., et al., *IL-15 and IL-2 increase Cetuximab-mediated cellular cytotoxicity against triple negative breast cancer cell lines expressing EGFR*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2011. **130**(2): p. 465-75.
- 459. Zhang, F., et al., *Imaging tumor-induced sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis with LyP-1 peptide*. Amino Acids, 2012. **42**(6): p. 2343-51.
- 460. Cho, H.J., et al., *Bone marrow-derived, alternatively-activated macrophages enhance solid tumor growth and lung metastasis of mammary carcinoma cells in a Balb/C mouse orthotopic model.* Breast Cancer Res, 2012. **14**(3): p. R81.
- 461. Baluk, P. and D.M. McDonald, *Markers for microscopic imaging of lymphangiogenesis and angiogenesis*. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2008. **1131**: p. 1-12.
- 462. Hojilla, C.V., G.A. Wood, and R. Khokha, *Inflammation and breast cancer: metalloproteinases as common effectors of inflammation and extracellular matrix breakdown in breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res, 2008. **10**(2): p. 205.
- 463. Zhang, M., et al., *Expression of tissue levels of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in breast cancer*. Breast, 2012.
- 464. Sung, H., et al., *The association between the preoperative serum levels of lipocalin-2 and matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) and prognosis of breast cancer*. BMC Cancer, 2012. **12**: p. 193.
- 465. Nakamura, T., et al., *Stromal metalloproteinase-9 is essential to angiogenesis and progressive growth of orthotopic human pancreatic cancer in parabiont nude mice.* Neoplasia, 2007. **9**(11): p. 979-86.
- 466. Huang, S., et al., Contributions of stromal metalloproteinase-9 to angiogenesis and growth of human ovarian carcinoma in mice. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2002.
 94(15): p. 1134-42.
- 467. Coussens, L.M. and Z. Werb, *Matrix metalloproteinases and the development of cancer*. Chem Biol, 1996. **3**(11): p. 895-904.
- 468. Heissig, B., et al., *Recruitment of stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow niche requires MMP-9 mediated release of kit-ligand*. Cell, 2002. 109(5): p. 625-37.
- 469. Muller, A., et al., *Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis*. Nature, 2001. **410**(6824): p. 50-6.
- 470. Burgess, A.W. and D. Metcalf, *The nature and action of granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factors*. Blood, 1980. **56**(6): p. 947-58.
- 471. Hamilton, J.A., et al., *Stimulation of macrophage plasminogen activator activity by colony-stimulating factors*. J Cell Physiol, 1980. **103**(3): p. 435-45.
- 472. Hamilton, J.A., *GM-CSF in inflammation and autoimmunity*. Trends Immunol, 2002. **23**(8): p. 403-8.
- 473. Fleetwood, A.J., A.D. Cook, and J.A. Hamilton, *Functions of granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor*. Crit Rev Immunol, 2005. **25**(5): p. 405-28.
- 474. Eubank, T.D., et al., *Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor inhibits* breast cancer growth and metastasis by invoking an anti-angiogenic program in tumor-educated macrophages. Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(5): p. 2133-40.
- 475. Park, B.K., et al., *NF-kappaB in breast cancer cells promotes osteolytic bone metastasis by inducing osteoclastogenesis via GM-CSF*. Nat Med, 2007. **13**(1): p. 62-9.
- 476. Salcedo, R., et al., Human endothelial cells express CCR2 and respond to MCP-

1: direct role of MCP-1 in angiogenesis and tumor progression. Blood, 2000. **96**(1): p. 34-40.

- 477. Lu, X. and Y. Kang, *Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 engages CCR2+ stromal cells of monocytic origin to promote breast cancer metastasis to lung and bone.* J Biol Chem, 2009. 284(42): p. 29087-96.
- 478. Claassen, I., N. Van Rooijen, and E. Claassen, A new method for removal of mononuclear phagocytes from heterogeneous cell populations in vitro, using the liposome-mediated macrophage 'suicide' technique. J Immunol Methods, 1990. 134(2): p. 153-61.
- 479. Van Rooijen, N., et al., *Depletion and repopulation of macrophages in spleen and liver of rat after intravenous treatment with liposome-encapsulated dichloromethylene diphosphonate.* Cell Tissue Res, 1990. **260**(2): p. 215-22.
- 480. Delemarre, F.G., et al., *Repopulation of macrophages in popliteal lymph nodes* of mice after liposome-mediated depletion. J Leukoc Biol, 1990. **47**(3): p. 251-7.
- 481. Biewenga, J., et al., *Macrophage depletion in the rat after intraperitoneal administration of liposome-encapsulated clodronate: depletion kinetics and accelerated repopulation of peritoneal and omental macrophages by administration of Freund's adjuvant.* Cell Tissue Res, 1995. **280**(1): p. 189-96.
- 482. van Rooijen, N. and E. Hendrikx, *Liposomes for specific depletion of* macrophages from organs and tissues. Methods Mol Biol, 2010. **605**: p. 189-203.
- 483. Murayama, T., et al., *Intraperitoneal administration of anti-c-fms monoclonal antibody prevents initial events of atherogenesis but does not reduce the size of advanced lesions in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice*. Circulation, 1999. **99**(13): p. 1740-6.
- 484. Jose, M.D., et al., *Blockade of macrophage colony-stimulating factor reduces macrophage proliferation and accumulation in renal allograft rejection*. Am J Transplant, 2003. **3**(3): p. 294-300.
- 485. Segawa, M., et al., *Suppression of macrophage functions impairs skeletal muscle regeneration with severe fibrosis.* Exp Cell Res, 2008. **314**(17): p. 3232-44.
- 486. Lim, A.K., et al., Antibody blockade of c-fms suppresses the progression of inflammation and injury in early diabetic nephropathy in obese db/db mice. Diabetologia, 2009. **52**(8): p. 1669-79.
- 487. Kubota, Y., et al., *M-CSF inhibition selectively targets pathological angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis.* J Exp Med, 2009. **206**(5): p. 1089-102.
- 488. Dranoff, G., *Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2004. **4**(1): p. 11-22.
- 489. Cook, A.D., et al., *Regulation of systemic and local myeloid cell subpopulations by bone marrow cell-derived granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in experimental inflammatory arthritis.* Arthritis Rheum, 2011. **63**(8): p. 2340-51.
- 490. Karaman, M.W., et al., *A quantitative analysis of kinase inhibitor selectivity*. Nat Biotechnol, 2008. **26**(1): p. 127-32.
- 491. Crespo, O., et al., *Tyrosine kinase inhibitors ameliorate autoimmune encephalomyelitis in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis.* J Clin Immunol, 2011. 31(6): p. 1010-20.
- 492. Paniagua, R.T., et al., *c-Fms-mediated differentiation and priming of monocyte lineage cells play a central role in autoimmune arthritis.* Arthritis Res Ther, 2010. **12**(1): p. R32.
- 493. Nakashima, Y., et al., Endostatin gene therapy on murine lung metastases model

utilizing cationic vector-mediated intravenous gene delivery. Gene Ther, 2003. **10**(2): p. 123-30.

- 494. Hiraoka, K., et al., *Inhibition of bone and muscle metastases of lung cancer cells by a decrease in the number of monocytes/macrophages*. Cancer Sci, 2008. **99**(8): p. 1595-602.
- 495. Lee, P.Y., et al., *Type I interferon modulates monocyte recruitment and maturation in chronic inflammation*. Am J Pathol, 2009. **175**(5): p. 2023-33.
- 496. Slaney, C., The Use of Myeloid Suppressor Cells to Inhibit Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis: a Potential Immunotherapy for Multiple Sclerosis, 2009, Victoria University of Wellington: Wellington, New Zealand. p. Chapter 5.
- 497. Nikolic, T., et al., *Dendritic cells and macrophages are essential for the retention of lymphocytes in (peri)-insulitis of the nonobese diabetic mouse: a phagocyte depletion study.* Lab Invest, 2005. **85**(4): p. 487-501.
- 498. Zeisberger, S.M., et al., *Clodronate-liposome-mediated depletion of tumourassociated macrophages: a new and highly effective antiangiogenic therapy approach.* Br J Cancer, 2006. **95**(3): p. 272-81.
- 499. Gazzaniga, S., et al., *Targeting tumor-associated macrophages and inhibition of MCP-1 reduce angiogenesis and tumor growth in a human melanoma xenograft.* J Invest Dermatol, 2007. 127(8): p. 2031-41.
- 500. van Rooijen, N., N. Kors, and G. Kraal, *Macrophage subset repopulation in the spleen: differential kinetics after liposome-mediated elimination.* J Leukoc Biol, 1989. **45**(2): p. 97-104.
- 501. Vlahos, R., et al., *Neutralizing granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor inhibits cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2010. **182**(1): p. 34-40.
- 502. MacDonald, K.P., et al., An antibody against the colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor depletes the resident subset of monocytes and tissue- and tumor-associated macrophages but does not inhibit inflammation. Blood, 2010. 116(19): p. 3955-63.
- 503. Christopher, M.J. and D.C. Link, *Regulation of neutrophil homeostasis*. Curr Opin Hematol, 2007. **14**(1): p. 3-8.
- 504. Garceau, V., et al., *Pivotal Advance: Avian colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF-1), interleukin-34 (IL-34), and CSF-1 receptor genes and gene products.* J Leukoc Biol, 2010. **87**(5): p. 753-64.
- 505. Chihara, T., et al., *IL-34 and M-CSF share the receptor Fms but are not identical in biological activity and signal activation*. Cell Death Differ, 2010. 17(12): p. 1917-27.
- 506. Farina, K.L., et al., *Cell motility of tumor cells visualized in living intact primary tumors using green fluorescent protein.* Cancer Res, 1998. **58**(12): p. 2528-32.
- 507. Melani, C., et al., Amino-biphosphonate-mediated MMP-9 inhibition breaks the tumor-bone marrow axis responsible for myeloid-derived suppressor cell expansion and macrophage infiltration in tumor stroma. Cancer Res, 2007. 67(23): p. 11438-46.
- 508. Tacke, F. and G.J. Randolph, *Migratory fate and differentiation of blood monocyte subsets*. Immunobiology, 2006. **211**(6-8): p. 609-18.
- 509. Hume, D.A. and K.P. Macdonald, *Therapeutic applications of macrophage colony-stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) and antagonists of CSF-1 receptor (CSF-1R) signaling.* Blood, 2012. **119**(8): p. 1810-20.
- 510. Guleria, I. and J.W. Pollard, Aberrant macrophage and neutrophil population

dynamics and impaired Th1 response to Listeria monocytogenes in colonystimulating factor 1-deficient mice. Infect Immun, 2001. **69**(3): p. 1795-807.

- 511. Silva, M.T., Macrophage phagocytosis of neutrophils at inflammatory/infectious foci: a cooperative mechanism in the control of infection and infectious inflammation. J Leukoc Biol, 2011. **89**(5): p. 675-83.
- 512. Fox, S., et al., *Neutrophil apoptosis: relevance to the innate immune response and inflammatory disease.* J Innate Immun, 2010. **2**(3): p. 216-27.
- 513. Meszaros, A.J., J.S. Reichner, and J.E. Albina, *Macrophage-induced neutrophil apoptosis*. J Immunol, 2000. **165**(1): p. 435-41.
- 514. Dvorak, H.F., *Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing.* N Engl J Med, 1986. **315**(26): p. 1650-9.
- 515. Schafer, M. and S. Werner, *Cancer as an overhealing wound: an old hypothesis revisited.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2008. **9**(8): p. 628-38.
- 516. Sloan, E.K., et al., *The sympathetic nervous system induces a metastatic switch in primary breast cancer*. Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(18): p. 7042-52.
- 517. Mabbott, N.A., et al., *Meta-analysis of lineage-specific gene expression* signatures in mouse leukocyte populations. Immunobiology, 2010. **215**(9-10): p. 724-36.
- 518. Choi, J.Y., et al., *Overexpression of MMP-9 and HIF-1alpha in Breast Cancer Cells under Hypoxic Conditions.* J Breast Cancer, 2011. **14**(2): p. 88-95.
- 519. Li, H.C., et al., *Prognostic value of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) in patients with lymph node-negative breast carcinoma*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2004. **88**(1): p. 75-85.
- 520. Piccard, H., R.J. Muschel, and G. Opdenakker, *On the dual roles and polarized phenotypes of neutrophils in tumor development and progression*. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2011. **82**(3): p. 296-309.
- 521. Handel-Fernandez, M.E., et al., Down-regulation of IL-12, not a shift from a T helper-1 to a T helper-2 phenotype, is responsible for impaired IFN-gamma production in mammary tumor-bearing mice. J Immunol, 1997. 158(1): p. 280-6.
- 522. Dinapoli, M.R., C.L. Calderon, and D.M. Lopez, *The altered tumoricidal capacity of macrophages isolated from tumor-bearing mice is related to reduced expression of the inducible nitric oxide synthase gene.* J Exp Med, 1996. **183**(4): p. 1323-9.
- 523. Leuschner, F., et al., *Therapeutic siRNA silencing in inflammatory monocytes in mice*. Nat Biotechnol, 2011. **29**(11): p. 1005-10.
- 524. Melgarejo, E., et al., *Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1: a key mediator in inflammatory processes*. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2009. **41**(5): p. 998-1001.
- 525. Ober, R.J., et al., *Differences in promiscuity for antibody-FcRn interactions across species: implications for therapeutic antibodies.* Int Immunol, 2001. **13**(12): p. 1551-9.
- 526. Liu, D., et al., *IL-15 protects NKT cells from inhibition by tumor-associated macrophages and enhances antimetastatic activity.* J Clin Invest, 2012. **122**(6): p. 2221-33.
- 527. Zhou, Z., et al., *Macrophages Help NK Cells to Attack Tumor Cells by Stimulatory NKG2D Ligand but Protect Themselves from NK Killing by Inhibitory Ligand Qa-1.* PLoS One, 2012. **7**(5): p. e36928.

University Library



A gateway to Melbourne's research publications

Minerva Access is the Institutional Repository of The University of Melbourne

Author/s: SWIERCZAK, AGNIESZKA

Title:The role of myeloid cells in breast cancer metastasis

Date:

2012

Citation:

Swierczak, A. (2012). The role of myeloid cells in breast cancer metastasis. PhD thesis, Dept. of Medicine (RMH & WH), Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry & Health Sciences, The University of Melbourne.

Persistent Link: http://hdl.handle.net/11343/37730

File Description:

The role of myeloid cells in breast cancer metastasis

Terms and Conditions:

Terms and Conditions: Copyright in works deposited in Minerva Access is retained by the copyright owner. The work may not be altered without permission from the copyright owner. Readers may only download, print and save electronic copies of whole works for their own personal non-commercial use. Any use that exceeds these limits requires permission from the copyright owner. Attribution is essential when quoting or paraphrasing from these works.